University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Theses, Dissertations, and Major Papers

Fall 2021

Assessing the Adaptive Capacity of an Arctic Seabird to Increasing Frequency in Predation Risk from Polar Bears Using Behavioural and Physiological Metrics

Erica Anne Geldart University of Windsor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

Part of the Environmental Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Geldart, Erica Anne, "Assessing the Adaptive Capacity of an Arctic Seabird to Increasing Frequency in Predation Risk from Polar Bears Using Behavioural and Physiological Metrics" (2021). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 8646.

https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/8646

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

Assessing the adaptive capacity of an Arctic seabird to increasing frequency in predation risk from polar bears using behavioural and physiological metrics

By

Erica Anne Geldart

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies through the Great Lakes Institute for Environmental Research in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science at the University of Windsor

Windsor, Ontario, Canada

2021

© 2021 Erica Geldart

Assessing the adaptive capacity of an Arctic seabird to increasing frequency in predation risk from polar bears using behavioural and physiological metrics

by

Erica Anne Geldart

APPROVED BY:

D. Mennill Department of Integrative Biology

N. Hussey Great Lakes Institute for Environmental Research

> O. Love, Co-Advisor Department of Integrative Biology

C. Semeniuk, Co-Advisor Great Lakes Institute for Environmental Research

May 20, 2021

DECLARATION OF CO-AUTHORSHIP

I. Co-Authorship

I hereby declare that this thesis incorporates material that is result of joint research, as follows: I am the sole author of Chapter 1 (General Introduction) and Chapter 4 (General Discussion), and am the primary author of Chapters 2 and 3. Chapter 2 and 3 are co-authored with Dr. Oliver Love, Dr. Andrew Barnas, Dr. H. Grant Gilchrist, Christopher Harris, and Dr. Christina Semeniuk. In regards to both co-authored chapters, the key, primary contributions, study designs, data analysis, interpretation, and writing were performed by the author, and the contribution of co-authors was primarily through the assistance with securing funding, study designs, data analysis, interpretation, logistical support, and editing versions of the manuscripts.

I am aware of the University of Windsor Senate Policy on Authorship and I certify that I have properly acknowledged the contribution of other researchers to my thesis, and have obtained written permission from each of the co-author(s) to include the above material(s) in my thesis.

I certify that, with the above qualification, this thesis, and the research to which it refers, is the product of my own work.

II. General

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, my thesis does not infringe upon anyone's copyright nor violate any proprietary rights and that any ideas, techniques, quotations, or any other material from the work of other people included in my thesis, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with the standard referencing practices. Furthermore, to the extent that I have included copyrighted material that surpasses the bounds of fair dealing within the meaning of the Canada Copyright Act, I certify that I have obtained a written permission from the copyright owner(s) to include such material(s) in my thesis.

I declare that this is a true copy of my thesis, including any final revisions, as approved by my thesis committee and the Graduate Studies office, and that this thesis has not been submitted for a higher degree to any other University or Institution.

ABSTRACT

Predator-prey dynamics in the Arctic are being altered with changing sea-ice phenology. The increasing frequency of predation on colonial nesting seabird eggs by a rare predator - the polar bear (Ursus maritimus), is a consequence of bears shifting to terrestrial food resources through a shortened seal-hunting season. I study a colony of nesting common eiders (Somateria mollissima) on Mitivik (East Bay) Island, Nunavut, Canada, that is exposed to established nest predators such as arctic fox (*Vulpes lagopus*), but has recently experienced an increase in polar bear nest predation due to the bears' lost on-ice hunting opportunities. Given eiders' limited eco-evolutionary experience with polar bears, my thesis aimed to determine the capacity of incubating eider hens to perceive and respond to this increasing frequency in predation risk from bears. I used eider heart rate and flight initiation distance (FID) as physiological and behavioural metrics, respectively, to characterize the perceived risk of imminent threat posed by simulated predators that differ in evolved familiarity. I then quantified eider heart rate to examine the capacity of incubating hens to dynamically update their perception of risk across variation in real predation risk by polar bears. My results indicate that eiders were less responsive in terms of heart rate to impending visual cues of polar bears in comparison to that of an evolved egg predator (arctic fox), but responded to all simulated threats with similar FIDs. Eiders exhibited mild tachycardia to bears present closer to their nests, but were insensitive to variation in exposure duration to bears. Taken together, these results suggest eiders do not perceive the full risk that bears pose as egg- and adult predators. This thesis provides insight into the mechanisms governing the ability of eiders to cope with polar bears and subsequent fitness consequences due to indirect effects of anthropogenic climate change.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It was such a privilege and honor to work and study under the supervision and guidance of Dr. Christina Semeniuk and Dr. Oliver Love. I am so incredibly thankful for all of the opportunities that you have both provided me during the course of my masters. Without your dedicated involvement in every step of this project, endless encouragement, and understanding, this thesis would not have been realized. Tina, thank you for sharing your genius with me, for encouraging me to reach my full potential as a scientist and professional, and for going above and beyond the duties of a supervisor. Oliver, I have you to thank for initially taking careful consideration of my research interests way-backwhen I first contacted you and ensuring I was set me up with the best set of supervisors and project. I greatly benefitted from your expertise and support in the field and if it were not for you, my heart rate monitors may still not be weighted and glued together. My committee members, Dr. Nigel Hussey and Dr. Dan Mennill, thank you for your enthusiasm and valuable insight throughout my project. I also want to thank Dr. Grant Gilchrist for providing access to- and extensive knowledge about such an incredible study system.

I would like to thank my sources of funding, particularly NSERC for my Canada graduate scholarship, the Wilson Ornithological Society and the Waterbird Society for my research grants, and the University of Windsor.

I would like to grant special thanks to Mary Lou Scratch, Kendra Thompson-Kumar, and Nia Khuong for all of your administrative help and for making GLIER such a welcoming environment. I wish to thank the traditional territory of the Three Fires Confederacy of First Nations, which includes the Ojibwa, the Odawa, and the

vi

Potawatomie for the land that I had the privilege of working on at the University of Windsor.

Working alongside each of my colleagues has been so inspiring. I am extremely thankful for my lab managers: Kevyn Gammie-Janisse, Chris Harris, and Theresa Warriner. I could not have collected my data without the talented Kevyn and Chris, who designed and constructed some of my very cool field equipment, and ensured I had everything I needed to accomplish my field work. I was very fortunate to work alongside There a when she was a fellow grad student, as well as to benefit from her help and advice as a manager in our lab. No matter her role, she was always an incredible mentor to me. I wish to thank my Semeniuk lab-mates both past and present: Lida Nguyen-Dang, Patrick Jagielski, Kevyn Gammie-Janisse, Dr. Kathleen Church, Dr. Andrew Barnas, Chelsea Frank, Alex Wilder, Brendyn St. Louis, Omar Taboun, and Cassie Simone. Special thanks to Lida and Patrick who graciously welcomed me into the lab and coached me on how to be a successful graduate student. I missed you both during the last year of my masters, but even from afar, you were there to see me through to the end. Thank you to my officemates for our routine 11am coffee breaks and 2pm tea-time. These breaks (and caffeine) helped keep me productive and gave me something to look forward to everyday. Thank you to my extremely hard-working volunteer Cassie for all of your help collecting data from my many trail-camera videos. I wish to thank Dr. Andrew Barnas who offered statistical advice during the analysis stage of this thesis and valuable insight that helped strengthen my thesis. I am so fortunate to have had the extra support from my Love lab-mates both past and present: Theresa Warriner, Colin Finerty, Kyle Parkinson, Reyd Smith, Alyssa Eby, Sydney Currier, Christine Madliger, Chris Harris, Madison

vii

Sturba, and Erika Nissen. You all welcomed me into your lab as your own and I am so grateful for the extra support. Also, I would be lying if I said I did not benefit from being invited to double the lab-birthday celebrations.

I will always cherish the memories I made with my East Bay Island and Mainland field crews. Field work would not have been possible without all of your help. Thank you Bronwyn Harkness and Holly Hennin for your role in making sure the field season ran smoothly, and this included ensuring we all had our favorite treats. Thank you to Reyd Smith, Brandan Norman, Bronwyn Harkness, Russell Turner, and Christophe Boyer for your help with the deployment of incubation monitoring equipment, as well as Ariel Lenske, Brian Smith, Lenny Emiktaut, Sarah Neima, and Willow English for your help with the retrieval of incubation monitoring equipment. I thank Lincoln Savi for collecting the drone-imagery necessary for my spatial analyses. Moreover, I thank Josiah Nakoolak, Jupie Angootealuk, and Mark Eetuk for additional research assistance and field guidance. You have each had a part in making my time in the Arctic an experience of a lifetime.

I am incredibly thankful to my friends, near and far, for providing happy distractions to rest my mind outside of my research. To my friends in Windsor, you helped make this city a home, and for that, I am beyond thankful for you. I know I made some forever friends here and I cannot wait to travel across Canada (and the U.S.) to visit you and make more memories together. Thank you to my roommate and long-term friend, Keifer Bell, for making our living space such a positive environment to come home to at the end of each day. We had been through a lot together and I would not have wanted to experience all the pests Windsor has to offer with anyone else. I feel so lucky for my East Coast friends, with whom distance could not come in between us. Thank you

viii

to all of my study buddies, whether we worked together in-person or over facetime, for making work fun and holding me accountable.

I would like to thank my family for their unconditional love and support through everything I do. They have always been my biggest cheerleaders. Dad, your hard work and strength inspires me, and my accomplishments are a reflection of that. Mom, thank you for always answering my calls no matter whether I was calling to explain my newest accomplishments or challenges. You always knew how to make me leave our conversations truly feeling good about myself and my situation. Dylan, I have always looked up to you and I am thankful I do because your passion for life is what inspires me to follow my dreams. I am so grateful for the Barry's, who's support and interest through this process helped keep me going. And Mitchell, you have been with me through the ups and the downs and have been my rock throughout this whole process. Everything you have done, from moving to Windsor to take on this adventure with me, to your 20-second hugs when I needed the oxytocin boost, to your pep talks, to your delicious cooking that helped fuel me through my work, has not gone unnoticed.

I would like to express my appreciation for all of my foster dogs for taking me on daily walks. Finally, I am so thankful for my focal eiders that returned to their nest postequipment deployment and allowed me to collect my data.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION OF CO-AUTHORSHIPiii
ABSTRACTv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSvi
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURESxv
LIST OF APPENDICES
CHAPTER 1 General Introduction
Climate-induced changes to predator-prey dynamics1
Adaptive responses to evolved predators2
Anti-predator responses of incubating birds
Adaptive capacity to detect and respond to new/rare predators
Arctic predator-prey systems in flux7
Study system: Common eider10
Thesis objectives13
Literature Cited
CHAPTER 2 Heart rate and flight responses to evolutionarily familiar and unfamiliar predators in an Arctic seabird
Introduction29
Materials and Methods
Study species and area35
Heart rate monitoring35
Predator-simulated experimental protocol37
<i>Heart rate quantification</i> 39
Estimating incubation stage40
Eider responses to natural polar bear predation40
Statistical analyses41
Degulta AA

Discussion	45
Differential heart-rate responses to evolved predators	
Similar FID to predators, despite differential recognition	
Future directions in studies of seabird responses to predation risk	
Conclusion	51
Literature Cited	53
Tables	67
Figures	69
CHAPTER 3 Arctic colonial-nesting seabird heart rate responses to natural threat of polar bear egg predation	variation in 76
Introduction	76
Materials and Methods	80
Study species and area	80
Heart rate monitoring	
Heart rate quantification	82
Polar bear monitoring	
Defining polar bear locations in relation to eiders	85
Estimating eider exposure to bears given their viewsheds	86
Estimating eider distances and exposure durations to polar bears	
Eider incubation stage	
Air temperature and wind speed	
Statistical analyses	
Results	
Discussion	91
Heart rate responses to various distances to polar bears	93
Heart rate responses to various exposure durations to polar bears	94
Intra- and inter-individual variation in physiological responses	95
Conclusion	97
Literature Cited	
Tables	
Figures	

CHAPTER 4 General Discussion	121
Predator discrimination via rapid change	123
Limitations and future directions	127
Conclusion	130
Literature Cited	133
APPENDICES	142
VITA AUCTORIS	143

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2. 1. Model parameter estimates and standard error for fixed effects used to explain
variation in heart rate among nesting common eiders (Somateria mollissima) on Mitivik
Island67
Table 2. 2. Model parameter variance and standard deviation for random effects used to
explain variation in heart rate among nesting common eiders (Somateria mollissima) on
Mitivik Island67
Table 2. 3. Predicting common eider (Somateria mollissima) heart rate (beats/10s) based
on AICc model selection (ML estimation). Models included here were used in a
backward stepwise regression until significant effects remained (via ML estimation).
AICc weight represents the relative likelihood of a model. Models are sorted by weight
from most likely to less likely. The null model is represented by "heart rate ~ 1 "67
Table 2. 4. Model parameter estimates and standard error for fixed effects used to explain
variation in flight initiation distance among nesting common eiders (Somateria
mollissima) on Mitivik Island
Table 2. 5. Model parameter variance and standard deviation for random effects used to
explain variation in flight initiation distance among nesting common eiders (Somateria
mollissima) on Mitivik Island
Table 2. 6. Predicting common eider (Somateria mollissima) flight initiation distance (m)
(FID) based on AICc model selection (ML estimation). Models included here were used
in a backward stepwise regression until significant effects remained (via ML estimation).
AICc weight represents the relative likelihood of a model. Models are sorted by weight
from most likely to less likely. The null model is represented by "FID \sim 1"68

Table 3. 1. Trail camera (Browning Inc. model BTC-5HDPX) settings selected to record
polar bear (Ursus maritimus) movement behaviour on Mitivik Island, Nunavut Canada
Table 3. 2. Model parameter estimates and standard error for fixed effects used to explain
variation in magnitude of change in heart rate among nesting common eiders (Somateria
mollissima) on Mitivik Island112
Table 3. 3. Model parameter variance and standard deviation for random effects used to
explain variation in magnitude of change in heart rate among nesting common eiders
(Somateria mollissima) on Mitivik Island
Table 3. 4. Predicting the magnitude of change in heart rate (i.e., "delta heart rate",
beats/10s) in female incubating common eiders (Somateria mollissima) in response to
polar bears (Ursus maritimus) based on AICc model selection (ML estimation). Models
included here were used in a backward stepwise regression until significant effects
remained (via ML estimation). AICc weight represents the relative likelihood of a model.
Models are sorted by weight from most likely to less likely. The null model is represented
by "magnitude of change in heart rate ~ 1"113
Table A1. Tascam DR-05X recorder settings selected to record common eider
(Somateria mollissima) heart rate142

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2. 1. Map of Study Area, displaying our A) general location (Northern Hudson
Bay, Nunavut, Canada), B) regional location (Southampton Island, Nunavut, Canada),
and C) study site (Mitivik Island, represented by a star) within East Bay, Nunavut,
Canada. Canadian Provinces and Territories map layers provided by ESRI online,
accessed May 30, 2018
Figure 2. 2. Experimental heart rate recorders, with photographs of A) separate halves of
3D-printed common eider (Somateria mollissima) egg, microphones, and funnel (left),
two halves of plastic 3D-printed egg assembled (bottom right), artificial eider egg
covered with a balloon membrane (top right), B) digital audio recorder (Tascam DR-
05X) and external battery pack, and C) storage box and artificial-egg, ready for
deployment70
Figure 2. 3. Distribution of focal nests (black stars) across Mitivik Island, Nunavut,
Canada. Map layer created using ArcMap v10.6.1 (Esri, Redlands, CA, USA)71
Figure 2. 4. Images of our experimental predator stimuli: 54-inch diameter grey
umbrellas with to-scale images of A) polar bear, B) arctic fox, and C) plain for control.
Images include approximate measurements (width and length) of the animal's head.
Images sourced on the internet from Creative Common websites
Figure 2. 5. Screenshot of the waveforms from heart sounds produced by an incubating
focal common eider (Somateria mollissima) in Audacity® v2.3.2 (Audacity Team 2019).
At the end, hen flushes, and heart beats were counted for three 10 second intervals before
the hen flushed73

and dashed lines are based on model predicted values \pm 95% confidence intervals,
respectively117
Figure 3. 5. Magnitude of change in common eider (Somateria mollissima) heart rate
(beats/10s) depending on eider incubation stage (days). Solid and dashed lines are based
on model predicted values \pm 95% confidence intervals, respectively118
Figure 3. 6. Magnitude of change in common eider (Somateria mollissima) heart rate
(beats/10s) depending on air temperature (degrees Celsius) on Mitivik Island. Solid and
dashed lines are based on model predicted values \pm 95% confidence intervals,
respectively119
Figure 3. 7 Magnitude of change in common eider (Somateria mollissima) heart rate

(beats/10s) depending on wind speed (m/s) on Mitivik Island. Solid and dashed lines are based on model predicted values \pm 95% confidence intervals, respectively......120

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A Heart rate recorder settings	142
appendix is mean face recorder bettings	

CHAPTER 1

General Introduction

Climate-induced changes to predator-prey dynamics

Recent anthropogenic climate change (IPCC 2018) is having complex ecological impacts (reviewed in Hughes 2000, McCarty 2001, Walther et al. 2002). In particular, there is growing evidence of climate-induced phenological shifts in seasonal life history events occurring across terrestrial, freshwater, and marine taxa, with Spring and Summer events generally occurring earlier than they have in the historical past (Thackeray et al. 2010, Johansson et al. 2015). In many of these cases, organisms are responding to climatic effects on landscapes and resource availability by altering the timing of their life history events to take advantage of optimal conditions (e.g., Both 2010, Chisholm et al. 2020). As such, phenological changes can act on predator-prey dynamics by influencing species' potential to occupy the same space at the same time (Guiden et al. 2019), thereby impacting the strength of these biological interactions and creating new matches and mismatches in the activity of predators and prey (Parmesan 2006). Indeed, recent changes in the degree of spatial overlap between predators and their prey have either created novel predator encounters by prey (Guiden et al. 2019) or increased traditionally infrequent interactions (e.g., between newt predators and frog larvae, reviewed in Walther et al. 2002). What is unclear is the extent to which these organisms have the necessary evolved mechanisms to adaptively and successfully respond to this degree of change (Salo et al. 2007, Sih et al. 2011, 2016; Robertson et al. 2013, Sih 2013, Ehlman et al. 2019, Sadoul et al. 2020).

Adaptive responses to evolved predators

In communities where predators and prey have coexisted over evolutionary history, prey have evolved a variety of phenotypically plastic traits (i.e., behavioural, physiological, morphological, and life history traits) that lower their risk of confronting a predator and enhance their likelihood of escape once confronted (Lima and Dill 1990). Prey that have sufficient experience on both evolutionary and ecological timescales with a predator will have the adaptive capacity to discriminate the predator from non-predators, a necessary mechanism that precedes a response (reviewed in Carthey and Blumstein 2018). Equally, prey that have evolved with a community of predators will be primed to recognize a variety of different predator cues and respond accordingly (Blumstein 2006a). Specifically, adaptive mechanisms can include the capacity to discriminate between threatening and non-threatening organisms by recognizing general (i.e., produced by a broad range of predation threats) and/or specific (to one predator species) cues emitted by their evolved predators (reviewed in Carthey and Banks 2014). Once they have detected a predator, prey typically alter their behaviour and underlying physiology in a way that aligns with one of the following two strategies that lower their risk of being detected and captured by predators: 1) passive defense response, whereby prey reduce activity to avoid being detected; or 2) active defense, whereby prey actively attempt to escape predation (Adolphs 2013). Although risk-induced trait responses can improve prey fitness by reducing predation risk, responding to predation risk can also have negative consequences for the fitness of prey via trade-offs between survival and growth or current reproduction (Lima and Dill 1990). According to state-dependent signal detection theory, prey should adjust their cue signal thresholds (i.e., strength of the signal emitted by the

predator above which they will respond) according to their internal state, whereby a prey's optimal threshold decreases with their level of reserves (Trimmer et al. 2017). Flexible traits therefore allow prey to optimize their responses to predators in ecological time based on the current risk of predation in its environment and the trade-offs associated with the possible defense strategies.

Anti-predator responses of incubating birds

Nest predation is the largest cause of reproductive failure in birds (Ricklefs 1969). However, some nest predators not only target a bird's clutch of eggs, they can also pose a predation threat to the adult themselves (Lima 2009). Therefore, incubating birds can be faced with conflicting demands (i.e., current reproduction vs survival to invest in future reproductive attempts) which requires a bird to continuously update their response to focus on the more critical demand that maximizes lifetime fitness. An important riskinduced behaviour in breeding birds (especially those that are incubating and tied to an invested clutch of eggs) is the optimal regulation of flight initiation distance (FID). In ground-nesting birds, FID is defined as the distance at which individuals decide to vacate their nest after a predator has been detected (e.g., Blumstein 2006, Tarlow and Blumstein 2007). Despite the obvious benefits of fleeing from a predator, flight can have reproductive and energetic costs (i.e., non-consumptive effects). The 'economics of flight' hypothesis posits that following the detection of a predation threat, prey balance the costs associated with divergent behavioural options (e.g., remaining on the nest or fleeing) to determine at what distance from the predator to flee (Ydenberg and Dill 1986). According to this hypothesis, FID should vary with the level of perceived predation risk,

with more risky interactions causing an animal to flee their nests sooner. Both characteristics of the prey and predator influence a prey's perception of risk. For instance, a bird's other defensive tactics (e.g., morphological defenses) can increase their confidence in remaining concealed (e.g., cryptic colouration) or prevent capture (e.g., armour) from predators and therefore influences risk. Prey species that rely on these tactics may defer fleeing and only switch from freezing (i.e., passive defense) to fleeing (i.e., active defense) once a predator reaches a critical distance at which the need to engage outweighs the possibility of evading detection (reviewed in Adolphs 2013). Further, level of risk varies across different predator encounters and even across moments within a single encounter with a predator. For example, different types of predators pose different levels of risk (Tvardíková and Fuchs 2011, Schneider and Griesser 2013) and aside from a predator's distance in relation to prey (e.g., Smith and Edwards 2018), other predator behaviours such as their direction of attention (e.g., gaze, Davidson and Clayton 2016) and speed of attack (Cooper 2006) influence level of risk. Flight initiation distance can therefore be used as a metric to assess an animal's perception of relative risk to predation in the field.

Behaviour interacts reciprocally with inter-related physiological responses to predation risk (Sih et al. 2010). For example, upon detection of a threat, the hypothalamopituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis is activated and secretion of circulating glucocorticoids such as corticosterone (CORT; i.e., the primary avian 'stress' hormone, Monaghan 2014) from the adrenal gland initiates physiological mechanisms that sensitize an animal to predators, typically triggering behavioural responses to enhance immediate survival such as inhibition of reproductive behaviour and stimulation of escape behaviour (Sapolsky et al. 2000, Clinchy et al. 2013). Corticosterone responses in birds can be detectable one to two minutes after initial exposure to a stressor (Romero and Reed 2005) and thus comprises only the second wave of the stress response (Cockrem 2007). Modulation of the cardiovascular stress response is a much more immediate physiological response to threat (i.e., less than one second after threat-detection), and is thus involved in the first wave of the stress response (reviewed in Sapolsky et al. 2000). Animals can show flexibility in the relative roles of the sympathetic and parasympathetic branches of the autonomic nervous system in regulating stress-induced changes in heart rate (Löw et al. 2008, Müller et al. 2018). For instance, distinct patterns of autonomic change have been associated with the different defense strategies employed by prey (i.e., active vs passive). An active defense strategy is characterized by a fight-or-flight response (i.e., prepares an animal for danger), and is mediated by the sympathetic nervous system, which releases the catecholamines epinephrine and norepinephrine to accelerate heart rate (i.e., fear tachycardia) (reviewed in Sapolsky et al. 2000). The rest-and-digest response (i.e., promotes self-maintenance processes) is mediated by the parasympathetic nervous system, which releases acetylcholine to decelerate heart rate (i.e., fear bradycardia) and is generally associated with a passive defense strategy to a perceived threat (i.e., linked to freezing behaviour) (Lang et al. 1997, Carravieri et al. 2016). Patterns of use of the different defense strategies within a single predator event has been linked to the proximity (i.e., imminence) of a threat: the first detection of a predator in the distance prompts parasympathetic-mediated bradycardia, and this deceleration in heart rate can grow more intense as a threat gets closer, but once the prey's distance from the predator reaches a critical distance where the threat of attack is perceived as imminent (i.e., when bird

assumes they have been detected by the predator), animals switch to a sympatheticmediated tachycardia preceding flight (e.g., Gabrielsen et al. 1977, 1985; reviewed in Löw et al. 2008). However, there are also reports of birds exclusively displaying a tachycardia (e.g., herring gull *Larus argentatus*, Ball and Amlaner 1979) or bradycardia (e.g., willow grouse *Lagopus lagopus*, Gabrielsen et al. 1977) response to disturbance prior to a flush response. According to Campbell et al. (1997), fear bradycardia is particularly evident in nesting species that rely on concealment (e.g., cover and feather crypsis) to avoid detection by predators, explaining potential interspecific differences in risk-induced heart rate responses. Measuring heart rate responses can thus offer a dynamic understanding of perceived risk by prey in response to approaching predators.

Adaptive capacity to detect and respond to new/rare predators

Prey vary in their capacity to respond to new/rare predators; some animals will have the necessary mechanisms to adaptively respond, while others will exhibit responses that may be maladaptive (Salo et al. 2007, Sih 2013, Sih et al. 2016, Ehlman et al. 2019). Species accumulate experience interacting with predators over both evolutionary and ecological timescales, and their specific (i.e., with focal predator species) and general (i.e., with other predators) eco-evolutionary experience with predators may be applicable in new/rare interactions (Saul and Jeschke 2015). But there exists several hypothesized mechanisms by which prey may be able to still detect and respond adaptively to predators for which they have limited eco-evolutionary experience (reviewed in Carthey and Blumstein 2018). For instance, prey may be more likely to recognize and respond to a predator for which they have no experience, but that 1) are of the same archetype as

familiar predators (i.e., show similar morphological and behavioural adaptations in obtaining prey, Cox and Lima 2006); or 2) display features that 'label' them as predatory (e.g., forward facing eyes, Sih et al. 2009). Further, prey with only recent experience coexisting with a predator may be able to respond to an evolutionarily novel predator by rapidly developing appropriate responses via plasticity, learning, and/or rapid evolution (Steindler et al. 2020). Alternatively, prey with insufficient eco-evolutionary experience to recognize and/or adaptively respond to a predator are considered naïve (Cox and Lima 2006, Carthey and Banks 2014). The amount of eco-evolutionary experience prey possess with a predator influences their level of naiveté: either prey do not recognize the predator and thus do not display a response (level 1); prey recognize a predator but display an inappropriate response (level 2; e.g., rely on crypsis to avoid olfactory hunting predators); respond appropriately but ineffectively (level 3); or display a greater response than necessary to reduce risk (level 4; e.g., hide from predator for too long). Understanding the extent to which prey can detect and effectively respond to predators can therefore provide insight on the fitness consequences prey are expected to incur as a result of increasing predation pressure by predators for which prey have limited eco-evolutionary experience.

Arctic predator-prey systems in flux

The effects of climate change are most pervasive in the Arctic (Wassmann et al. 2011), which is experiencing a warming of more than double the global increase (Trenberth et al. 2007). Resultantly, parts of the Canadian Arctic are experiencing earlier sea-ice loss in the Spring and delays in freeze-up in the Fall, altogether creating a lengthened ice-melt season (Stirling et al. 1999, Gagnon and Gough 2005). Ice-associated changes in the

abundance and distribution of food resources are affecting the breeding and foraging ecology of most marine birds and mammals (Wrona et al. 2016, Descamps et al. 2017, Frederiksen 2017). Indeed, many Arctic nesting seabirds are advancing their nesting phenology to coincide with optimal sea-ice conditions (e.g., thick-billed murre Uria lovia, Gaston et al. 2005; greater snow goose Chen caerulescens atlantica, Dickey et al. 2008; common eider Somateria mollissima, Love et al. 2010), but this advancement is occurring at a slower rate than advances in sea-ice break-up (e.g., lesser snow goose Anser caerulescens caerulescens, Rockwell and Gormezano 2009). This disruption in synchrony is not only creating mismatches between seabirds and other members of their marine food web (e.g., between breeding birds and peak food availability, Gaston et al. 2009), but it is also creating new matches. One of the most dramatic predator-prev overlaps we are seeing involves polar bears (Ursus maritimus), a species traditionally dependent on ice as a platform to hunt marine mammals (Thiemann et al. 2008). Bears are now being forced ashore earlier due to a shortened seal-hunting season (Stirling et al. 1999, Stirling and Parkinson 2006), and their time on land is increasingly overlapping with when Arctic nesting birds are breeding (e.g., Rockwell et al. 2011, Iverson et al. 2014). As a result of this new match, we are seeing steady and rapid increases in the occurrences of egg predation in Arctic nesting seabird colonies during the birds' breeding season (e.g., lesser snow goose, Rockwell and Gormezano 2009; snow goose Chen caerulescens and thick-billed murre, Smith et al. 2010; common eider, Iverson et al. 2014; barnacle goose Branta leucopsis and glaucous gull Larus hyperboreus, Prop et al. 2015).

Arctic nesting seabirds experience strong selective pressure on their breeding

ecology from their traditional avian and mammalian egg predators (i.e., primarily arctic fox Vulpes lagopus, Larson 1960). Anti-predator adaptations that birds have evolved against these predators fail to deter polar bear egg predation. In particular, many seabirds have evolved arctic fox avoidance behaviours by nesting primarily on 1) small islands and after ice-contact with the mainland is lost, or 2) steep mainland cliffs (Larson 1960, Ahlén and Andersson 1970, Mehlum 1991, Mallory and Gilchrist 2003, Hanssen et al. 2013, Maftei et al. 2015). Unlike their traditional mammalian predators, however, polar bears can access islands during the nesting periods of seabirds by swimming (Pagano et al. 2012) and their frequency of visitation at both island and cliff-nesting seabird colonies has increased (Iverson et al. 2014). Second, many Arctic seabirds have evolved to nest in high-density aggregations to reduce the risk of predation by arctic fox and their avian egg predators through a dilution effect or through communal nest defense and predator warning (Schmutz et al. 1983, Mehlum 1991, Oro 1996, Hernández-Matías et al. 2003). Dense colonies make foraging more efficient and profitable for some predators (Ricklefs 1969, Clode 1993, Stokes and Boersma 2000), and this may be the case for polar bears since a single bear can consume hundreds of clutches in a short period of time (Gormezano et al. 2017). Indeed, bears foraging in nesting bird colonies has been shown to be density dependent, with bears preferentially foraging in larger nesting aggregations over solitarily or small aggregations (Iverson et al. 2014). Finally, many Arctic nesting seabirds have evolved high nest attentiveness to reduce exposure of eggs to predation by avian predators (Afton and Paulus 1992), but polar bears can easily displace birds off their nest (Gormezano et al. 2017). Therefore, previously adaptive defenses by nesting seabirds against their traditional egg predators may render some seabird species

vulnerable to an evolutionary trap against polar bear egg predators (Schlaepfer et al. 2002).

Study system: Common eider

The Hudson Strait is home to internationally significant populations of marine birds, largely comprised of Thick-billed murres and Common eiders. Whereas polar bears are historically a very infrequent and stochastic predator of birds and their eggs (Harrington 1965, Lønø 1970, Russell 1975, Gormezano and Rockwell 2013), both these avian species have experienced a dramatic (sevenfold) increase in polar bear incursions during their breeding period as a consequence of the bear's climate-induced reduced winter diet (Smith et al. 2010; Iverson et al. 2014). Given a combination of physiological and environmental constraints, Common eiders (hereafter 'eiders'), a long-lived iteroparous sea duck species (Coulson 1984), are highly susceptible to impacts on fitness from polar bear nest predation. First, the threat of polar bear nest predation is increasing at a greater degree for ground nesters such as eiders than for cliff-nesting seabirds because bears do not need to employ intensive feeding techniques (e.g., cliff climbing) when targeting ground-nesters, making them more easily accessible (Iverson et al. 2014, Hamilton et al. 2017). Next, the incubation period is an energetically taxing time for eiders. By using a mixed capital-income reproductive strategy (Sénéchal et al. 2011) females undergo a 25-27 day incubation period in which they forego foraging and spend little time off their nest to minimize the length of the incubation period (Korschgen 1977, Parker and Holm 1990). As a consequence, incubating eider hens are unable to compensate by foraging to buffer energy loss during this extreme incubation fasting, resulting in the loss of 30-45%

of their post-laying body mass (Mehlum 1991). Because of this tight energy budget, any further energy used to respond to new predation risk from polar bears when their own life is not at risk (i.e., where they do not need to flee) could reduce their chances of successfully completing incubation, reducing lifetime fitness. Finally, eider reproductive timing is constrained by sea ice phenology (Love et al. 2010) so disruptive breeding caused by polar bear egg predation during incubation can disrupt ideal timing of hatching ducklings if eiders initiate a replacement clutch, generating additional reproductive fitness deficits (Hanssen and Erikstad 2012). With these combined constraints, eider hens are faced with multiple decisions on how best to optimize their responses to an increase in predation risk by polar bears to maximize their lifetime fitness.

Eiders have evolved various adaptive defenses to their traditional predators, *Larus* gulls and arctic fox, such as nesting primarily on coastal islands (Chaulk et al. 2007) and forming large nesting aggregations (over 1000 nests per hectare, Chaulk et al. 2004). Although advancing Spring ice-melt is expected to reduce predation pressure by foxes (Hanssen et al. 2013), predation risk from polar bears will continue to be exacerbated (Dey et al. 2018). Despite the severe consequences bear presence in eider colonies have shown to have on eider reproductive success (Iverson et al. 2014), Dey et al. (2018) predicted that northern eider population sizes will remain stable over the next 50 years as a result of multiple antagonistic effects of climate change on different vital rates (i.e., increases in polar bear egg predation in combination with increases in breeding propensity and clutch size). However, their results do not imply eider adaptation to changing climatic conditions, such as the adaptive capacity to respond to increases in polar bear predation risk. Moreover, one suggested mechanism that may reduce polar-

bear predation in the short term is eider re-nesting to other colonies marked by reduced predation pressure as predicted by Dey and colleagues (2018); however, this has yet to be observed (Dey et al. 2020).

It is suggested that an animal's response to rapid environmental change might depend on the extent to which the new conditions match the conditions in which that species evolved (Sih et al. 2011). Thus, contrasting eiders' responses to the recent predation pressure by an infrequent/rare egg- and adult-predator within the context of their adaptive responses to the threat of arctic fox egg predation can provide insight on eiders capacity to cope with these changes (Sih et al. 2010). Additionally, level of risk within and across predator encounters can vary (as discussed above) and dynamic risk is especially true for female incubating eiders since their cryptic coloration should increase their confidence in remaining concealed from predators (Ydenberg and Dill 1986). Because female incubating eiders are so energetically limited during incubation (Parker and Holm 1990, Gabrielsen 1994), eiders must optimize their responses to predators by assessing risk in their current environment and adjusting their responses accordingly (i.e., dynamic risk assessment, Kleindorfer et al. 2005). Therefore, understanding an eider's perception of polar bear predation risk will also provide insight on their adaptive capacity to respond to this increasing risk. Eiders have been documented displaying various riskinduced trait responses to disturbance, including flushing (Seltmann et al. 2012), hormonal stress (e.g., CORT, Jaatinen et al. 2014), and heart rate responses (Cabanac and Guillemette 2001). Although hormonal responses can be reliable predictors of perceived risk by eiders, blood samples are not always feasible to obtain in free-living birds without interrupting incubation and inducing abandonment. As such, non-invasive metrics such as

the monitoring of heart rate during stressful events can be used as real-time physiological measures of perceived risk in the field (e.g., de Villiers et al. 2006, Viblanc et al. 2012), since the magnitude and duration of changes in heart rate can be used to determine an animal's assessment of a stimulus (discussed above). Flight initiation distance and heart rate can therefore be used as non-invasive behavioural and physiological metrics to assess eider perception of risk to polar bears in relation to traditional egg predators and variation in polar bear predation risk.

Thesis objectives

The overall goal of my thesis was to assess the adaptive capacity of common eiders to respond to increasing frequency in predation risk from polar bears, specifically characterizing incubating eiders' risk-induced trait responses in terms of flight response and heart rate to polar bears in relation to traditional egg predators and variation in predation risk by polar bears on Mitivik (East Bay) Island, Nunavut, Canada in 2019.

In Chapter 2, *Heart rate and flight responses to evolutionarily familiar and unfamiliar predators in an Arctic seabird*: My objective was to use a simulated-predator experimental approach to contrast eider perception of and response to imminent risk posed by polar bears and arctic foxes. Due to eiders' limited evolutionary experience with bears and the archetypal differences between polar bears and foxes, I hypothesized that incubating eiders will have a lower perception of risk to polar bears than to their evolved fox predators. I found that eiders had less of an alteration in heart rate to an approaching polar bear stimulus compared to arctic fox and that their heart rate was positively correlated with flight initiation distance, but despite this, eiders did not show differential

flight responses to polar bears, arctic foxes, or control. Altogether, eiders have a lower perception of physiological risk to polar bears than to their evolved mammalian egg predators, suggesting their cardiac stress response is restricted to recognize evolutionarylevel threats, as oppose to their behavioural escape response that can be modulated to ecological changes in risk.

In Chapter 3, *Arctic colonial-nesting seabird heart rate responses to natural variation in threat of polar bear egg predation*: My objective was to assess eiders' perception of risk to variation in predation risk posed by polar bears. Due to eiders' limited eco-evolutionary experience with polar bears, I hypothesized that eiders would not perceive the full risk posed by polar bears, so do not dynamically update their assessment of risk to variation in risk posed by a bear. I found that eider heart rate changed to various distances to a polar bear, but was unaffected by duration of exposure to a bear, and thus eiders do not realize the full risk bears pose to their eggs and themselves.

In **Chapter 4**, *General discussion*: I interpret my findings, then discuss their implications for eider fitness and resultant downstream impacts on eider population dynamics. I discuss my study's limitations and provide suggestions for future research and conservation intervention.

Literature Cited

Adolphs, R. (2013). The biology of fear. Current Biology 23:R79–R93.

- Afton, A. D., and S. L. Paulus (1992). Incubation and brood care. In Ecology and management of breeding waterfowl (B. D. J. Batt, A. D. Afton, M. G. Anderson, C. D. Ankney, D. H. Johnson, J. A. Kadlec and G. L. Krapu, Editors). University of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA, pp. 62–108.
- Ahlén, I., and Å. Andersson (1970). Breeding ecology of an eider population on Spitsbergen. Ornis Scandinavica 1:83–106.
- Ball, N. J., and C. J. J. Amlaner (1979). Changing heart rates of Herring gulls when approached by humans. In A Handbook on Biotelemetry and Radio Tracking. Pergamon Press Oxford, New York.
- Blumstein, D. T. (2006a). The multipredator hypothesis and the evolutionary persistence of antipredator behavior. Ethology 112:209–217.
- Blumstein, D. T. (2006b). Developing an evolutionary ecology of fear: how life history and natural history traits affect disturbance tolerance in birds. Animal Behaviour 71:389–399.
- Both, C. (2010). Food availability, mistiming, and climatic change. In Effects of ClimateChange on Birds (A. P. Moller, W. Fiedler and P. Berthold, Editors). OxfordUniversity Press, Oxford, pp. 129–147.
- Cabanac, A. J., and M. Guillemette (2001). Temperature and heart rate as stress indicators of handled common eider. Physiology and Behavior 74:475–479.

- Carravieri, A., M. S. Müller, K. Yoda, S. Hayama, and M. Yamamoto (2016). Dominant parasympathetic modulation of heart rate and heart rate variability in a wild-caught seabird. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 89:263–276.
- Carthey, A. J. R., and P. B. Banks (2014). Naïveté in novel ecological interactions: lessons from theory and experimental evidence. Biological Reviews 89:932–949.
- Carthey, A. J. R., and D. T. Blumstein (2018). Predicting predator recognition in a changing world. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 33:106–115.
- Chaulk, K. G., G. J. Robertson, and W. A. Montevecchi (2004). Regional and annual variability in common eider nesting ecology in Labrador. Polar Research 23:121–130.
- Chaulk, K. G., G. J. Robertson, and W. A. Montevecchi (2007). Landscape features and sea ice influence nesting common eider abundance and dispersion. Canadian Journal of Zoology 85:301–309.
- Chisholm, C., M. S. Becker, and W. H. Pollard (2020). The importance of incorporating landscape change for predictions of climate-induced plant phenological shifts.Frontiers in Plant Science 11:759.
- Clinchy, M., M. J. Sheriff, and L. Y. Zanette (2013). Predator-induced stress and the ecology of fear. Functional Ecology 27:56–65.
- Clode, D. (1993). Colonially breeding seabirds: predators or prey? Trends in Ecology and Evolution 8:336–338.

Cockrem, J. F. (2007). Stress, corticosterone responses and avian personalities. Journal of

Ornithology 148:S169–S178.

- Cooper, W. E. (2006). Dynamic risk assessment: prey rapidly adjust flight initiation distance to changes in predator approach speed. Ethology 112:858–864.
- Coulson, J. C. (1984). The population dynamics of the eider duck Somateria mollissima and evidence of extensive non-breeding by adult ducks. Ibis 126:525–543.
- Cox, J. G., and S. L. Lima (2006). Naiveté and an aquatic-terrestrial dichotomy in the effects of introduced predators. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 21:674–680.
- Davidson, G. L., and N. S. Clayton (2016). New perspectives in gaze sensitivity research. Learning and Behavior 44:9–17.
- Descamps, S., J. Aars, E. Fuglei, K. M. Kovacs, C. Lydersen, O. Pavlova, Å. Ø. Pedersen, V. Ravolainen, and H. Strøm (2017). Climate change impacts on wildlife in a High Arctic archipelago – Svalbard, Norway. Global Change Biology 23:490– 502.
- Dey, C. J., C. A. D. Semeniuk, S. A. Iverson, and H. Grant Gilchrist (2020). Changes in the distribution of nesting Arctic seaducks are not strongly related to variation in polar bear presence. Arctic Science 6:114–123.
- Dey, C. J., C. A. D. Semeniuk, S. A. Iverson, E. Richardson, D. McGeachy, and H. G. Gilchrist (2018). Forecasting the outcome of multiple effects of climate change on northern common eiders. Biological Conservation 220:94–103.
- Dickey, M.-H., G. Gauthier, and M.-C. Cadieux (2008). Climatic effects on the breeding phenology and reproductive success of an arctic-nesting goose species. Global
Change Biology 14:1973–1985.

- Ehlman, S. M., P. C. Trimmer, and A. Sih (2019). Prey responses to exotic predators: effects of old risks and new cues. The American Naturalist 193:575–587.
- Frederiksen, M. (2017). SAMBR synthesis: status and trends of Arctic marine biodiversity and monitoring. In State of the Arctic Marine Biodiversity Report. pp. 175–193.
- Gabrielsen, G., J. Kanwisher, and J. B. Steen (1977). "Emotional" bradycardia: a telemetry study on incubating Willow Grouse (Lagopus lagopus). Acta Physiologica Scandinavica 100:255–257.
- Gabrielsen, G. W. (1994). Energy expenditure in Arctic seabirds.
- Gabrielsen, G. W., A. S. Blix, and H. Ursin (1985). Orienting and freezing responses in incubating ptarmigan hens. Physiology and Behavior 34:925–934.
- Gagnon, A. S., and W. A. Gough (2005). Trends in the dates of ice freeze-up and breakup over Hudson Bay, Canada. Arctic 58:370–382.
- Gaston, A. J., H. G. Gilchrist, and J. M. Hipfner (2005). Climate change, ice conditions and reproduction in an Arctic nesting marine bird: Brunnich's guillemot (Uria lomvia L.). Journal of Animal Ecology 74:832–841.
- Gaston, A. J., H. G. Gilchrist, M. L. Mallory, and P. A. Smith (2009). Changes in seasonal events, peak food availability, and consequent breeding adjustment in a marine bird: a case of progressive mismatching. Condor 111:111–119.

- Gormezano, L. J., S. N. Ellis-Felege, D. T. Iles, A. Barnas, and R. F. Rockwell (2017).
 Polar bear foraging behavior during the ice-free period in western Hudson Bay:
 observations, origins, and potential significance. American Museum Novitates
 3885:1–28.
- Gormezano, L. J., and R. F. Rockwell (2013). What to eat now? shifts in polar bear diet during the ice-free season in western Hudson Bay. Ecology and Evolution 3:3509–3523.
- Guiden, P. W., S. L. Bartel, N. W. Byer, A. A. Shipley, and J. L. Orrock (2019).Predator–prey interactions in the Anthropocene: reconciling multiple aspects of novelty. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 34:616–627.
- Hamilton, C. D., K. M. Kovacs, R. A. Ims, J. Aars, and C. Lydersen (2017). An Arctic predator-prey system in flux: climate change impacts on coastal space use by polar bears and ringed seals. Journal of Animal Ecology 86:1054–1064.
- Hanssen, S. A., and K. E. Erikstad (2012). The long-term consequences of egg predation. Behavioral Ecology 24:564–569.
- Hanssen, S. A., B. Moe, B.-J. Bårdsen, F. Hanssen, and G. W. Gabrielsen (2013). A natural antipredation experiment: predator control and reduced sea ice increases colony size in a long-lived duck. Ecology and Evolution 3:3554–3564.

Harrington, C. R. (1965). The life and status of the polar bear. Oryx 8:169–176.

Hernández-Matías, A., L. Jover, and X. Ruiz (2003). Predation on common tern eggs in relation to sub-colony size, nest aggregation and breeding synchrony. Waterbirds

26:280-289.

Hughes, L. (2000). Biological consequences of global warming: is the signal already apparent? Trends in Ecology and Evolution 15:56–61.

IPCC (2018). An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development,.

https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/sites/2/2019/06/SR15_Full_Report_High_Re s.pdf.

- Iverson, S. A., H. G. Gilchrist, P. A. Smith, A. J. Gaston, and M. R. Forbes (2014). Longer ice-free seasons increase the risk of nest depredation by polar bears for colonial breeding birds in the Canadian Arctic. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 281:20133128.
- Jaatinen, K., M. W. Seltmann, and M. Öst (2014). Context-dependent stress responses and their connections to fitness in a landscape of fear. Journal of Zoology 294:147– 153.
- Johansson, J., N. P. Kristensen, J.-Å. Nilsson, and N. Jonzén (2015). The ecoevolutionary consequences of interspecific phenological asynchrony - a theoretical perspective. Oikos 124:102–112.
- Kleindorfer, S., B. Fessl, and H. Hoi (2005). Avian nest defence behaviour: assessment in relation to predator distance and type, and nest height. Animal Behaviour 69:307–

- Korschgen, C. E. (1977). Breeding stress of female eiders in Maine. The Journal of Wildlife Management 41:360–373.
- Lang, P. J., F. Robert, Simons, and M. T. Balaban (1997). Attention and orienting: sensory and motivational processes. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers, Mahwah, NJ, US.
- Larson, S. (1960). On the influence of the Arctic fox Alopex lagopus on the distribution of Arctic birds. Oikos 11:276–305.
- Lima, S. L. (2009). Predators and the breeding bird: behavioral and reproductive flexibility under the risk of predation. Biological Reviews 84:485–513.
- Lima, S. L., and L. M. Dill (1990). Behavioral decisions made under the risk of predation: a review and prospectus. Canadian Journal of Zoology 68:619–640.
- Lønø, O. (1970). The polar bear (Ursus maritimus Phipps) in the Svalbard area. Norsk Polarinstitutt Skrifter 149:1–117.
- Love, O. P., H. G. Gilchrist, S. Descamps, C. A. D. Semeniuk, and J. Bêty (2010). Prelaying climatic cues can time reproduction to optimally match offspring hatching and ice conditions in an Arctic marine bird. Oecologia 164:277–286.
- Löw, A., P. J. Lang, J. C. Smith, and M. M. Bradley (2008). Both predator and prey: emotional arousal in threat and reward. Psychological Science 19:865–873.
- Maftei, M., S. E. Davis, and M. L. Mallory (2015). Assessing regional populations of

ground-nesting marine birds in the Canadian High Arctic. Polar Research 34:25055.

- Mallory, M. L., and H. G. Gilchrist (2003). Marine birds breeding in Penny Strait and Queens Channel, Nunavut, Canada. Polar Research 22:399–403.
- McCarty, J. P. (2001). Ecological consequences of recent climate change. Conservation Biology 15:320–331.
- Mehlum, F. (1991). Eider studies in Svalbard. Norsk Polarinstitutt Skrifter 195:1-68.
- Monaghan, P. (2014). Organismal stress, telomeres and life histories. Journal of Experimental Biology 217:57–66.
- Müller, M. S., A. L. Vyssotski, M. Yamamoto, and K. Yoda (2018). Individual differences in heart rate reveal a broad range of autonomic phenotypes in a free-living seabird population. Journal of Experimental Biology 221:1–6.
- Oro, D. (1996). Colonial seabird nesting in dense and small sub-colonies: an advantage against aerial predation. The Condor 98:848–850.
- Pagano, A. M., G. M. Durner, S. C. Amstrup, K. S. Simac, and G. S. York (2012). Longdistance swimming by polar bears (Ursus maritimus) of the southern Beaufort Sea during years of extensive open water. Canadian Journal of Zoology 90:663–676.
- Parker, H., and H. Holm (1990). Patterns of nutrient and energy expenditure in female Common eiders nesting in the high Arctic. The Auk 107:660–668.
- Parmesan, C. (2006). Ecological and evolutionary responses to recent climate change. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 37:637–669.

- Prop, J., J. Aars, B.-J. Bãrdsen, S. A. Hanssen, C. Bech, S. Bourgeon, J. de Fouw, G. W. Gabrielsen, J. Lang, E. Noreen, T. Oudman, et al. (2015). Climate change and the increasing impact of polar bears on bird populations. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 3:1–12.
- Ricklefs, R. E. (1969). An analysis of nesting mortality in birds. Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology 9:1–48.
- Robertson, B. A., J. S. Rehage, and A. Sih (2013). Ecological novelty and the emergence of evolutionary traps. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 28:552–560.
- Rockwell, R. F., and L. J. Gormezano (2009). The early bear gets the goose: climate change, polar bears and lesser snow geese in western Hudson Bay. Polar Biology 32:539–547.
- Rockwell, R. F., L. J. Gormezano, and D. N. Koons (2011). Trophic matches and mismatches: can polar bears reduce the abundance of nesting snow geese in western Hudson Bay? Oikos 120:696–709.
- Romero, L. M., and J. M. Reed (2005). Collecting baseline corticosterone samples in the field: is under 3 min good enough? Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 140:73–79.
- Russell, R. H. (1975). The food habits of polar bears of James Bay and Southwest Hudson Bay in Summer and Autumn. Arctic 28:117–129.
- Sadoul, B., D. Blumstein, S. Alfonso, and B. Geffroy (2020). New coping styles for a new world. 1–19.

- Salo, P., E. Korpimäki, P. B. Banks, M. Nordström, and C. R. Dickman (2007). Alien predators are more dangerous than native predators to prey populations. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 274:1237–1243.
- Sapolsky, R. M., L. M. Romero, and A. U. Munck (2000). How do glucocorticoids influence stress responses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory, and preparative actions. Endocrine Reviews 21:55–89.
- Saul, W.-C., and J. M. Jeschke (2015). Eco-evolutionary experience in novel species interactions. Ecology Letters 18:236–245.
- Schlaepfer, M. A., M. C. Runge, and P. W. Sherman (2002). Ecological and evolutionary traps. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 17:474–480.
- Schmutz, J. K., R. J. Robertson, and F. Cooke (1983). Colonial nesting of the Hudson Bay eider duck. Canadian Journal of Zoology 61:2424–2433.
- Schneider, N. A., and M. Griesser (2013). Incubating females use dynamic risk assessment to evaluate the risk posed by different predators. Behavioral Ecology 24:47–52.
- Seltmann, M. W., M. Öst, K. Jaatinen, S. Atkinson, K. Mashburn, and T. Hollmén (2012). Stress responsiveness, age and body condition interactively affect flight initiation distance in breeding female eiders. Animal Behaviour 84:889–896.
- Sénéchal, É., J. Bêty, H. G. Gilchrist, K. A. Hobson, and S. E. Jamieson (2011). Do purely capital layers exist among flying birds? Evidence of exogenous contribution to arctic-nesting common eider eggs. Oecologia 165:593–604.

- Sih, A. (2013). Understanding variation in behavioural responses to human-induced rapid environmental change: a conceptual overview. Animal Behaviour 85:1077–1088.
- Sih, A., D. I. Bolnick, B. Luttbeg, J. L. Orrock, S. D. Peacor, L. M. Pintor, E. Preisser, J. S. Rehage, and J. R. Vonesh (2009). Predator-prey naïveté, antipredator behavior, and the ecology of predator invasions. Oikos 119:1–12.
- Sih, A., M. C. O. Ferrari, and D. J. Harris (2011). Evolution and behavioural responses to human-induced rapid environmental change. Evolutionary Applications 4:367–387.
- Sih, A., J. Stamps, L. H. Yang, R. McElreath, and M. Ramenofsky (2010). Behavior as a key component of integrative biology in a human-altered world. Integrative and Comparative Biology 50:934–944.
- Sih, A., P. C. Trimmer, and S. M. Ehlman (2016). A conceptual framework for understanding behavioral responses to HIREC. Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences 12:109–114.
- Smith, P. A., and D. B. Edwards (2018). Deceptive nest defence in ground-nesting birds and the risk of intermediate strategies. PLoS ONE 13:1–12.
- Smith, P. A., K. H. Elliott, A. J. Gaston, and H. G. Gilchrist (2010). Has early ice clearance increased predation on breeding birds by polar bears? Polar Biology 33:1149–1153.
- Steindler, L. A., D. T. Blumstein, R. West, K. E. Moseby, and M. Letnic (2020).Exposure to a novel predator induces visual predator recognition by naïve prey.Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 74:102.

- Stirling, I. A. N., and C. L. Parkinson (2006). Possible effects of climate warming on selected populations of polar bears (Ursus maritimus) in the Canadian Arctic. Arctic 59:261–275.
- Stirling, I., N. J. Lunn, and J. Iacozza (1999). Long-term trends in the population ecology of polar bears in western Hudson Bay in relation to climatic change. Arctic 52:294– 306.
- Stokes, D. L., and P. D. Boersma (2000). Nesting density and reproductive success in a colonial seabird, the Magellanic penguin. Ecology 81:2878–2891.
- Tarlow, E. M., and D. T. Blumstein (2007). Evaluating methods to quantify anthropogenic stressors on wild animals. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 102:429–451.
- Thackeray, S. J., T. H. Sparks, M. Frederiksen, S. Burthe, P. J. Bacon, J. R. Bell, M. S.
 Botham, T. M. Brereton, P. W. Bright, L. Carvalho, T. Clutton-Brock, et al. (2010).
 Trophic level asynchrony in rates of phenological change for marine, freshwater and terrestrial environments. Global Change Biology 16:3304–3313.
- Thiemann, G. W., S. J. Iverson, and I. Stirling (2008). Polar bear diets and arctic marine food webs: insights from fatty acid analysis. Ecological Monographs 78:591–613.
- Trenberth, K. E., P. D. Jones, P. Ambenje, R. Bojariu, D. Easterling, A. Klein Tank, D.
 Parker, F. Rahimzadeh, J. A. Renwick, M. Rusticucci, B. Soden, and P. Zhai (2007).
 Observations: surface and atmospheric climate change. In Climate Change 2007:
 The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth

Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (S. Solomon, D. Qin, M. Manning, Z. Chen, M. Marquis, K. . Averyt, M. Tignor and H. . Miller, Editors). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA., pp. 235–336.

- Trimmer, P. C., S. M. Ehlman, and A. Sih (2017). Predicting behavioural responses to novel organisms: state-dependent detection theory. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 284:20162108.
- Tvardíková, K., and R. Fuchs (2011). Do birds behave according to dynamic risk assessment theory? A feeder experiment. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 65:727–733.
- Viblanc, V. A., A. D. Smith, B. Gineste, and R. Groscolas (2012). Coping with continuous human disturbance in the wild: Insights from penguin heart rate response to various stressors. BMC Ecology 12.
- de Villiers, M., M. Bause, M. Giese, and A. Fourie (2006). Hardly hard-hearted: heart rate responses of incubating Northern Giant Petrels (Macronectes halli) to human disturbance on sub-Antarctic Marion Island. Polar Biology 29:717–720.
- Walther, G.-R., E. Post, P. Convey, A. Menzel, C. Parmesan, T. J. C. Beebee, J.-M. Fromentin, O. H.-G. I, and F. Bairlein (2002). Ecological responses to recent climate change. Nature 416:389–395.
- Wassmann, P., C. M. Duarte, S. Agustí, and M. K. Sejr (2011). Footprints of climate change in the Arctic marine ecosystem. Global Change Biology 17:1235–1249.

- Wrona, F. J., M. Johansson, J. M. Culp, A. Jenkins, J. Mård, I. H. Myers-Smith, T. D.
 Prowse, W. F. Vincent, and P. A. Wookey (2016). Transitions in Arctic ecosystems:
 ecological implications of a changing hydrological regime. Journal of Geophysical
 Research Biogeosciences 121:650–674.
- Ydenberg, R. C., and L. M. Dill (1986). The economics of fleeing from predators. Advances in the Study of Behavior 16:229–249.

CHAPTER 2

Heart rate and flight responses to evolutionarily familiar and unfamiliar predators in an Arctic seabird

Introduction

Climate change is predicted to have a variety of ecological consequences from climateinduced species changes, such as impacts on temperature-dependent life history traits (e.g., Robertson 1995), changes in phenology of seasonal life history events (Thackeray et al. 2010), distributional shifts (e.g., Killengreen et al. 2007, Jepsen et al. 2008), and altered species interactions (e.g., Gilg et al. 2009, Hamilton et al. 2017). Indeed, as species respond to climate change by shifting the timing and degree of inter-specific spatial overlap, new interactions may be generated between predators and prey (reviewed in Donnelly et al. 2011); or rare interactions may become more common. In communities where predators and prey coexist, prey have evolved various antipredator adaptations that lower their risk of confronting a predator and enhance their likelihood of escape once confronted (Lima and Dill 1990, Guiden et al. 2019). However, prey vary in their responses to unfamiliar or uncommon predators; some animals will have the necessary mechanisms to adaptively respond, while others will exhibit responses that may be maladaptive (Salo et al. 2007, Sih 2013, Sih et al. 2016, Ehlman et al. 2019). Because effective antipredator responses are dependent on the ability of prey to perceive predators as a threat, threat assessment of a new/rare predator can provide insight into a prey's ability to adapt to the increasing frequency of interactions (Ehlman et al. 2019). Existing literature considers predators 'novel' if they are unfamiliar from a prey's perspective and as such cannot be recognized as dangerous (Cox and Lima 2006, Carthey and Banks

2014, Sih et al. 2016, Ehlman et al. 2019). Prey are more likely to identify a new predator as a threat and respond accordingly should the predator share archetypal similarity to evolved predators - in terms of sensory (e.g., visual, olfactory, acoustic), behavioural (e.g., foraging style, attack mode), and habitat cues (i.e., areas and times that are associated with predator presence). Furthermore, if prey populations have had previous evolutionary encounters with a diversity of predators, populations may retain flexibility in responses to predators (rather than specializations), and therefore also adaptively respond to the new threat (Ehlman et al. 2019). However, if a predator is truly novel, naïve prey can either lack an antipredator response or display an inappropriate one (Carthey and Blumstein 2018, Guiden et al. 2019). Consequently, evolutionarily recent interactions with rare predators can have greater negative effects on prey populations than do traditional predators (Salo et al. 2007).

Identifying metrics that effectively quantify whether prey can recognize and respond to new/rare predators is vital for predicting potential downstream impacts on prey populations (Peacor et al. 2020). Because vertebrates can display neurophysiological responses to stressors in the absence or preceding any behavioural responses (reviewed in Ydenberg and Dill 1986, Weston et al. 2012), certain physiological metrics can be immediately indicative of an animal's awareness of a predator. For example, an animal's cardiac stress response occurs in less than one second of threat-detection, where the sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous system releases circulating catecholamines (i.e., epinephrine and norepinephrine) and acetylcholine (respectively) which have a direct effect on heart rate (reviewed in Lang et al. 1997, Sapolsky et al. 2000, Carravieri et al. 2016). As such, monitoring heart rate during predator events can provide a

physiological measure of perceived risk, since the magnitude and duration of changes in heart rate can be used to determine an animal's assessment of a stimulus (Ydenberg and Dill 1986, Nephew et al. 2003, de Villiers et al. 2006, Viblanc et al. 2015). Further, stress-induced physiological mechanisms - like changes in heart rate, prepare the body for overt action, facilitating subsequent behavioural responses (e.g., predator-avoidance) such as flight (escape) responses (e.g., Gabrielsen et al. 1977). Flight initiation distance (FID) is a common behavioural stress-response metric and is defined as the distance at which individuals can be approached by a perceived threat prior to fleeing (e.g., Blumstein 2006, Tarlow and Blumstein 2007). Because of the energy costs associated with flight behaviour as well as the concomitant downstream survival and reproductive fitness consequences, animals should modulate their flight response according to their perception of risk. Generally, animals tend to flee sooner (i.e., at greater distances) to greater perceived levels of predation risk (Ydenberg and Dill 1986, Cooper and Frederick 2007). Although organisms can coordinate their physiological (i.e., cardiovascular and endocrine) and antipredator behavioural responses to generate an appropriate overall response to stress, stress-induced heart rate and behaviours (e.g., activity level, aggression displays, maintenance) have been shown to maintain independent regulation from one another, meaning organisms can exhibit a heart rate response without observable changes in behaviour and vice versa (e.g., European starling Sturnus vulgaris, Nephew et al. 2003). Risk-taking behaviours, such as flight responses, therefore provide further and independent insight on an animal's perception of threat in addition to heart rate. The evaluation of both physiological and behavioural responses can therefore be

used as an effective indicator of a prey's capacity to assess and respond to predation threats in their environment (reviewed in Ydenberg and Dill 1986, Beauchamp 2017).

Here we use responses of common eiders (*Somateria mollissima*, hereafter 'eider') to predators that differ in evolved familiarity (i.e., arctic fox *Alopex lagopus* versus polar bear *Ursus maritimus*) as a useful study system to investigate perception of, and associated responses to, evolutionarily rare and infrequent predators in Arctic nesting seabirds. In particular, nesting eiders in the Arctic are experiencing altered predator regimes from an increasing overlap with polar bears coming ashore from a shortened seal-hunting season (Stirling et al. 2004, Stirling and Parkinson 2006). A consequence of this spatio-temporal overlap is that eiders are now experiencing increasing nest predation pressure by polar bears (Dey et al. 2017, Jagielski et al. 2021a, b). Although polar bear presence in eider nesting colonies had been seldomly reported over the past century (e.g., Lønø 1970), over the past few decades eider encounters with polar bears have steadily increased, and are now associated with persistent and severe consequences for eider nest success in a subset of colonies, an impact far exceeding that caused by their traditional egg predators (Iverson et al. 2014, Prop et al. 2015).

Nesting eiders experience mammalian predatory pressure mainly by arctic foxes, and have evolved several adaptations to reduce predation (Larson 1960). Eiders nest primarily on small islands to avoid land-based arctic foxes (Larson 1960, Ahlén and Andersson 1970). Hens also form high-density nesting aggregations (Chaulk et al. 2007) for communal defense and predator warning (Schmutz et al. 1983, Mehlum 1991); and they exhibit high nest attentiveness and defense (e.g., injury feigning) to reduce exposure of eggs to predation (Larson 1960, Afton and Paulus 1992, Bolduc and Guillemette

2003). While foxes and bears can reach islands by walking over ice during early eider nesting periods, only bears can swim to and from islands when ice begins to break-up (Pagano et al. 2012). Further, bear presence in eider nesting colonies has been positively correlated with nest abundance (Iverson et al. 2014), altogether implying that current eider breeding ecology is not an adaptive strategy to avoid bears (Dey et al. 2017). Polar bears and arctic foxes also differ in several predatory cues, such as size (i.e., bear's bodies are approx. 3.5 times longer and 5 times taller than foxes, worldwildlife.org, Atkinson et al. 1996, Amstrup 2003, Witold et al. 2011) and egg foraging styles (e.g., both predators are active foragers in bird nesting colonies, but bears methodically walk from visible nest to nest, whereas foxes lope towards nests that they locate by scent or flushing birds, and foxes often only cause partial losses to eider clutches by taking a single egg each nest visitation, whereas polar bears typically consume all eggs in a clutch upon visiting the nest, Bahr 1989, Gormezano et al. 2017, Jagielski et al. 2021a, O.P.L. pers. obs.). Despite their differences, both predators can easily displace incubating eiders from their nests to gain access to their eggs, in addition to preying on hens (Bahr 1989, Gormezano et al. 2017); therefore, eiders must modulate their responses to both predators to optimize the impacts of the trade-off between investing in current reproduction and survival/future reproductive success. Eiders across their range have encountered a variety of avian and mammalian egg- and adult-predators (from rats to ursids) in their evolutionary history (reviewed in Waltho and Coulson 2015); as well as a diversity of predators across different stages of their life cycle, such as during migration and overwintering (Cox and Lima 2006). Despite the archetypal differences between polar bears and arctic foxes, and eider's exposure to various predator types, it is still unknown

how eiders perceive and respond, both physiologically and behaviourally, to the risk posed by polar bears, and whether these responses differ in relation to arctic foxes.

The aim of the current study was to use a simulated-predator experimental approach to contrast the perception of and response to risk posed by polar bears and arctic foxes. We carried out our study in a large colony of eiders nesting at Mitivik (East Bay) Island, Nunavut, Canada (Jean-Gagnon et al. 2018), that in recent years, has experienced an increase in polar bear nest predation as a consequence of the bear's climate-induced reduced spring diet (Smith et al. 2010, Iverson et al. 2014). From 2005-2018, researchers reported the number of days that arctic foxes were sighted on the island to range from 3 days to 19 days (average 9 days) throughout the eiders' prospecting, laying, and incubation stages (unpublished data). Eiders on Mitivik Island have a relatively consistent, but usually low, encounter rate with foxes on the island, which increases dramatically every few years, whereas eiders are now experiencing a consistently high encounter rate with bears on the island (range 5 days to 31 days, average 17 days, unpublished data). We quantified eider antipredator responses – changes in heart rate and FIDs - to the threat of an approaching predator. Specifically, we tested the hypothesis that due to the difference in evolutionary familiarity between arctic foxes and polar bears, incubating eiders should be naïve and have a lower perception of risk to polar bears. As such, we predicted that female incubating eiders approached by a simulated polar bear would exhibit less of an alteration in their heart rate and concomitantly shorter FIDs when compared to an arctic fox. Since results from this study can provide insight into whether eiders consider polar bears as a functionally novel

predator, we discuss implications of the fitness consequences seabirds are expected to face as an indirect effect of anthropogenic climate change.

Materials and Methods

Study species and area

This study was conducted on free-living eiders nesting at Mitivik (East Bay) Island, Nunavut, Canada (64°02'N, 81°47'W), located in Southampton Island's Qaqsauqtuuq (East Bay) Migratory Bird Sanctuary (Figure 2.1). Mitivik Island hosts the largest known eider breeding colony in the Canadian Arctic (Inuit Nunangat) and is the only colony within a 100-km radius (Legagneux et al. 2016). Eiders on Mitivik Island initiate laying late June/early July (Jean-Gagnon et al. 2018), and undergo a subsequent 24-day incubation period (Parker and Holm 1990, Bottitta et al. 2003). Due to the increasing rate of polar bear presence on Mitivik Island beginning in July (Smith et al. 2010, Iverson et al. 2014), field work outside the safety of the research compound is limited during this time. We therefore timed our study for the end of June 2019, during eiders' laying/early incubation period.

Heart rate monitoring

From June 24-25, 2019, we deployed heart-rate monitoring equipment on active eider nests (n=11). Each nest was equipped with an artificial-egg heart rate monitor (adapted from Felton et al. 2018). Heart-rate monitors (Figure 2.2) consisted of a 3D-printed plastic eider egg (sub-elliptical, 2.9 in. long x 1.9 in. at the widest point) equipped with

two Electret condenser microphones (PUI Audio model AOM-5024L-HD-R), both soldered to and joined by a shielded cable assembly (approx. 72 in. long, 3.5mm stereo plug). The primary microphone was situated at the end of a 3D-printed plastic funnel for amplified sound while the secondary microphone was placed within a hole and flush with the surface of the egg, and used as a back-up in case the eider shifted positions on the egg (i.e., off the primary microphone). Weight was caulked to the bottom half of the egg to ensure the egg maintained a fixed orientation in the nest, with the microphones facing toward the eiders' brood patch. Once equipment was assembled, each half of the 3Dprinted egg was glued together, allowing the plug-end of the cable to extend outside of the egg. Finally, the egg was covered by a white balloon membrane for waterproofing. The cable attached to the egg was plugged into the stereo mini jack of a digital recording device (Tascam DR-05X equipped with a 128GB microSD card). To maximize battery life (i.e., approx. 11-12 days of continuous recording), the recorder was attached to an external assembled battery pack (with 24 AA Lithium Ion batteries). See Table A1 for all recorder settings used. The recorder and battery pack were situated within a weatherproof camouflaged storage box (11.4 in. long, 5.4 in. wide, 7.1 in. high).

We chose to deploy heart-rate monitoring equipment on nests located on the periphery of the island to limit researcher-induced disturbance from experimental approaches in dense portions of the colony. However, nests selected for the current study did not differ from a group of additional nests monitored across the island (n=38) for another set of projects (e.g., Smith and Love. in prep) in terms of lay date (i.e., range: June 9 to June 24, and June 10 to June 24, respectively) and incubation stage (i.e., age of first laid egg on June 25: average (\pm SD) of 4 \pm 4 days and 4 \pm 3 days, respectively). We

deployed artificial eggs in nests containing 1-5 eggs at the time of equipment deployment. Study nests were each located an average (\pm SD) of 288 \pm 151 meters (range 37-554 m) apart from each other (Figure 2.3). During deployment, the location of each study nest was marked on a GPS for ease of relocation prior to experimental approaches. The first-laid egg from each study nest was collected for another project (e.g., Smith and Love, in prep) and also used to estimate incubation stage (see *Estimating incubation stage* below). We replaced this egg with the artificial egg. At the time of deployment, we powered the recorder, set date and time accordingly, and started the recording. The storage box was placed approximately one meter outside of the nest, and the box and cable were secured and concealed with the surrounding terrain.

Previous research suggests that incubating artificial-egg heart rate monitors do not affect birds differently compared to incubating their natural eggs (e.g., adélie penguins *Pygoscelis adeliae*, Giese et al. 1999; American oystercatchers *Haematopus palliatus*, Borneman et al. 2014). In our work, no nest abandonment occurred after nest equipment deployment and birds returned within an approximate average of 1.28 hours (0.0001-6.61 hour range). Experiments began approximately 14 hours after the final heart-rate monitor had been deployed.

Predator-simulated experimental protocol

We used a randomized experimental predator-model approach to test the relative responses of birds to a bear, fox and control. Visual predator stimuli consisted of to-scale images of the different predator types (i.e., polar bear and arctic fox) attached to 54-inch diameter grey umbrellas, with an additional plain, grey umbrella to serve as the control (Figure 2.4). Images of a polar bear (approx. 16 in. long and 18 in. wide head, body sizes proportional to head, Figure 2.4A) and arctic fox (approx. 6 in. long and 5 in. wide head, body sizes proportional to head, Figure 2.4B) were sourced on the internet from Creative Common websites. Each umbrella had a round slit covered with dark-coloured mesh so that the experimenter could locate the study hen and monitor their behaviour during an approach without eiders being able to see the experimenter. We randomly assigned the order in which the treatment groups were presented to each study hen prior to the experiment using the RANDBETWEEN function in excel to control for possible habituation or sensitization. Each study eider was approached three times (i.e., once by each predator treatment) at 24-hour intervals from June 26-28, 2019. Every eider was presented with the same within-predator imagery to ensure they were responding to identical visual cues. In preparation for each experimental approach, a single experimenter (E.A.G.), wearing camouflaged and nonreflective gear, crawled into the colony until they reached the location at which they planned to start the approach. Approaches began on average \pm SD 22.3 \pm 5.26 meters (range 15-33 m) from the study nests (i.e., distances at which the experimenter could spot the nest without disturbing the bird). If focal eiders were absent from their nest prior to an approach, treatments for these individuals were excluded from the experiment (see Results). During each approach, a hand-held recording device was used by the experimenter to dictate all necessary data. To start the approach, the experimenter dictated the start time and slowly opened the umbrella, stood up, and began walking towards the study nest concealed behind the umbrella at a consistent pace of approximately 0.5 mps, making sure to keep the predator

stimuli upwards and facing the study hen. The experimenter also dictated the time of flush to confirm that the heart-rate interval of 30 seconds prior to flush (see *Heart rate* quantification below) overlapped with when the eider was exposed to the predator stimulus. The experimenter then used a tape measure to measure the distance between the experimenter and the nest as soon as the hen vacated in response to the threat stimuli (i.e., FID). When the experimenter missed flushes by focal hens, we excluded the trial from our analysis of FID (see Results). The experimenter recorded clutch size (number of eggs, including the artificial egg) after each approach. When all necessary data were recorded, the experimenter covered the nests with down before departing the area to protect the nest from predation by avian predators and extreme temperature. Neighbouring focal nests were tested sequentially with a minimum of 11 minutes (average \pm SD: 22 \pm 16 minutes) between approach starting times. Cabanac and Guillemette (2001) observed elevations in eider heart rates to acute stressors subsided after 2-3 minutes only; thus, given both the temporal and spatial distances between nests, we do not believe nearby approaches influenced responses of subsequent focal birds. Due to the topography of the island, all other researchers were out of sight by the focal eider during the period they were undergoing an experimental approach.

Heart rate quantification

A single researcher (E.A.G.) reviewed heart rate recordings of eiders using the sound analysis software Audacity® v2.3.2 (Audacity Team 2019). When reviewing heart rate during the predator-approaches, the researcher collected data on datasheets that did not specify treatment for each sample so that they were blind to the treatment. For measures of heart rate during the simulated-predator approaches, we collected up to three 10-s samples from each eider during each experimental approach (e.g., Figure 2.5). Sampling started 30-s before the hens flushed from the predator stimuli, and heartbeat counts at different sample intervals allowed us to quantify how heart rate varied as the predator stimuli approached the incubating eider and the eider got closer to flushing (i.e., time before flush). Not all study hens had audio files with enough sound quality to accurately determine heart rates for each experimental approach, resulting in different sample sizes for each bird exposed to each predator treatment (i.e., predator stimuli type) (see *Results*). We extracted all of the samples as .wav files and heartbeat sounds were counted aurally at least twice to avoid measurement error and therefore increase accuracy of the counts.

Estimating incubation stage

To estimate incubation stage (i.e., the number of days since an eider laid their first-laid egg) for each focal hen, the first-laid egg from each study nest was collected and eggs were immediately candled (Weller 1956). These methods provided estimates of the age (in days) of the first-laid eggs on the day of heart-rate monitoring equipment deployment, and hence incubation stage on the days of simulated-predator approach.

Eider responses to natural polar bear predation

We also opportunistically estimated focal eider heart rate to actual approaching polar bears on Mitivik Island where possible to confirm responses to our simulated predator were similar to those to actual predators. To find instances where eiders flushed in response to polar bears, we reviewed a combination of the following synchronized remote-monitoring equipment used for another set of projects: 1) footage from Browning trail cameras (model: BTC-5HDPX) dispersed across the island to identify periods when polar bears were present on Mitivik Island (see *Chapter 3* for more details on polar bear monitoring and defining polar bear locations in relation to common eiders); 2) temperature probe data (Tinytag® Plus 2, Smith and Love. in prep) to determine instances when an eider was off her nest; and 3) heart-rate recordings during these times to identify acoustic signs that an eider had indeed vacated their nest (e.g., halt in the sound of incubating eider heartbeats) and a polar bear visited their nest (e.g., sounds of bear eating eggs from focal nest or breathing nearby). We confirmed four instances where focally-recorded eiders flushed in response to a polar bear, one of which had insufficient audio quality to count heartbeats before flush and was therefore excluded. Of the three remaining flushing instances, two hens had bears predate their nests closely after she flushed and we can confirm that bears were within spatial viewing distance to two eiders when they flushed (i.e., were within her viewshed; Chapter 3). Additionally, bears arrived at the nest quickly after eiders flushed in all three instances (average \pm SD: 9.33 \pm 3.25 sec), suggesting eiders flushed in response to bears. We estimated heart rate 30 seconds before eiders flushed in three, 10-second intervals consistent with the sampling of heart rate to simulated-predator approaches (see Heart rate quantification section).

Statistical analyses

Nine of our 11 study eiders produced usable heart rate data, five of which had complete data across treatment groups and sampling time. For our FID analysis, three individuals

were excluded due to focal hens not being present at their nest at the start of the experimental approach or flushes by focal hens were missed by the experimenter, and of the remaining, three individuals had incomplete data across treatment groups.

We performed all analyses in R v3.5.0 (R Core Team 2018), with an RStudio interface (RStudio Team 2019). All data manipulation was done with packages *dplyr* (Wickham et al. 2019) and *tidyverse* (Wickham 2017). We tested model residuals with visual inspection of diagnostic Q-Q plots (Pinheiro and Bates 2000). We used $\alpha = 0.1$ for all statistical significance tests. We constructed all plots of predicted response variables, calculated under the package *ggeffects* (Lüdecke 2018), under the package *ggplot2* (Wickham 2016).

We analysed both eider heart rate (beats/10s) and flight initiation distance (m) (hereafter, "FID") to simulated-predator approaches separately using linear mixed models (LMMs), with the *lmer4* package (Bates et al. 2015). We modelled heart rate as a function of the fixed effects for predator treatment (categorical with 3 levels: polar bear, arctic fox, control), time before flush (continuous: 0-10s, 10-20s, and 20-30s before flush), and start distance (m) (continuous) and their two-way interactions: predator treatment x time before flush interaction, predator treatment x start distance interaction, and time before flush is start distance interaction. We modelled eider FID as a function of predator treatment (categorical with 3 levels: polar bear, arctic fox, control), heart rate (beats/10s) (continuous) at the 30s interval before flush, start distance (m) (continuous), incubation stage (days) (continuous), clutch size (continuous), and the interaction between predator treatment and heart rate. We chose heart rate at the 30s interval before flush because it had the most complete dataset. We tested incubation stage and clutch size

in our model of FID as Forbes et al. (1994) discovered an effect of parental investment on nesting female duck FID. Start distance was included in analysis of FID and heart rate, since results from Blumstein's (2003) study suggest animals respond sooner to a threat as starting distance increases. For both analyses, we included trial day (categorical with 3 levels: June 26, June 27, June 28) and eider ID (categorical: 9 individuals) in our random effect structure to account for habituation or sensitization and any inter-individual variation, respectively. We tested fixed effects using a backward elimination procedure by fitting full models for heart rate and FID with maximum likelihood (ML) estimation (Zuur et al. 2009). Main effects and interaction terms were tested sequentially (beginning with the removal of non-significant interactions) using the backward elimination procedure, leaving in the final model only the fixed effects associated with the outcome, considering a 10% level of significance, being a standard retention criterion for backward elimination (Bursac et al. 2008). The final model with retained fixed effects was refitted using restricted maximum likelihood (REML) estimation, and the effect of any retained categorical variables on both eider heart rate and FID was determined with pairwise comparisons using Tukey's HSD in the *lsmeans* package (Lenth 2016). We reported contributed variance of random factors in our final models. Using the package MuMIn (Barton 2019), we assessed the variance explained by the fixed effects (i.e., marginal R^2) and the variance explained by the entire model, including both fixed and random effects (i.e., conditional R²) for both our final heart rate and FID models. We assessed model fit by comparing second-order Akaike Information Criterion (AICc) scores between all competing models in the backward elimination process (ML estimation), as well as an intercept-only model, using the package MuMIn.

Results

Heart rate ranged from 3 beats/10s to 39 beats/10s (average 18 beats/10s) to control, 6 beats/10s to 49 beats/10s (average 23 beats/10s) to arctic fox, and 2 beats/10s to 26 beats/10s (average 13 beats/10s) to polar bear. Our model with heart rate as a function of predator treatment and time before flush (marginal $R^2 = 0.063$, conditional $R^2 = 0.901$, Table 2.1) best explained our data according to our backward elimination approach, as well as it had the best model fit according to AICc (Table 2.3). In this model, we detected a statistically significant difference in eider heart rate in response to the predator treatment ($F_{2,50,40} = 15.22$, P < 0.001), with eiders displaying a significantly higher heart rate in response to the arctic fox model, than to both the control (Tukey's HSD: P < 0.0027) and polar bear model (P < 0.0001; least square [LS] means \pm SE heartbeats: control 16.3 ± 4.40 ; arctic fox 21.2 ± 4.37 ; polar bear 13.5 ± 4.40). There was no significant difference in heart rate between the polar bear stimulus and the control (P=0.1265). Additionally, we detected a statistically significant change in heart rate with time before flush ($F_{1,49.93} = 4.89$, P < 0.05): regardless of predator type, eider heart rate decreased the closer to flush (Figure 2.6; Table 2.1). There was no interactive effect of predator treatment and time before flush on heart rate, predator treatment and start distance, or start distance and time before flush. There was also no significant effect of start distance. Within our random effects structure, we detected the most variance for eider ID (Table 2.2), suggesting a large degree of inter-individual variation in heart rate.

FID ranged from 2.95 m to 17.7 m (average 9 m) to control, 3.2 m to 15.1 m (average 7.9 m) to arctic fox, and 1.3 m to 9.3 m (average 6.2 m) to polar bear. Heart rate at the 30s interval before flush ranged from 3 beats/10s to 46 beats/10s (average 20

beats/10s). Incubation stage ranged from 2 days to 16 days (average 6 days) and clutch size ranged from 3 eggs to 5 eggs (average 4 eggs). Our model with FID was best explained as a function of heart rate (marginal $R^2 = 0.139$, conditional $R^2 = 0.764$, Table 2.4). In this model, we detected a marginally significant relationship between FID and heart rate during experimental approaches ($F_{1,18,295} = 3.21$, P < 0.1), where higher heart rates predicted larger FIDs (Figure 2.7). There was no significant relationship between FID and predator treatment, clutch size, incubation stage, or start distance, and there was no significant interaction between predator treatment and heart rate. According to AICc, the final model received equal support to the intercept-only model (Table 2.6), in that variation in FID can also be explained by our random effect structure, namely, eider ID (Table 2.5), again suggestive of a large degree of inter-individual variation in behaviour.

Eider heart rate in response to actual polar bears on Mitivik Island (n=3) averaged 12 beats/10s and generally decreased as eiders got closer to flushing: two eiders' heart rate became continuously slower with reduced time before flush (i.e., across 30-10s sample intervals: 12 to 10 to 8 and 11 to 9 to 5 beats/10s), whereas one initially increased their heart rate followed by a decrease right before flush (i.e., 9 to 28 to 12 beats/10s). These heart-rate results help to confirm that eider responses to a simulated polar-bear approach is indicative of a natural response as eiders exhibited a similar pattern of decrease in heart rate and the same magnitude of response.

Discussion

In the current experimental study, incubating female eiders showed differential stress-

induced heart rate responses to predator imagery that differ in evolved familiarity (i.e., arctic fox versus polar bear), but birds did not show differential flight initiation distance (FID) responses across predator stimuli. We also found a large degree of inter-eider variation in heart rate and especially FID responses. Overall, these results suggest that female eiders do not recognize polar bears as great of a physiological threat as their evolved mammalian egg predators. Here we discuss what our results might suggest for eiders' capacity to respond to their more recent primary egg predators, and detail possible fitness costs and downstream population effects from this climate-induced increase in polar-bear nest predation.

Differential heart-rate responses to evolved predators

Using an experimental approach, we tested whether female eiders perceive the risk posed by polar bears. Given eiders' limited evolutionary experience with polar-bear egg predators and bears' archetypal differences with eiders' traditional mammalian egg predators, we hypothesized that eiders would exhibit differential alteration in their heart rate to approaching bears and arctic foxes. We found that although all hens eventually flushed to the approaching stimulus regardless of imagery, incubating female eiders responded with higher heart rates when experimentally approached by an arctic-fox stimulus compared to a polar bear (and control). Eiders could have reacted to the experimental predation threat in two opposing ways: 1) by using an active defense strategy associated with the fight-or-flight response, whereby vertebrates increase heart rate, ventilation and skeletal muscle circulation in preparation for flight; or 2) by using a passive defense strategy, whereby in an effort to remain concealed and avoid detection,

vertebrates slow their heart rate, which can be associated with a decrease in respiration and metabolic rate that may reduce movements, sounds, and/or scents coming from the body that could be detected by some predators (reviewed in Gabrielsen et al. 1977, Steen et al. 1988, Knight and Temple 1997, Alboni et al. 2008, Löw et al. 2008). We observed that eider heart rates generally decreased immediately prior to flushing regardless of the stimulus. This heart rate response is suggestive of fear bradycardia commonly observed in nesting bird species that use concealment as a predator-avoidance strategy (Campbell et al. 1997) and is therefore not a surprising response given female eiders' cryptic camouflage and nesting strategies. Further, even as eiders went into bradycardia, they still exhibited a comparatively heightened heart rate response to arctic foxes suggesting a stronger evolutionary recognition and response to these mammalian predators. While some avian species respond with an acceleration in heart rate to a looming threat (i.e., tachycardia in conjunction with fight-or-flight; e.g., herring gull Larus argentatus, Ball and Amlaner 1979; Yellow-eyed penguin *Megadyptes antipodes*, Ellenberg et al. 2013), other species are known to use both active and passive defense strategies in temporal order and pattern of response (e.g., bradycardia preceded by acceleration of HR; e.g., red deer calves Cervus elaphus, Espmark and Langvatn 1979; reviewed in Alboni et al. 2008). Similar to eiders, Gabrielsen et al. (1977) found a small sample of willow ptarmigan (Lagopus lagopus) hens examined in their study maintained bradycardia right up until the point of flush, suggesting that both tachy- and bradycardia are likely adequate mechanisms for quick flight.

Similar FID to predators, despite differential recognition

We predicted that eiders would display a shorter FID to polar bears than arctic fox, and therefore a lower perception of risk given limited co-evolutionary time. We found that although eiders may differentially recognize an arctic fox and polar bear as a threat physiologically, eiders did not display a difference in FID between the two predator stimuli. Once a potential predator is detected, animals will often delay their fleeing until the benefits of fleeing equal the costs (Fernández-Juricic et al. 2002). Our results do not support the literature on economics of flight that suggests animals should flush sooner to increasing levels of predation risk (Ydenberg and Dill 1986, Cooper and Frederick 2007) and should therefore display a longer FID to predators that they can recognize as dangerous (reviewed by Guiden et al. 2019). We did, however, detect a link between stress-induced physiology and behaviour in response to threat stimuli; birds in our study that had a higher heart rate to approaching predators were more likely to have longer FIDs. This correlation is consistent with the two response strategies that animals employ when reacting to challenges (i.e., active vs passive defense strategies), whereby eiders that had higher heart rates at 30s prior to flush (and likely relatively higher sympathetic reactivity) may have focused on escape sooner, whereas those that had lower heart rates (and potential higher parasympathetic reactivity) likely focused more on avoiding detection and thus delayed the activation of the flight response (reviewed in Gabrielsen et al. 1977, Steen et al. 1988, Knight et al. 1997, Alboni et al. 2008). Based on this correlation, we would expect eiders to have the longest FID to foxes, for which they displayed the highest heart rate. However, we failed to detect such a behavioural response in the current study. It is possible that while there is an association between heart rate and

behaviour, these mechanisms can also be independently regulated, and flight initiation distances may be more of an ecological, immediate response to any approaching threat. Most likely, because of the large degree of inter-eider variation in flight initiation distances, we require a larger sample size to detect this expected effect of predator treatment on FID.

Future directions in studies of seabird responses to predation risk

Eiders have a history of experience interacting with arctic foxes over both evolutionary and ecological timescales (Waltho and Coulson 2015). From an eco-evolutionary perspective, eiders have therefore gained heritable experience within their traditional biotic interactions during breeding (e.g., egg predation by arctic foxes), that, depending on their ecological similarity, may be applicable to new ecological interactions outside their traditional range (e.g., polar bear egg predation on islands). The current study was designed to causally test eiders' ability to discriminate between visual cues of predators that differ in evolved familiarity. From this perspective, our heart rate results suggest visual cues of arctic foxes may be more indicative of a threat than that of a polar bear visual stimulus, indicating that eiders' eco-evolutionary experience with foxes is not fully transferable to their interactions with polar bears. However, our behavioural metric for perceived risk did not add further support to our physiological findings. Nonetheless, there remains many avenues of important future research to build off of these findings. For instance, prey use multiple cues, including sensory and behavioural ones to assess a risk (reviewed in Peers et al. 2018) and the additive effects of these cues can evoke an increased antipredator response (e.g., Eastern grey squirrel Sciurus carolinensis, Partan et

al. 2009). Our study should therefore be complemented by a correlative study on eider responses to real predators to increase our understanding of individual antipredator responses that would be displayed in natural conditions. Further, whereas eiders have evolutionary experience with arctic foxes, female eiders display high breeding philopatry and nest-site fidelity (Ost et al. 2011), and females nesting on islands further from the mainland may have less ecological experience with foxes than eiders that nest nearer or on the mainland (Birkhead and Nettleship 1995). Thus, as suggested above, eider FID may not be differentially influenced by predator type, as eider hens with fewer arctic-fox encounters may exhibit responses diminished over ecological (reviewed in Carthey and Blumstein 2018) or ontogenetic time (Carrete and Tella 2015) on far-island colonies (such as the Mitivik Island colony). Thus, we predict that eiders that breed on mainland nesting sites and near-shore islands would not only be even more responsive to arctic fox, but also may be more likely to show an FID response to polar bears that differs from controls (i.e., indicative of some level of cue discrimination abilities), assuming eiders' ecological experience with foxes and other mammalian egg predators is transferrable to their responses to polar bears. Future studies can focus on these different eider colonies in the Canadian Arctic to determine if degree of ecological experience with mammalian predators affects eiders' ability to respond to their evolutionarily less familiar egg predator, the polar bear.

In the current study, eiders showed inter-individual variation in heart rate and FID responses to simulated predator approaches. In future work of this type, a larger sample size would allow for repeated predator approaches on each individual using the same models to examine repeatability in eider responses. Repeatability can provide evidence

that among-individual variation is caused by factors intrinsic to the individual (Réale et al. 2007), and thus can help determine whether eider FID is a valid personality trait (e.g., Seltmann et al. 2012, 2014), or whether heart rate and FID are phenotypically related to proactive or reactive coping styles in eiders (Koolhaas et al. 1999). These different coping styles offer different adaptive value, and individuals with highly plastic capacities, such as reactive phenotypes, are predicted to perform better to changes in their environment than proactive phenotypes (characterized as being less flexible) (Sadoul et al. 2020). Thus, by understanding the extent to which inter-eider responses are consistent across time and situations, and how these responses relate to coping style, we can make predictions on the adaptive capacity of different groups of individual eiders to respond to changes in predator regimes.

Conclusion

Consequences of novel or increasing frequency of rare predators on prey fitness are challenging to predict (Guiden et al. 2019). The similarities in heart rate response of eiders to bear and control could reflect the limited discriminative ability of eiders to polar bear predation. Our heart rate data suggesting that eiders may not recognize polar bears as great a risk as arctic foxes (but still a risk, nonetheless) provides evidence that eiders may be vulnerable to strong consumptive effects of predation by polar bears (Sih et al. 2009). Although eiders in the current study attempted to escape from all approaching stimuli, our lack of statistical difference in behavioural escape response to polar bears in comparison to other stimuli, coupled with our heart-rate results, reveal eiders do not recognize the serious threat bears pose to their eggs and themselves. Eiders' use of an

inappropriate or insensitive heart rate and escape responses can lead to consequences on adult survival or nest success (e.g., eider flushing may cue polar bears to detect their nest, Jagielski et al. 2021a). By collecting experimental data on how animals behave in response to the uncertainty posed by recent predation by rare predators, future research can use optimal decision-making models (e.g., signal detection theory) to determine whether these responses are (mal)adaptive, and thereby estimate fitness outcomes and population persistence (Sih 2013, Trimmer et al. 2017). Data from the current study can therefore be used as a first step to characterizing whether eiders are expected to have the capacity to evolve adaptive responses to increasing polar bear predation.

Literature Cited

- Afton, A. D., and S. L. Paulus (1992). Incubation and brood care. In Ecology and management of breeding waterfowl (B. D. J. Batt, A. D. Afton, M. G. Anderson, C.
 D. Ankney, D. H. Johnson, J. A. Kadlec and G. L. Krapu, Editors). University of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis, Minnesota, USA, pp. 62–108.
- Ahlén, I., and Å. Andersson (1970). Breeding ecology of an eider population on Spitsbergen. Ornis Scandinavica 1:83–106.
- Alboni, P., M. Alboni, and G. Bertorelle (2008). The origin of vasovagal syncope: to protect the heart or to escape predation? Clinical Autonomic Research 18:170–178.
- Amstrup, S. C. (2003). The polar bear Ursus maritimus. In Wild mammals of North America: biology, management, and conservation (G. A. Feldhamer, B. C. Thompson and J. A. Chapman, Editors). John Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, pp. 587–610.
- Atkinson, S. N., I. Stirling, and M. A. Ramsay (1996). Growth in early life and relative body size among adult polar bears (Ursus maritimus). Journal of Zoology London 239:225–234.
- Audacity Team (2019). Audacity(R): free audio editor and recorder [Computer application]. Version 2.3.2 retrieved Oct 10th 2019 from https://audacityteam.org/.
- Bahr, J. (1989). The hunting ecology of arctic foxes (Alopex lagopus) near Cape Churchill, Manitoba.

Ball, N. J., and C. J. J. Amlaner (1979). Changing heart rates of Herring gulls when
approached by humans. In A Handbook on Biotelemetry and Radio Tracking. Pergamon Press Oxford, New York.

- Bartoń, K. (2019). MuMIn: multi-model inference. R package version 1.43.15. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=MuMIn.
- Bateman, P. W., and P. A. Fleming (2017). Are negative effects of tourist activities on wildlife over-reported? A review of assessment methods and empirical results.Biological Conservation 211:10–19.
- Bates, D., M. Maechler, B. Bolker, and S. Walker (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software 67:1–48.
- Beauchamp, G. (2017). What can vigilance tell us about fear? Animal Sentience 2:1–31.
- Birkhead, T. R., and D. N. Nettleship (1995). Arctic Fox Influence on a Seabird Community in Labrador: a Natural Experiment. Wilson Bulletin 107:397–412.
- Blumstein, D. T. (2003). Flight-initiation distance in birds is dependent on intruder starting distance. The Journal of Wildlife Management 67:852–857.
- Blumstein, D. T. (2006). Developing an evolutionary ecology of fear: how life history and natural history traits affect disturbance tolerance in birds. Animal Behaviour 71:389–399.
- Bolduc, F., and M. Guillemette (2003). Incubation constancy and mass loss in the Common Eider Somateria mollissima. Ibis 145:329–332.

Borneman, T. E., E. T. Rose, and T. R. Simons (2014). Minimal changes in heart rate of

incubating American oystercatchers (Haematopus palliatus) in response to human activity. The Condor 116:493–503.

- Bottitta, G. E., E. Nol, and H. G. Gilchrist (2003). Effects of experimental manipulation of incubation length on behavior and body mass of Common Eiders in the Canadian Arctic. Waterbirds 26:100–107.
- Bursac, Z., C. H. Gauss, D. K. Williams, and D. W. Hosmer (2008). Purposeful selection of variables in logistic regression. Source Code for Biology and Medicine 3: 17.
- Cabanac, A. J., and M. Guillemette (2001). Temperature and heart rate as stress indicators of handled common eider. Physiology and Behavior 74:475–479.
- Campbell, B. A., G. Wood, and T. McBride (1997). Origins of orienting and defensive responses: an evolutionary perspective. In Attention and orienting: sensory and motivational processes (P. J. Lang, R. F. Simons and M. T. Balaban, Editors).
 Erlbaum, Hillsdale, NJ, pp. 41–67.
- Carravieri, A., M. S. Müller, K. Yoda, S. Hayama, and M. Yamamoto (2016). Dominant parasympathetic modulation of heart rate and heart rate variability in a wild-caught seabird. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 89:263–276.
- Carrete, M., and J. L. Tella (2015). Rapid loss of antipredatory behaviour in captive-bred birds is linked to current avian invasions. Scientific Reports 5:1–8.
- Carthey, A. J. R., and P. B. Banks (2014). Naïveté in novel ecological interactions: lessons from theory and experimental evidence. Biological Reviews 89:932–949.
- Carthey, A. J. R., and D. T. Blumstein (2018). Predicting predator recognition in a

changing world. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 33:106–115.

- Chaulk, K. G., G. J. Robertson, and W. A. Montevecchi (2007). Landscape features and sea ice influence nesting common eider abundance and dispersion. Canadian Journal of Zoology 85:301–309.
- Cooper, W. E., and W. G. Frederick (2007). Optimal flight initiation distance. Journal of Theoretical Biology 244:59–67.
- Cox, J. G., and S. L. Lima (2006). Naiveté and an aquatic-terrestrial dichotomy in the effects of introduced predators. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 21:674–680.
- Dey, C. J., E. Richardson, D. McGeachy, S. A. Iverson, H. G. Gilchrist, and C. A. D. Semeniuk (2017). Increasing nest predation will be insufficient to maintain polar bear body condition in the face of sea ice loss. Global Change Biology 23:1821– 1831.
- Donnelly, A., A. Caffarra, and B. F. O'Neill (2011). A review of climate-driven mismatches between interdependent phenophases in terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems. International Journal of Biometeorology 55:805–817.
- Ehlman, S. M., P. C. Trimmer, and A. Sih (2019). Prey responses to exotic predators: effects of old risks and new cues. The American Naturalist 193:575–587.
- Ellenberg, U., T. Mattern, and P. J. Seddon (2013). Heart rate responses provide an objective evaluation of human disturbance stimuli in breeding birds. Conservation Physiology 1:1–11.

Espmark, Y., and R. Langvatn (1979). Cardiac responses in alarmed red deer calves.

Behavioural Processes 4:179–186.

- Felton, S. K., K. H. Pollock, and T. R. Simons (2018). Response of beach-nesting American Oystercatchers to off-road vehicles: an experimental approach reveals physiological nuances and decreased nest attendance. The Condor 120:47–62.
- Fernández-Juricic, E., M. D. Jimenez, and E. Lucas (2002). Factors affecting intra- and inter-specific variations in the difference between alert distances and flight distances for birds in forested habitats. Canadian Journal of Zoology 80:1212–1220.
- Forbes, M. R. L., R. G. Clark, P. J. Weatherhead, and T. Armstrong (1994). Risk-taking by female ducks: intra-and interspecific tests of nest defense theory. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 34:79–85.
- Gabrielsen, G., J. Kanwisher, and J. B. Steen (1977). "Emotional" bradycardia: a telemetry study on incubating Willow Grouse (Lagopus lagopus). Acta Physiologica Scandinavica 100:255–257.
- Giese, M., R. Handsworth, and R. Stephenson (1999). Measuring resting heart rates in penguins using an artificial egg. Journal of Field Ornithology 70:49–54.
- Gilg, O., B. Sittler, and I. Hanski (2009). Climate change and cyclic predator-prey population dynamics in the high Arctic. Global Change Biology 15:2634–2652.
- Gormezano, L. J., S. N. Ellis-Felege, D. T. Iles, A. Barnas, and R. F. Rockwell (2017).
 Polar bear foraging behavior during the ice-free period in western Hudson Bay:
 observations, origins, and potential significance. American Museum Novitates
 3885:1–28.

- Guiden, P. W., S. L. Bartel, N. W. Byer, A. A. Shipley, and J. L. Orrock (2019). Predator–prey interactions in the Anthropocene: reconciling multiple aspects of novelty. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 34:616–627.
- Hamilton, C. D., K. M. Kovacs, R. A. Ims, J. Aars, and C. Lydersen (2017). An Arctic predator-prey system in flux: climate change impacts on coastal space use by polar bears and ringed seals. Journal of Animal Ecology 86:1054–1064.
- Iverson, S. A., H. G. Gilchrist, P. A. Smith, A. J. Gaston, and M. R. Forbes (2014). Longer ice-free seasons increase the risk of nest depredation by polar bears for colonial breeding birds in the Canadian Arctic. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 281:20133128.
- Jagielski, P. M., C. J. Dey, H. G. Gilchrist, E. S. Richardson, O. P. Love, and C. A. D. Semeniuk (2021a). Polar bears are inefficient predators of seabird eggs. Royal Society Open Science 8:210391.
- Jagielski, P. M., C. J. Dey, H. G. Gilchrist, E. S. Richardson, and C. A. D. Semeniuk (2021b). Polar bear foraging on common eider eggs: estimating the energetic consequences of a climate-mediated behavioural shift. Animal Behaviour 171:63– 75.
- Jean-Gagnon, F., P. Legagneux, G. Gilchrist, S. Bélanger, O. P. Love, and J. Bêty (2018). The impact of sea ice conditions on breeding decisions is modulated by body condition in an arctic partial capital breeder. Oecologia 186:1–10.

Jepsen, J. U., S. B. Hagen, R. A. Ims, and N. G. Yoccoz (2008). Climate change and

outbreaks of the geometrids Operophtera brumata and Epirrita autumnata in subarctic birch forest: evidence of a recent outbreak range expansion. Journal of Animal Ecology 77:257–264.

- Killengreen, S. T., R. A. Ims, N. G. Yoccoz, K. A. Bråthen, J.-A. Henden, and T. Schott (2007). Structural characteristics of a low Arctic tundra ecosystem and the retreat of the Arctic fox. Biological Conservation 135:459–472.
- Knight, R. L., and S. A. Temple (1997). Wildlife and recreationists: coexistence through management. In Wildlife and recreationists: coexistence through management and research (R. L. Knight and K. J. Gutzwiller, Editors). Island Press, Washington, D.C. and Covelo, California.
- Koolhaas, J. M., S. M. Korte, S. F. De Boer, B. J. Van Der Vegt, C. G. Van Reenen, H. Hopster, I. C. De Jong, M. A. W. Ruis, and H. J. Blokhuis (1999). Coping styles in animals: current status in behavior and stress-physiology. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 23:925–935.
- Lang, P. J., F. Robert, Simons, and M. T. Balaban (1997). Attention and orienting: sensory and motivational processes. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers, Mahwah, NJ, US.
- Larson, S. (1960). On the influence of the Arctic fox Alopex lagopus on the distribution of Arctic birds. Oikos 11:276–305.
- Legagneux, P., H. L. Hennin, H. G. Gilchrist, T. D. Williams, O. P. Love, and J. Bêty (2016). Unpredictable perturbation reduces breeding propensity regardless of pre-

laying reproductive readiness in a partial capital breeder. Journal of Avian Biology 47:880–886.

- Lenth, R. V. (2016). Least-squares means: the R package lsmeans. Journal of Statistical Software 69:1–33.
- Lima, S. L., and L. M. Dill (1990). Behavioral decisions made under the risk of predation: a review and prospectus. Canadian Journal of Zoology 68:619–640.
- Lønø, O. (1970). The polar bear (Ursus maritimus Phipps) in the Svalbard area. Norsk Polarinstitutt Skrifter 149:1–117.
- Löw, A., P. J. Lang, J. C. Smith, and M. M. Bradley (2008). Both predator and prey: emotional arousal in threat and reward. Psychological Science 19:865–873.
- Lüdecke, D. (2018). ggeffects: tidy data frames of marginal effects from regression models. Journal of Open Source Software 3:772.
- Mehlum, F. (1991). Eider studies in Svalbard. Norsk Polarinstitutt Skrifter 195:1-68.
- Nephew, B. C., S. A. Kahn, and L. M. Romero (2003). Heart rate and behavior are regulated independently of corticosterone following diverse acute stressors. General and Comparative Endocrinology 133:173–180.
- Öst, M., A. Lehikoinen, K. Jaatinen, and M. Kilpi (2011). Causes and consequences of fine-scale breeding dispersal in a female-philopatric species. Oecologia 166:327–336.
- Pagano, A. M., G. M. Durner, S. C. Amstrup, K. S. Simac, and G. S. York (2012). Long-

distance swimming by polar bears (Ursus maritimus) of the southern Beaufort Sea during years of extensive open water. Canadian Journal of Zoology 90:663–676.

- Parker, H., and H. Holm (1990). Patterns of nutrient and energy expenditure in female Common eiders nesting in the high Arctic. The Auk 107:660–668.
- Partan, S. R., C. P. Larco, and M. J. Owens (2009). Wild tree squirrels respond with multisensory enhancement to conspecific robot alarm behaviour. Animal Behaviour 77:1127–1135.
- Peacor, S. D., B. T. Barton, D. L. Kimbro, A. Sih, and M. J. Sheriff (2020). A framework and standardized terminology to facilitate the study of predation-risk effects. Ecology 101:1–10.
- Peers, M. J. L., Y. N. Majchrzak, E. Neilson, C. T. Lamb, A. Hämäläinen, J. A. Haines,
 L. Garland, D. Doran-Myers, K. Broadley, R. Boonstra, and S. Boutin (2018).
 Quantifying fear effects on prey demography in nature. Ecology 99:1716–1723.
- Pinheiro, J. C., and D. M. Bates (2000). Linear mixed-effects models: basic concepts and examples. Mixed-effects models in S and S-Plus:3–56.
- Prop, J., J. Aars, B.-J. Bãrdsen, S. A. Hanssen, C. Bech, S. Bourgeon, J. de Fouw, G. W. Gabrielsen, J. Lang, E. Noreen, T. Oudman, et al. (2015). Climate change and the increasing impact of polar bears on bird populations. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 3:1–12.
- R Core Team (2018). R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.

- Réale, D., S. M. Reader, D. Sol, P. T. McDougall, and N. J. Dingemanse (2007). Integrating animal temperament within ecology and evolution. Biological Reviews 82:291–318.
- Robertson, G. J. (1995). Annual variation in common eider egg size: effects of temperature, clutch size, laying date, and laying sequence. Canadian Journal of Zoology 73:1579–1587.
- RStudio Team (2019). RStudio: integrated development for R. RStudio, Inc., Boston, MA.
- Sadoul, B., D. Blumstein, S. Alfonso, and B. Geffroy (2020). New coping styles for a new world. 1–19.
- Salo, P., E. Korpimäki, P. B. Banks, M. Nordström, and C. R. Dickman (2007). Alien predators are more dangerous than native predators to prey populations. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 274:1237–1243.
- Sapolsky, R. M., L. M. Romero, and A. U. Munck (2000). How do glucocorticoids influence stress responses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory, and preparative actions. Endocrine Reviews 21:55–89.
- Schmutz, J. K., R. J. Robertson, and F. Cooke (1983). Colonial nesting of the Hudson Bay eider duck. Canadian Journal of Zoology 61:2424–2433.
- Seltmann, M. W., K. Jaatinen, B. B. Steele, and M. Öst (2014). Boldness and stress responsiveness as drivers of nest-site selection in a ground-nesting bird. Ethology 120:77–89.

- Seltmann, M. W., M. Öst, K. Jaatinen, S. Atkinson, K. Mashburn, and T. Hollmén (2012). Stress responsiveness, age and body condition interactively affect flight initiation distance in breeding female eiders. Animal Behaviour 84:889–896.
- Sih, A. (2013). Understanding variation in behavioural responses to human-induced rapid environmental change: a conceptual overview. Animal Behaviour 85:1077–1088.
- Sih, A., D. I. Bolnick, B. Luttbeg, J. L. Orrock, S. D. Peacor, L. M. Pintor, E. Preisser, J.
 S. Rehage, and J. R. Vonesh (2009). Predator-prey naïveté, antipredator behavior, and the ecology of predator invasions. Oikos 119:1–12.
- Sih, A., P. C. Trimmer, and S. M. Ehlman (2016). A conceptual framework for understanding behavioral responses to HIREC. Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences 12:109–114.
- Smith, P. A., K. H. Elliott, A. J. Gaston, and H. G. Gilchrist (2010). Has early ice clearance increased predation on breeding birds by polar bears? Polar Biology 33:1149–1153.
- Steen, J. B., G. W. Gabrielsen, and J. W. Kanwisher (1988). Physiological aspects of freezing behaviour in willow ptarmigan hens. Acta Physiologica Scandinavica 134:299–304.
- Stirling, I., N. J. Lunn, J. Iacozza, C. Elliott, and M. Obbard (2004). Polar bear distribution and abundance on the southwestern Hudson Bay coast during open water season, in relation to population trends and annual ice patterns. Arctic 57:15–26.

- Stirling, I., and C. L. Parkinson (2006). Possible effects of climate warming on selected populations of polar bears (Ursus maritimus) in the Canadian Arctic. Arctic 59:261– 275.
- Tarlow, E. M., and D. T. Blumstein (2007). Evaluating methods to quantify anthropogenic stressors on wild animals. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 102:429–451.
- Thackeray, S. J., T. H. Sparks, M. Frederiksen, S. Burthe, P. J. Bacon, J. R. Bell, M. S.
 Botham, T. M. Brereton, P. W. Bright, L. Carvalho, T. Clutton-Brock, et al. (2010).
 Trophic level asynchrony in rates of phenological change for marine, freshwater and terrestrial environments. Global Change Biology 16:3304–3313.
- Trimmer, P. C., S. M. Ehlman, and A. Sih (2017). Predicting behavioural responses to novel organisms: state-dependent detection theory. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 284:20162108.
- Viblanc, V. A., A. D. Smith, B. Gineste, M. Kauffmann, and R. Groscolas (2015).
 Modulation of heart rate response to acute stressors throughout the breeding season in the king penguin Aptenodytes patagonicus. The Journal of Experimental Biology 218:1686–1692.
- de Villiers, M., M. Bause, M. Giese, and A. Fourie (2006). Hardly hard-hearted: heart rate responses of incubating Northern Giant Petrels (Macronectes halli) to human disturbance on sub-Antarctic Marion Island. Polar Biology 29:717–720.

Waltho, C., and J. Coulson (2015). The Common Eider. T & AD Poyser. London, UK.

- Weller, M. W. (1956). A simple field candler for waterfowl eggs. The Journal of Wildlife Management 20:111–113.
- Weston, M. A., E. M. McLeod, D. T. Blumstein, and P.-J. Guay (2012). A review of flight-initiation distances and their application to managing disturbance to Australian birds. Emu 112:269–286.
- Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2: elegant graphics for data analysis. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Wickham, H. (2017). tidyverse: easily install and load the "tidyverse". R package version 1.2.1. https://cran.r-project.org/package=tidyverse:1–5.
- Wickham, H., R. François, L. Henry, and K. Müller (2019). dplyr: A grammar of data manipulation. R package version 0.8.3. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=dplyr.
- Witold, B., N. Włodzimierz, B. Adam, W. Jan, K.-S. Krzysztof, S. Bededykt, J. Ryszard, and G. Karol (2011). Metrical features of the ventral part of the alimentary canal in arctic fox (Alopex lagopus L.). Journal of Central European Agriculture 12:276– 282.
- World Wildlife Fund (no date). Arctic Fox. [Online.] Available at https://www.worldwildlife.org/species/arctic-fox.
- Ydenberg, R. C., and L. M. Dill (1986). The economics of fleeing from predators. Advances in the Study of Behavior 16:229–249.
- Zuur, A. F., E. N. Ieno, N. J. Walker, A. A. Saveliev, and G. M. Smith (2009). Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. Smart Society: A Sociological

Perspective on Smart Living. Springer.

Tables

Table 2. 1. Model parameter estimates and standard error for fixed effects used to explain variation in heart rate among nesting common eiders (*Somateria mollissima*) on Mitivik Island

Model Parameter	Estimate ± SE
Intercept	13.276 ± 4.61
Polar bear	-2.758 ± 1.39
Arctic fox	4.917 ± 1.39
Time before flush	0.149 ± 0.07

Reference category = Control treatment

Table 2. 2. Model parameter variance and standard deviation for random effects used to explain variation in heart rate among nesting common eiders (*Somateria mollissima*) on Mitivik Island

Model Parameter	Variance ± SD
Eider ID	155.214 ± 12.46
Trial day	2.847 ± 1.69
Residual	18.681 ± 4.32

Table 2. 3. Predicting common eider (*Somateria mollissima*) heart rate (beats/10s) based on AICc model selection (ML estimation). Models included here were used in a backward stepwise regression until significant effects remained (via ML estimation). AICc weight represents the relative likelihood of a model. Models are sorted by weight from most likely to less likely. The null model is represented by "heart rate ~ 1"

Model	df	AIC _c	ΔAIC_{c}	W_i
Heart rate \sim predator treatment + time before flush	7	419.7	0.00	0.674
Heart rate ~ predator treatment + time before flush +	8	422.3	2.59	0.184
start distance				
Heart rate ~ predator treatment + time before flush +	10	424.0	4.28	0.079
start distance + predator treatment*start distance				
Heart rate ~ predator treatment + time before flush +	11	424.7	4.99	0.055
start distance + predator treatment*start distance +				
time before flush*start distance				
Heart rate ~ predator treatment + time before flush +	13	428.7	9.00	0.007
start distance + predator treatment*start distance +				
time before flush*start distance + predator*time				
before flush				
Heart rate ~ 1	4	440.1	20.33	0.000

Table 2. 4. Model parameter estimates and standard error for fixed effects used to explain variation in flight initiation distance among nesting common eiders (*Somateria mollissima*) on Mitivik Island

Model Parameter	Estimate ± SE			
Intercept	5.635 ± 2.07			
Heart rate	0.141 ± 0.08			

Table 2. 5. Model parameter variance and standard deviation for random effects used to explain variation in flight initiation distance among nesting common eiders (*Somateria mollissima*) on Mitivik Island

Model Parameter	Variance ± SD		
Eider ID	13.239 ± 3.64		
Trial day	0.800 ± 0.89		
Residual	5.289 ± 2.30		

Table 2. 6. Predicting common eider (*Somateria mollissima*) flight initiation distance (m) (FID) based on AICc model selection (ML estimation). Models included here were used in a backward stepwise regression until significant effects remained (via ML estimation). AICc weight represents the relative likelihood of a model. Models are sorted by weight from most likely to less likely. The null model is represented by "FID ~ 1 "

Model	df	AICc	ΔAIC_{c}	Wi
$FID \sim 1$	4	129.4	0.00	0.437
FID ~ heart rate	5	129.5	0.11	0.414
$FID \sim heart rate + clutch size$	6	131.9	2.43	0.130
$FID \sim heart rate + incubation stage + clutch size$	7	135.7	6.27	0.019
FID \sim predator treatment + heart rate +	9	144.3	14.84	0.000
incubation stage + clutch size				
$FID \sim predator treatment + heart rate + start$	10	151.3	21.83	0.000
distance + incubation stage + clutch size				
$FID \sim predator treatment + heart rate + start$	12	168.5	39.08	0.000
distance + incubation stage + clutch size +				
predator treatment*heart rate				

Figures



Figure 2. 1. Map of Study Area, displaying our A) general location (Northern Hudson Bay, Nunavut, Canada), B) regional location (Southampton Island, Nunavut, Canada), and C) study site (Mitivik Island, represented by a star) within East Bay, Nunavut, Canada. Canadian Provinces and Territories map layers provided by ESRI online, accessed May 30, 2018



Figure 2. 2. Experimental heart rate recorders, with photographs of A) separate halves of 3D-printed common eider (*Somateria mollissima*) egg, microphones, and funnel (left), two halves of plastic 3D-printed egg assembled (bottom right), artificial eider egg covered with a balloon membrane (top right), B) digital audio recorder (Tascam DR-05X) and external battery pack, and C) storage box and artificial-egg, ready for deployment



Figure 2. 3. Distribution of focal nests (black stars) across Mitivik Island, Nunavut, Canada. Map layer created using ArcMap v10.6.1 (Esri, Redlands, CA, USA)



Figure 2. 4. Images of our experimental predator stimuli: 54-inch diameter grey umbrellas with to-scale images of A) polar bear, B) arctic fox, and C) plain for control. Images include approximate measurements (width and length) of the animal's head. Images sourced on the internet from Creative Common websites



Figure 2. 5. Screenshot of the waveforms from heart sounds produced by an incubating focal common eider (*Somateria mollissima*) in Audacity® v2.3.2 (Audacity Team 2019). At the end, hen flushes, and heart beats were counted for three 10 second intervals before the hen flushed



Figure 2. 6. Incubating female common eider (*Somateria mollissima*) heart rate (beats/10s) depending on time before flush (s), for each predator treatment. Solid and dashed lines are based on model predicted values \pm 95% confidence intervals, respectively



Figure 2. 7. Incubating female common eider (*Somateria mollissima*) flight initiation distance (m, FID) in response to eider heart rate (beats/30s) during experimental approaches by simulated predator. Solid and dashed lines are based on model predicted values \pm 95% confidence intervals, respectively

CHAPTER 3

Arctic colonial-nesting seabird heart rate responses to natural variation in threat of polar bear egg predation

Introduction

Rapid environmental change is impacting inter-specific relationships across multiple ecosystems worldwide (Tylianakis et al. 2008). Specifically, changes in phenology of seasonal life history events (Parmesan and Yohe 2003, Thackeray et al. 2010) or distribution (Parmesan and Yohe 2003) can create new species relationships or exacerbate existing interactions between antagonistic species, such as between predator and prey (reviewed in Gilman et al. 2010). A prey's experience with a predator on both evolutionary and ecological timescales influences their ability to detect and respond adaptively to the threat posed by the new/historically rare predator (Carthey and Blumstein 2018). Indeed, prey that lack (or have limited) eco-evolutionary experience with a predator are expected to suffer direct (i.e., consumptive) and/or indirect (i.e., nonconsumptive) effects associated with their response (Sih et al. 2009). Thus, understanding whether prey can detect and appropriately assess the risk posed by a predator with which they have limited evolutionary and/or ecological experience can provide insight into whether they are expected to suffer fitness costs as a result of increased frequency in interactions.

An animal's ability to respond adaptively to a predation threat depends, in part, on their capacity to recognize the level of predation risk the predator poses and adjust their responses accordingly (i.e., dynamic risk assessment, Kleindorfer et al. 2005). For instance, upon detection of a predation threat, an animal's perception of risk may be

further based on characteristics of the interaction such as their distance from and duration of exposure to the predator (e.g., Kleindorfer et al. 2005, Ellenberg et al. 2013). Animals use distance from a threat as a measure of predatory imminence, and regulate their trait responses based on perceived likelihood of detection and capture by the predator (Löw et al. 2008). Prey can exhibit passive defense responses (e.g., freezing and/or vigilance behaviour, and decelerated heart rate) until a threshold distance is reached and predation is perceived as impending, at which point prey typically switch to a fight-or-flight response (e.g., higher vigilance, blood circulation to gross muscles, and accelerated heart rate) (reviewed in Gabrielsen and Smith 1997). An animal's response to the threat of predation can furthermore be influenced by the amount of time prey are in the presence of a predator (i.e., exposure duration). For example, exposure duration of a threat stimulus influences the stress response (e.g., king penguin Aptenodytes patagonicus, Viblanc et al. 2012; yellow-eyed penguin *Megadyptes antipodes*, Ellenberg et al. 2013), where a higher duration of interaction is associated with a greater risk of detection and capture. The magnitude of this exposure time will be further impacted by the availability of visual information – the range at which visual cues are likely to be informative and used by prey to assess threats (Aben et al. 2018). Influenced by the spatial structure of the environment such as topography and cover (Magaña et al. 2010) or environmental conditions (e.g., water turbidity) (Meager et al. 2006), any information deficit resulting from a small spatial visibility range will also play a role in risk perception and affect prey responsiveness. Taken together, the longer amount of time a predator spends within a prey's limited 'area of visibility', the greater the effect on dynamic risk assessment and exacerbated real and perceived risk.

Assessing an animal's perception of (dynamic) predation risk can be accomplished via evaluating antipredator responses (e.g., Löw et al. 2008, Ellenberg et al. 2013, Schneider and Griesser 2013, Lamanna and Martin 2016, Creel et al. 2017, Buitron 2019, Peacor et al. 2020) such as vigilance levels (reviewed in Beauchamp 2017) and escape responses (e.g., the distance at which animals flee from a threat) (reviewed in Ydenberg and Dill 1986). Because both traits are responsive to the degree of predation risk, they are commonly used as behavioural markers of risk perception (e.g., Blumstein 2003, Stankowich and Blumstein 2005, Creel et al. 2017). However, in some cases prey may display a physiological response to threat without exhibiting visually observable signs. In addition, animals may even exhibit signs typically associated with antipredator behaviour (e.g., vigilant posture or fleeing) in the absence of threat (e.g., seemingly vigilant individuals are actually searching for food, Beauchamp 2017). Physiological measures, such as the release of stress hormones and changes in heart rate, provide an alternative objective evaluation of fear in animals (Adolphs 2013, Ellenberg et al. 2013), and are suggested to underly an animal's level of perceived predation risk (reviewed in Hawlena and Schmitz 2010). Modulation of heart rate is considered to be an immediate fear response to the detection of acute predation risk: both sympathetic (i.e., acceleratory influence) and parasympathetic (i.e., deceleratory influence) branches of the autonomic nervous system that mediate heart rate are activated within seconds following the perception of a threat (Löw et al. 2008, Carravieri et al. 2016). Magnitude and duration of change in heart rate from baseline can therefore be used as metrics for perceived level of predation threat across variation in realized predation risk.

Here we assess whether incubating female common eider seaducks (Somateria

mollissima, hereafter 'eider') perceive the risk posed by polar bears (Ursus maritimus) on a small-island breeding colony in Nunavut, Canada, using non-invasive methods to both measure physiological responses and detect bear presence. Over the past few decades, there has been increasing spatial overlap between incubating colonial-nesting seabirds and polar bears on land as a result of rapidly advancing sea-ice breakup relative to climate-induced advancement in bird nest initiation and hatch (e.g., snow goose Chen caerulescen, Rockwell and Gormezano 2009, Rockwell et al. 2011; common eider, Iverson et al. 2014). As a consequence of this recent phenological match, polar-bear egg predation in eider and other Arctic breeding seabird colonies has steadily and rapidly increased in the past few decades (e.g., snow goose and thick-billed murre Uria lomvia, Smith et al. 2010; common eider, Iverson et al. 2014; barnacle goose *Branta leucopsis* and glaucous gull Larus hyperboreus, Prop et al. 2015) as a substitute to bears' reduced spring diet (Stirling et al. 2004, Stirling and Parkinson 2006). Colonial island-nesting eiders have evolved several adaptations to reduce predation by their traditional landbased mammalian egg predators (primarily arctic fox Vulpes lagopus) by nesting on islands either inaccessible to foxes or attached via ephemeral ice with unpredictable ice breakup making them risky for foxes to visit (Larson 1960, Ahlén and Andersson 1970); and by forming high-density nesting aggregations for communal defense and predator warning (Schmutz et al. 1983, Mehlum 1991). Although eiders have evolutionary experience with some mammalian egg predators, it can be assumed they have limited experience with polar bears since their adaptations do not deter polar bears that can access islands during eider nesting periods (i.e., by inter-island swimming; Pagano et al. 2012), and bear presence in eider nesting colonies has been positively correlated with

nest abundance (Iverson et al. 2014). Whether eiders, a long-lived seaduck (Waltho and Coulson 2015), recognize the threat posed by polar bears (Carthey and Blumstein 2018) and thus have the adaptive capacity to keep pace with this rapidly increasing risk of egg predation is unknown. Using a remotely deployed heart-rate monitoring system, we actively monitored female eider heart rate in real time as a metric for perceived predation threat during actual polar bear presence in the colony as detected by an extensive array of trail cameras. Due to eiders' assumed lack of evolutionary experience and rapidly changing ecological experience with polar bear egg predators, we hypothesized that eiders do not perceive the full risk posed by polar bears, and therefore would not dynamically update their assessment of risk. As such, we predicted that eider heart rates would remain unchanged to various distances to a polar bear, and also be unaffected by predator exposure, as measured by the amount of time a bear remained within the eider's viewshed.

Materials and Methods

Study species and area

We conducted work on Mitivik (East Bay) Island (64°02'N, 81°47'W), a small (24-ha), low-lying (<8 m elevation) eider nesting colony located within Southampton Island's East Bay, Nunavut, Canada (Figure 3.1). The island experiences almost continuous daylight during the nesting season (Steenweg et al. 2015), and the landscape is flat and is mostly composed of patches of low-lying tundra vegetation, granite rocks, and several small ponds. The island hosts the largest known common eider breeding colony in the Canadian Arctic (Inuit Nunangat; Legagneux et al. 2016) and is the only colony within a 100-km radius (Gaston et al. 1986). Eiders on Mitivik Island initiate laying in late June/early July (Jean-Gagnon et al. 2018), and undergo an approximate 24-day incubation period where they do not feed (Parker and Holm 1990, Bottitta et al. 2003). While the surrounding East Bay area has long been an important migratory route for the Foxe Basin polar bear subpopulation in transit towards summer's last land-fast ice in northern Foxe Basin (H.G.G. pers. obs.), in recent years earlier spring sea-ice breakup and reduced access to seal prey have driven polar bears ashore to Mitivik Island earlier, where bears now overlap with eiders during their laying and incubation periods (Stirling and Derocher 1993, Iverson et al. 2014, Sahanatien et al. 2015).

Heart rate monitoring

The heart rate of actively incubating eiders was recorded using an artificial-egg heart-rate monitor added to the clutch. Artificial-egg heart-rate monitors have been used previously on other bird species throughout the length of their incubation and they have been shown to be minimally invasive (e.g., American oystercatcher *Haematous palliates*, Borneman et al. 2014). We adapted our methods from these studies to create artificial eider-egg heart-rate monitors for our system. Full details on the construction of heart-rate monitors can be found in *Chapter 2*, but briefly, we constructed heart-rate monitors by embedding Electret condenser microphones (PUI Audio model AOM-5024L-HD-R) in a plastic eider egg (sub-elliptical, 2.9 in. long x 1.9 in. at the widest point). Each artificial-egg was wired to a digital audio recorder (Tascam DR-05X) in a weatherproof camouflaged storage box (11.4 in. long, 5.4 in. wide, 7.1 in. high). The recorders continuously recorded for 11-12 days powered by 24 AA Lithium-Ion batteries allowing us to collect

continuous audio recordings of the incubating eiders' heart rate during their laying/incubation period. We deployed artificial-egg heart-rate monitors at active eider nests (n=11) on June 24, 25 and 28, 2019, with 1-5 eggs at time of visit (i.e., clutch size during laying or incubation). Heart rate monitors at focal nests were coupled with a ground-based trail camera for polar bear monitoring (see *Polar bear monitoring* below). The location of each focal nest was recorded using a GPS (Garmin GPSMAP 64s) (i.e., labeled Ground-based (Focal Nests) Trail Cameras in Figure 3.1C). During deployment, we replaced the first-laid egg from each study nest, collected for another project (Smith and Love, in prep) and used to estimate incubation stage (see *Eider incubation stage* below), with the artificial egg. Artificial eggs were constructed so that the side of the egg with microphones continuously remained facing upwards in the nest against the eider's brood patch (i.e., by caulking weight to the bottom half inside the egg to prevent egg rolling). The recorder was powered upon deployment and the storage box was placed approximately one meter away from the nest, and both the wire and box were secured and concealed with the surrounding terrain. In the current study, birds returned to their nest approximately 1.19 hours (i.e., average, 0.00139-6.607 hours range) after equipment was deployed on their nest.

Heart rate quantification

A single researcher (E.A.G.) reviewed heart-rate recordings of eiders using the sound analysis software Audacity® v2.3.2 (Audacity Team 2019). We synchronized heart-rate monitors and trail cameras used to define bear locations (see *Defining polar bear locations in relation to eiders* below) to the nearest minute from the clock of a single

device. We estimated baseline (i.e., resting) heart rate by collecting heart-rate samples when the island is most quiet (12-2am) on June 29, 2019. These low-disturbance time periods were further confirmed by reviewing i) trail camera footage from ground-based trail cameras on focal nests (i.e., no nearby disturbances for our focal eiders by gulls, geese, or conspecifics), and ii) other cameras included in our remote trail camera system (i.e., no polar bears present on the island, see Polar bear monitoring below). To confirm that baseline heart rate is relatively stable during this period, we collected 10-s samples of heart rate every ten minutes during this two-hour period when possible and determined that the SDs of baseline heart rates for each individual ranged from 0.79 beats/10s to 2.79 beats/10s (average 1.72 beats/10s). We then collected a 120-sec sample (i.e., further broken down into twelve 10-s intervals) of 'clean' baseline heart rate from each eider to calculate average baseline for each female for statistical analysis (see below). To quantify eider heart rate in response to polar bears, we similarly collected a 120-sec sample (i.e., twelve 10-s intervals) around the midpoint of a period when a polar bear was observed within an eider's viewshed for a series of consecutive minutes (see *Estimating eider* exposure to bears given their viewsheds below). Multiple heart-rate samples were collected within a bear event (when possible; see Results), spaced at least one minuteapart. The opportunistic nature of our sampling-method generated different sample sizes for number of eider exposures to bears (i.e., bear events) and number of heart-rate samples within (see Results). We extracted all of the sample intervals as .wav files and heartbeats were counted aurally at least twice to avoid measurement error and therefore increase accuracy of the counts. We excluded sample intervals from analysis for which the sound quality was so poor that heart rates could not be accurately determined. Note

that no researchers were present on the island when heart-rate samples were collected in response to polar bears.

For statistical analysis of heart rate as our response variable, we calculated the magnitude of change in heart rate response to polar bears (as beats/10s) by subtracting the average baseline for a female from each sample interval for that bird (collected during polar bear presence). Average baseline heart rate (beats/10s) for each bird comprised the mean of the twelve baseline 10-sec sample intervals.

Polar bear monitoring

A large array (n=84) of GPS-marked remote trail cameras (Browning inc. model: BTC-5HDPX) were distributed across the small island (Figure 3.1C) to define approximate locations of polar bears in relation to focal eiders. A portion of the trail cameras (n=35, set to motion-triggered 30-s videos, equipped with a 128GB SD card) were mounted approximately 6-feet Above Ground Level (AGL) on wooden posts or fixed bird observation blinds (Figure 3.2A, 3.2B, deployed on June 11-14, and 28), while the remaining (n=49, set to 2-min videos once triggered, equipped with a 256GB SD card) were deployed on the ground, approximately one meter from active eider nests (Figure 3.2C, deployed on June 18, 24-25 and 28, 2019). At time of deployment, we powered the camera, selected our desired settings (Table 3.1), set date and time accordingly, and recorded the camera's GPS location and cardinal direction. All cameras collected data from the time of their deployment up to July 19th at the latest (i.e., collected data for 22-39 days (mounted cameras) and 2-26 days (ground-based cameras), start and end date inclusive). A subset of the ground-based trail cameras (n=11, labeled Ground-based

(Focal Nests) Trail Cameras in Figure 3.1C) were coupled with a heart-rate monitor. A companion study by Barnas and Semeniuk (in prep), estimates a high likelihood that the majority of bears present on the island were captured by our trail camera array given the number of cameras deployed, the camera range, coupled with the small size of the island (a conservative estimate of 85% 'probability of capture', using a spatially explicit simulation model).

Defining polar bear locations in relation to eiders

For safety purposes, polar-bear presence on Mitivik Island was discouraged by the eider research team during the daytime from late-May to June 29. However, researchers were absent from the island from June 30 to July 19, and bears were able to forage freely during this time. To identify trail-camera footage with bear(s) present, two observers reviewed all of the videos from the 35 mounted trail cameras, and one observer reviewed footage from the 49 ground-based trail cameras. All videos (n=293) from June 24 to July 10 (i.e., range of eider heart rate monitoring period) with a polar bear(s) present were used to locate bears on a georeferenced, true colour, 3cm Ground Sampling Distance (GSD) orthomosaic map of Mitivik Island in June 2019. ArcMap v10.6.1 (Esri Inc, Redlands, CA) was used to plot locations of bears on the island mosaic. A single observer (E.A.G.) matched patterns of rock, vegetation outcrops, and other landscape features (e.g., infrastructure and pond edges) between the trail camera videos and the island mosaic; bear locations at every 15-sec intervals in the videos (i.e., at video timestamp 0:00, 0:15, 0:30, etc.) were marked on the island mosaic using the *Point* tool. We created buffers of either 1-, 5-, or 10-meter radiuses around each bear location point using the

Buffer tool, based on the observer's level of certainty that they were able to accurately define the bear's exact location on the island mosaic to acquire a conservative estimate of bear location. Only 3.57% of our samples had bear location points with 10-meter buffers, whereas 28.57% and 67.86% had location points associated with 5- and 1-meter buffers, respectively. Importantly, all bear location points involved in our closest bear location points had associated buffers within 5-meters, with the majority having 1-meter buffers. When multiple bears were detected on the island at the same time (e.g., multiple bears in a video or bears present simultaneously on two or more cameras with different detection zones), bear IDs were differentiated based on their different morphometric features (e.g., body size and markings on its fur). Despite the presence of multiple bears, there were no instances of more than one bear detected within a focal eider's viewshed at the same time.

Estimating eider exposure to bears given their viewsheds

To calculate the amount of time polar bears were within viewing distance to an eider, we first estimated the areal size of a focal eider's viewshed given the island's topography. We performed a viewshed analysis of the entire island for each focal eider nest location using ArcMap's *Viewshed* tool. We performed our viewshed analysis on a 3cm GSD Digital Surface Model (DSM) of Mitivik Island (raster grid) in June 2019. We then estimated viewshed for each eider by including a 14 cm vertical offset to account for the approximate eye level of nesting eiders (i.e., observer point; measured using a sitting male eider decoy, Figure 3.3) and a 1.5 m offset to account for the approximate average height of a polar bear standing on all fours (i.e., the z-value being considered for

visibility; Amstrup 2003). We then used the *Raster to Polygon* tool to convert each viewshed raster to a polygon layer. We manually clipped out a polygon of Mitivik Island using the *Polygon* tool, and we used ArcMap's *Clip geoprocessing* tool to clip each of our viewshed polygons (i.e., input feature) within our island polygon (i.e., clip feature). Finally, we extracted the area (in m²) of the clipped polygon layers, representing each focal eider's area of potential polar-bear visibility on Mitivik Island.

Estimating eider distances and exposure durations to polar bears

We estimated the distance (in m) between a nesting focal eider and polar bears observed within their viewshed using ArcMap's *Measure* tool. To do so, we collected distance measurements for all bear observation points included in each heart-rate sampling period (i.e., consisting of bear points observed at every 15-second interval from trail camera footage and located within an eiders' viewshed for a series of consecutive minutes), and calculated the average distance for each heart-rate sample. We estimated eider's exposure duration to polar bears (in minutes) by calculating the length of a bear event within the eider's viewshed, and we assigned these durations to any heart-rate samples within their respective bear event. A bear event is the period of time when a polar bear was observed to be within an eider's viewshed. A bear event was considered new when there was a gap of more than five minutes when the bear was not observed within the eider's viewshed.

Eider incubation stage

To account for additional covariates that may also dynamically influence heart rate, we quantified incubation stage (i.e., stage of embryo development) for each focal hen. To do

so, the first-laid egg from each study nest was immediately candled (Weller 1956). These methods provided estimates of the number of days the first-laid egg had been incubated on the day of heart-rate monitoring equipment deployment, and hence incubation stage was updated and matched to the days of bear events.

Air temperature and wind speed

To examine meteorological conditions for each focal hen during heart-rate sampling to polar bear presence, we collected measurements of air temperature (in degrees Celsius) and wind speed (m/s) from Kestrel weather meters (Kestrel® 5500) deployed at multiple locations within the colony. Kestrels were set to log weather parameter estimates at every 30-minute interval. For each eider, we sampled weather from the Kestrel that was collecting data nearest to the focal nest and we sampled these measurements at the closest 30-minute interval to our heart rate sampling times to bears.

Statistical analyses

We used a general linear mixed model (LMM) using the *lmer4* package (Bates et al. 2015) to analyse magnitude of change of eider heart rates to polar bears. Fixed effects included distance to the bear, exposure duration to the bear (with duration corrected for size of viewshed), time of day, incubation stage, air temperature, wind speed, and the interaction between distance and exposure duration. We tested incubation stage in our model since Viblanc et al. (2015) discovered an effect of breeding stage on king penguin magnitude of change in heart rate. We tested air temperature and wind speed since they have both been found to influence rate of oxygen consumption (positively related to heart

rate) in adélie penguins (*Pygoscelis adeliae*) and blue-eyed shags (*Phalacrocorax* atriceps) (Chappell et al. 1989). Our nested random effect structure comprised of heartrate sample number nested within bear event and bear event nested within eider ID. We also included eider ID as a random effect to account for inter-individual differences among hens. We tested fixed effects using a backward elimination procedure by fitting the full model for magnitude of change in heart rate with maximum likelihood (ML) estimation (Zuur et al. 2009). Main effects and our interaction term were tested sequentially using the backward elimination procedure, leaving in the final model only the fixed effects associated with the outcome, considering a 10% level of significance (i.e., a standard retention criterion for backward elimination, Bursac et al. 2008). The final model with retained fixed effects was refitted using restricted maximum likelihood (REML) estimation. We assessed the variance explained by the fixed effects (i.e., marginal \mathbb{R}^2) and the variance explained by the entire model, including both fixed and random effects (i.e., conditional R²) for our model, using the package MuMIn (Bartoń 2019). We assessed model fit by comparison of second-order Akaike Information Criterion (AICc) scores between all competing models in the backward elimination process, as well as an intercept-only model, all fit with maximum likelihood (ML) estimation (Zuur et al. 2009), using the package MuMIn (Bartoń 2019).

All analyses were performed in R v3.5.0 (R Core Team 2018), with an RStudio interface (RStudio Team 2019). All data manipulation was done with packages *dplyr* (Wickham et al. 2019) and *tidyverse* (Wickham 2017). We checked variance inflation factors (VIF) (i.e., multicollinearity) for all predictor variables using the *car* package (Fox and Weisberg 2019); and model residuals were assessed by visual inspection of Q-Q
plots. For all statistical significance tests, we used $\alpha = 0.1$. All plots of predicted response variables, calculated under the package *ggeffects* (Lüdecke 2018), were constructed under the package *ggplot2* (Wickham 2016).

Results

We collected 28 heart-rate samples within 21 bear events from our 8 focal eiders. We estimated that ten individual bears were involved in our bear events and were all independent ages (i.e., subadult and/or adult) and of average to good body condition (i.e., no thin, skinny, or obese appearance; polarbearinternational.org). For most individual eiders, we were able to collect multiple heart-rate samples from each eider, although three birds either did not have a bear present in its viewshed during the study period, the bird was not on her nest when a bear was present, or we were unable to collect a sample of sufficient audio quality. Magnitude of change of eider heart rates ranged from -20 beats/10s to 39 beats/10s (average 1.39 beats/10s). Distances to bears ranged from 12 meters to 286.67 meters (average 110.81 m) and exposure duration to bear ranged from 1 minute to 14 minutes (average 4.05 min). Areal size of eider viewshed ranged from 5730 m^2 to 33,231 m^2 (average 18,897 m^2). Incubation stage ranged from 4 days to 19 days (average 11 days). Air temperature ranged from 1.1°C to 9°C (average 3.53°C), and wind speed ranged from 0 m/s to 8.3 m/s (average 4.53 m/s). Our model with magnitude of change in heart rate as a function of distance to polar bear, incubation stage, air temperature and wind speed best explained our data according to our backward elimination approach (Table 3.2). In this model, we detected a marginally significant relationship between magnitude of change of eider heart rates and distance ($F_{1,12.78}$ =

4.49, P = 0.054), where eiders had a greater positive increase in heart rate to closer bears (Figure 3.4). Magnitude of change in heart rate was also significantly negatively related to incubation stage ($F_{1,7.87} = 5.45$, P = 0.048, Figure 3.5), air temperature ($F_{1,15.92} = 11.92$, P = 0.003, Figure 3.6), and wind speed ($F_{1,15,14} = 4.62$, P = 0.048, Figure 3.7), where changes in heart rate over baseline decreased as incubation stage progressed, and temperature and wind speed increased. Based on model parameter estimates, eider heart rate was estimated to be influenced by incubation stage, air temperature, and wind speed more than distance to polar bear (Table 3.2). There was no significant relationship between magnitude of change in heart rate and exposure duration to polar bears or time of day, and there was no significant interaction between distance and exposure duration to polar bears. Much of our variance was explained by our final model (including random effects; condition $R^2 = 0.8847$) versus our fixed effects-only model (marginal $R^2 =$ 0.3727). According to AICc, the final model received equal support to the intercept-only model (Table 3.4), in that variation in magnitude of change in heart rate was also driven by our random effect structure, namely, eider ID (Table 3.3), suggesting a large degree of inter-individual variation in magnitude of change in eider heart rate. We did not detect collinearity in any fixed effects within each model based on estimated VIFs < 5.

Discussion

Using non-invasive, observational, and spatially explicit approaches, our goal was to monitor eider heart rate in response to variation in real predation risk to assess eiders' capacity to perceive changes in the degree of threat posed by a predator for which eiders have limited eco-evolutionary experience. Results from our study show mild support for dynamic risk assessment of polar-bear threat, in contrast to our predictions. Eiders in the current study exhibited (albeit to a marginal extent) risk-induced trait responses (i.e., birds modulated their heart rate) to varying levels of risk based on distance from foraging polar bears, but not to varying exposure durations. Additionally, increase in heart rate to decreasing distance from bears was mild in comparison to alteration in heart rate to some of the additional covariates assessed in this study. These results suggest that although eiders perceive the risk of polar bears as adult- and egg predators, they do not perceive their full risk (Carthey and Banks 2014). Historically, birds and bird eggs were a rare occurrence in polar bear diets (Harrington 1965, Lønø 1970, Russell 1975, Gormezano and Rockwell 2013), and bear presence in bird colonies was seldomly reported during birds' nesting season (Lønø 1970, Russell 1975) as polar bears focused on hunting seals, their preferred diet item, from the sea ice during this time (Russell 1975). Eiders in this Arctic system therefore have limited evolutionary experience with polar bears during incubation and have instead evolved antipredator adaptations to avoid predation by their primary arctic fox nest predators (see Introduction; Larson 1960, Ahlén and Andersson 1970, Schmutz et al. 1983, Mehlum 1991). Polar bears differ from arctic foxes in their egg foraging styles: arctic fox rely heavily on scent (Bahr 1989), whereas polar bears are highly visual (Jagielski et al. 2021). Arctic fox often cause partial losses to eider clutches by taking a single egg to cache during each nest visitation (Bahr 1989), whereas polar bears typically consume all eggs in a clutch upon visiting the nest (Jagielski et al. 2021). These differences in predation behaviour likely require different antipredator adaptations by eider prey. However, eiders are a long-lived species (Waltho and Coulson 2015) and are thus unlikely to have adapted to polar bears by way of rapid evolution (Carthey and

Blumstein 2018). Instead, eiders may have learned to recognize polar bears through experience with bears over ontogenetic time (reviewed in Carthey and Blumstein 2018; e.g., burrowing bettongs *Bettongia lesueur*, Steindler et al. 2020). We discuss the consumptive and non-consumptive effects eiders are expected to endure based on our results in the following discussion after considering possible sources of inter- and intraeider variation in heart rate responses to bears.

Heart rate responses to various distances to polar bears

Eiders exhibited a marginal increase in heart rate response from baseline to bears the closer bears were observed to their nest. Such increased responsiveness (e.g., via heart rate) to predator distance has also been reported in other nesting species (e.g., wandering albatross Diomedea exulans, Weimerskirch et al. 2002; warblers Acrocephalus sp, Kleindorfer et al. 2005). Bears in the current study were observed at distances from eiders (i.e., 12 to 18.5 m) within the range eiders have been reported flushing to disturbance (e.g., 0-20 m to human approaches, Seltmann et al. 2014; 3-15 m and 3-18 m to approaching arctic fox and control models, respectively, see *Chapter 2*), but also above the range at which eiders have been reported to flush from visual polar bear stimuli (i.e., 1-9 m, see *Chapter 2*). Because neurophysiological responses typically precede any behavioural responses (reviewed in Ydenberg and Dill 1986, Weston et al. 2012), the mounted heart rate response of eiders when bears were observed closer to their nests suggests the use of active defense (i.e., fight-or-flight response), a strategy commonly exhibited by animals and associated with an increase in heart rate and mobilization of energy for quick flight (Bandler et al. 2000). Thus, the regulation of heart rate by eiders

to varying distance from bears in the current study suggests female eiders dynamically updated their assessment of risk to bears and thus perceived risk posed by polar bears.

Heart rate responses to various exposure durations to polar bears

Eider heart rate remained unaffected by exposure duration to visible polar bears. From the perspective of the bear, a bear could technically see an eider at any location within the eider's viewshed (Aben et al. 2018). Thus, the longer that a bear is within an eider's viewshed, the greater chance of the bear detecting and targeting the eider and their nest. Similarly, bystander king penguins displayed heightened heart rates the longer the duration of a nearby agnostic encounter since longer conflicts can increase risk of redirected aggression for bystanders (Viblanc et al. 2012). Further, an eider's 'area of visibility' should represent their 'ratio of risk', in that eiders with a narrower, and therefore limited spatial visibility range should perceive a polar bear detected within their viewshed as a greater risk than an eider with a larger viewshed where risk is diluted. Additionally, incubating birds have been shown to compensate for information deficits upon detection of a threat cue by behavioural risk assessment mechanisms such as increasing vigilance (e.g., incubating brown thornbill *Acanthiza pusilla* to predator calls, Schneider and Griesser 2013); and heart rate responses have been positively linked to vigilance following the detection of a threat in several species of birds (reviewed in Beauchamp 2017). Thus, our finding that eiders did not vary their heart rate response across variation in large (i.e., exposed to a bear for a long duration in a small viewshed) and small (i.e., exposed to a bear for a short duration in a large viewshed) exposure durations suggest eiders do not perceive the full risk posed by polar bears.

Intra- and inter-individual variation in physiological responses

In the current study, we also discovered intra-eider and inter-individual variation in the magnitude of change in heart rate (from baseline heart rate). Some of this variation was accounted for via incubation stage and meteorological conditions. Specifically, the heartrate responses of eiders lessened the further into incubation. Heart-rate responses associated with flight may be reduced with incubation investment (e.g., incubation stage and clutch size) due to parents focusing their energy on reproduction over survival (e.g., common eider, Jaatinen et al. 2014), or in attempts to save energy as they become more energetically limited (Criscuolo et al. 2002, Cyr et al. 2008). Heart-rate responses also increased with decreasing temperature and wind speeds. One way in which endothermic animals maintain high body temperature is by increasing metabolic heat production in low ambient temperatures (Heinrich 1977). Metabolic heat production requires an increase in cardiac output and thus increased heart rate (reviewed in Price and Dzialowski 2018). Gabrielsen et al. (1991) studied eider thermoregulation in a field-laboratory setting and found that female eider metabolism increased as ambient temperature decreased below eiders' lower critical temperature of 7°C. Indeed, in most cases, eiders in the present study were exposed to temperatures below this lower critical temperature which explains increasing heart rates with decreasing temperature. This relationship may be further exacerbated during incubation as incubating birds must compensate for the reduced efficiency of heat transfer to their eggs with decreasing ambient temperature (reviewed in Tazawa and Causey 2000). In one study, eiders protected (with artificial shelter) from extreme temperatures (and presumably wind) saved more energy than birds in exposed nests (Fast et al. 2007). Interestingly however, our observed negative

influence of wind speed on eider heart rate is surprising since wind can dissipate body heat by disrupting plumage and reducing the bird's thermal insulation (Weimerskirch et al. 2002). Indeed, wind speed has been positively associated with energy expenditure in incubating eiders (i.e., positive correlate of heart rate, Hilde et al. 2016) and incubating adélie penguins *Pygoscelis adeliae* (Culik et al. 1989). It is possible postural changes where birds may be altering their overall height on the nest to reduce exposure to wind, and/or the use of plumage compression to avoid deleterious cooling effects of the wind (Taylor 1986) could both result in decreased energetic expenditure and hence lowered heart-rate responses. More research is needed to explain these results.

The remaining inter-specific variation in heart rates can be driven by intrinsic and extrinsic factors not already accounted for in our system. For instance, female body condition (i.e., mass) and breeding experience (i.e., age) can influence the degree of risk perception, manifested in terms of stress-induced physiology (e.g., circulating corticosterone) and antipredator behaviour (e.g., flight initiation distance) (reviewed in Wingfield and Sapolsky 2003; e.g., common eider, Seltmann et al. 2012). To the best of our knowledge, no studies have related predator-induced heart rate to body condition, although basal and average heart rates have been positively correlated with mass of incubating birds (e.g., wandering albatross, Weimerskirch et al. 2002). Further, incubating birds have been shown to have differential stress-induced heart rate responses based on experience with predators. For example, Snares penguins (*Eudyptes robustus*) previously exposed to human activities in the preceding breeding season showed stronger heart rate responses to human approaches than birds without experience (Ellenberg et al. 2012). Although it was not logistically possible to determine eider hen age or condition,

these two factors can credibly contribute to the variation seen between individuals in our system.

Lastly, variation in eider heart rates may be attributable to individual characteristics of the bears. To assess risk, eiders use a complex set of overt and subtle predatory cues that provide information on a predator's likely future actions. Direct and rapid predator approaches, and those where the predator's head and gaze directly face the focal prey, are perceived as a greater risk than tangential and slower approaches or when the predator's head and gaze are averted (Burger and Gochfeld 1981, Bateman and Fleming 2011, Lee et al. 2013, Davidson and Clayton 2016). In the current study, we were unable to quantify possible predator cues such as whether bears were mobile, their speed, and their direction of attention (i.e., body, head, and gaze) in relation to focal eiders. Current work is being conducted to assess flushing responses of eiders to multiple subtle cues by foraging polar bears (Barnas et al. in prep), but similar work assessing eider heart rate to these cues is needed to better characterize eiders' ability to perceive risk from polar bears. In future work of this type, a larger sample size would also allow us to control for some of these intra- and inter-individual differences in factors that may be affecting individual eider heart rate responses to natural variation in polar bear predation risk.

Conclusion

Our findings on incubating common eiders reveal novel insights on the adaptive capacity for eiders to perceive variation in risk posed by their increasing interaction with polar bear egg predators. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first quantitative examination

of avian physiology in response to polar bears. We assume a fitness-driven role for dynamic risk assessment in birds since heart rate responses can affect individual fitness via its associated energetic costs (e.g., European starlings Sturnus vulgaris, Cyr et al. 2008). Our finding that eiders updated their responses to one of the conspicuous indicators of risk (distance) examined in the current study suggests eiders are able to recognize polar bears as threatening, but their lack of physiological response to exposure duration by bears indicates eiders cannot fully recognize when polar bears pose a greater risk and are thus less likely to avoid capture/nest predation. Thus, compared to responses to evolved predators, eiders are expected to endure more consumptive effects and a slightly reduced level of non-consumptive (i.e., energetic) effects from the increasing frequency in interactions with polar bears (Sih et al. 2009). Although population modelling suggests eider's population growth rate is mainly determined by variations in adult survival, survival rates have been relatively stable over time, whereas fluctuations in eider's population size has been driven primarily by variations in annual productivity (Coulson 2010, Wilson et al. 2012). Bears have been observed in 30% of eider colonies in the Hudson Strait (Iverson et al. 2014). The effect of polar-bear predation on the reproductive fitness value of hens can be dramatic, and therefore our findings of a weak anti-predator response to polar bears have implications for eider population persistence in these colonies.

Literature Cited

Aben, J., P. Pellikka, and J. M. J. Travis (2018). A call for viewshed ecology: advancing our understanding of the ecology of information through viewshed analysis.
Methods in Ecology and Evolution 9:624–633.

Adolphs, R. (2013). The biology of fear. Current Biology 23:R79–R93.

- Ahlén, I., and Å. Andersson (1970). Breeding ecology of an eider population on Spitsbergen. Ornis Scandinavica 1:83–106.
- Amstrup, S. C. (2003). The polar bear Ursus maritimus. In Wild mammals of North America: biology, management, and conservation (G. A. Feldhamer, B. C. Thompson and J. A. Chapman, Editors). John Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, pp. 587–610.
- Audacity Team (2019). Audacity(R): free audio editor and recorder [Computer application]. Version 2.3.2 retrieved Oct 10th 2019 from https://audacityteam.org/.
- Bahr, J. (1989). The hunting ecology of arctic foxes (Alopex lagopus) near Cape Churchill, Manitoba.
- Bandler, R., K. A. Keay, N. Floyd, and J. Price (2000). Central circuits mediating patterned autonomic activity during active vs. passive emotional coping. Brain Research Bulletin 53:95–104.
- Bartoń, K. (2019). MuMIn: multi-model inference. R package version 1.43.15. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=MuMIn.

Bateman, P. W., and P. A. Fleming (2011). Who are you looking at? Hadeda ibises use

direction of gaze, head orientation and approach speed in their risk assessment of a potential predator. Journal of Zoology 285:316–323.

Bates, D., M. Maechler, B. Bolker, and S. Walker (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. Journal of Statistical Software 67:1–48.

Beauchamp, G. (2017). What can vigilance tell us about fear? Animal Sentience 2:1–31.

- Blumstein, D. T. (2003). Flight-initiation distance in birds is dependent on intruder starting distance. The Journal of Wildlife Management 67:852–857.
- Borneman, T. E., E. T. Rose, and T. R. Simons (2014). Minimal changes in heart rate of incubating American oystercatchers (Haematopus palliatus) in response to human activity. The Condor 116:493–503.
- Bottitta, G. E., E. Nol, and H. G. Gilchrist (2003). Effects of experimental manipulation of incubation length on behavior and body mass of Common Eiders in the Canadian Arctic. Waterbirds 26:100–107.
- Buitron, D. (2019). Variability in the responses of Black-billed magpies to natural predators. Behaviour 87:209–236.
- Burger, J., and M. Gochfeld (1981). Discrimination of the threat of direct versus tangential approach to the nest by incubating herring and great black-backed gulls.
 Journal of Comparative and Physiological Psychology 95:676–684.
- Bursac, Z., C. H. Gauss, D. K. Williams, and D. W. Hosmer (2008). Purposeful selection of variables in logistic regression. Source Code for Biology and Medicine 3: 17.

- Carravieri, A., M. S. Müller, K. Yoda, S. Hayama, and M. Yamamoto (2016). Dominant parasympathetic modulation of heart rate and heart rate variability in a wild-caught seabird. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology 89:263–276.
- Carthey, A. J. R., and P. B. Banks (2014). Naïveté in novel ecological interactions: lessons from theory and experimental evidence. Biological Reviews 89:932–949.
- Carthey, A. J. R., and D. T. Blumstein (2018). Predicting predator recognition in a changing world. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 33:106–115.
- Chappell, M. A., K. R. Morgan, S. L. Souza, and T. L. Bucher (1989). Convection and thermoregulation in two Antarctic seabirds. Journal of Comparative Physiology B 159:313–322.
- Coulson, J. C. (2010). A long-term study of the population dynamics of Common eiders Somateria mollissima: why do several parameters fluctuate markedly? Bird Study 57:1–18.
- Creel, S., E. Dröge, J. M'soka, D. Smit, M. Becker, D. Christianson, and P. Schuette (2017). The relationship between direct predation and antipredator responses: a test with multiple predators and multiple prey. Ecology 98:2081–2092.
- Criscuolo, F., G. W. Gabrielsen, J.-P. Gendner, and Y. L. Maho (2002). Body mass regulation during incubation in female common eiders Somateria mollissima. Journal of Avian Biology 33:83–88.
- Culik, B., D. Adelung, M. Heise, R. P. Wilson, N. R. Coria, and H. J. Spairani (1989). In situ heart rate and activity of incubating Adélie penguins (Pygoscelis adeliae). Polar

Biology 9:365-370.

- Cyr, N. E., M. Wikelski, and L. M. Romero (2008). Increased energy expenditure but decreased stress responsiveness during molt. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology: Ecological and Evolutionary Approaches 81:452–462.
- Davidson, G. L., and N. S. Clayton (2016). New perspectives in gaze sensitivity research. Learning and Behavior 44:9–17.
- Ellenberg, U., T. Mattern, D. M. Houston, L. S. Davis, and P. J. Seddon (2012). Previous experiences with humans affect responses of Snares penguins to experimental disturbance. Journal of Ornithology 153:621–631.
- Ellenberg, U., T. Mattern, and P. J. Seddon (2013). Heart rate responses provide an objective evaluation of human disturbance stimuli in breeding birds. Conservation Physiology 1:1–11.

Esri Inc (no date). ArcMap 10.6.1. Redlands, CA: Esri Inc. 2018. Software.

- Fast, P. L. F., H. G. Gilchrist, and R. G. Clark (2007). Experimental evaluation of nest shelter effects on weight loss in incubating common eiders Somateria mollissima. Journal of Avian Biology 38:205–213.
- Fox, J., and S. Weisberg (2019). An R companion to applied regression. Third edit. Sage, Thousand Oaks CA.
- Gabrielsen, G. W., F. Mehlum, H. E. Karlsen, O. Andresen, and H. Parker (1991).
 Energy cost during incubation and thermoregulation in the female common eider
 Somateria mollissima. Norsk Polarinstitutt Skrifter 195:51–62.

- Gabrielsen, G. W., and E. N. Smith (1997). Physiological responses of wildlife to disturbance. In Wildlife and recreationists: coexistence through management and research (R. L. Knight and K. J. Gutzwiller, Editors). Washington, D.C. and Covelo, California.
- Gaston, A. J., R. Decker, F. G. Cooch, and A. Reed (1986). The distribution of larger species of birds breeding on the coasts of Foxe Basin and Northern Hudson Bay, Canada. Arctic 39:285–296.
- Gilman, S. E., M. C. Urban, J. Tewksbury, G. W. Gilchrist, and R. D. Holt (2010). A framework for community interactions under climate change. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 25:325–331.
- Gormezano, L. J., and R. F. Rockwell (2013). What to eat now? shifts in polar bear diet during the ice-free season in western Hudson Bay. Ecology and Evolution 3:3509–3523.

Harrington, C. R. (1965). The life and status of the polar bear. Oryx 8:169-176.

- Hawlena, D., and O. J. Schmitz (2010). Physiological stress as a fundamental mechanism linking predation to ecosystem functioning. The American Naturalist 176:537–556.
- Heinrich, B. (1977). Why have some animals evolved to regulate a high body temperature? The American Naturalist 111:623–640.
- Hilde, C. H., C. Pélabon, L. Guéry, G. W. Gabrielsen, and S. Descamps (2016). Mind the wind: microclimate effects on incubation effort of an arctic seabird. Ecology and Evolution 6:1914–1921.

- Iverson, S. A., H. G. Gilchrist, P. A. Smith, A. J. Gaston, and M. R. Forbes (2014). Longer ice-free seasons increase the risk of nest depredation by polar bears for colonial breeding birds in the Canadian Arctic. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 281:20133128.
- Jaatinen, K., M. W. Seltmann, and M. Öst (2014). Context-dependent stress responses and their connections to fitness in a landscape of fear. Journal of Zoology 294:147– 153.
- Jagielski, P. M., C. J. Dey, H. G. Gilchrist, E. S. Richardson, O. P. Love, and C. A. D. Semeniuk (2021). Polar bears are inefficient predators of seabird eggs. Royal Society Open Science 8:210391.
- Jean-Gagnon, F., P. Legagneux, G. Gilchrist, S. Bélanger, O. P. Love, and J. Bêty (2018). The impact of sea ice conditions on breeding decisions is modulated by body condition in an arctic partial capital breeder. Oecologia 186:1–10.
- Kleindorfer, S., B. Fessl, and H. Hoi (2005). Avian nest defence behaviour: assessment in relation to predator distance and type, and nest height. Animal Behaviour 69:307– 313.
- LaManna, J. A., and T. E. Martin (2016). Costs of fear: behavioural and life-history responses to risk and their demographic consequences vary across species. Ecology Letters 19:403–413.
- Larson, S. (1960). On the influence of the Arctic fox Alopex lagopus on the distribution of Arctic birds. Oikos 11:276–305.

- Lee, S., S. Hwang, Y. Joe, H. Cha, G. Joo, H. Lee, J. Kim, and P. G. Jablonski (2013). Direct look from a predator shortens the risk-assessment time by prey. PLoS ONE 8:1–7.
- Legagneux, P., H. L. Hennin, H. G. Gilchrist, T. D. Williams, O. P. Love, and J. Bêty (2016). Unpredictable perturbation reduces breeding propensity regardless of prelaying reproductive readiness in a partial capital breeder. Journal of Avian Biology 47:880–886.
- Lønø, O. (1970). The polar bear (Ursus maritimus Phipps) in the Svalbard area. Norsk Polarinstitutt Skrifter 149:1–117.
- Löw, A., P. J. Lang, J. C. Smith, and M. M. Bradley (2008). Both predator and prey: emotional arousal in threat and reward. Psychological Science 19:865–873.
- Lüdecke, D. (2018). ggeffects: tidy data frames of marginal effects from regression models. Journal of Open Source Software 3:772.
- Magaña, M., J. C. Alonso, C. A. Martín, L. M. Bautista, and B. Martín (2010). Nest-site selection by Great bustards Otis tarda suggests a trade-off between concealment and visibility. Ibis 152:77–89.
- Meager, J. J., P. Domenici, A. Shingles, and A. C. Utne-Palm (2006). Escape responses in juvenile Atlantic cod Gadus morhua L.: the effects of turbidity and predator speed. The Journal of Experimental Biology 209:4174–4184.

Mehlum, F. (1991). Eider studies in Svalbard. Norsk Polarinstitutt Skrifter 195:1-68.

Pagano, A. M., G. M. Durner, S. C. Amstrup, K. S. Simac, and G. S. York (2012). Long-

distance swimming by polar bears (Ursus maritimus) of the southern Beaufort Sea during years of extensive open water. Canadian Journal of Zoology 90:663–676.

- Parker, H., and H. Holm (1990). Patterns of nutrient and energy expenditure in female Common eiders nesting in the high Arctic. The Auk 107:660–668.
- Parmesan, C., and G. Yohe (2003). A globally coherent fingerprint of climate change. Nature 421:37–42.
- Peacor, S. D., B. T. Barton, D. L. Kimbro, A. Sih, and M. J. Sheriff (2020). A framework and standardized terminology to facilitate the study of predation-risk effects. Ecology 101:1–10.
- Polar Bear International (no date). Body condition project. [Online.] Available at https://polarbearsinternational.org/research/see-our-projects/body-condition-project/.
- Price, E. R., and E. M. Dzialowski (2018). Development of endothermy in birds: patterns and mechanisms. Journal of Comparative Physiology B: Biochemical, Systemic, and Environmental Physiology 188:373–391.
- Prop, J., J. Aars, B.-J. Bãrdsen, S. A. Hanssen, C. Bech, S. Bourgeon, J. de Fouw, G. W. Gabrielsen, J. Lang, E. Noreen, T. Oudman, et al. (2015). Climate change and the increasing impact of polar bears on bird populations. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution 3:1–12.
- R Core Team (2018). R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria.

Rockwell, R. F., and L. J. Gormezano (2009). The early bear gets the goose: climate

change, polar bears and lesser snow geese in western Hudson Bay. Polar Biology 32:539–547.

- Rockwell, R. F., L. J. Gormezano, and D. N. Koons (2011). Trophic matches and mismatches: can polar bears reduce the abundance of nesting snow geese in western Hudson Bay? Oikos 120:696–709.
- RStudio Team (2019). RStudio: integrated development for R. RStudio, Inc., Boston, MA.
- Russell, R. H. (1975). The food habits of polar bears of James Bay and Southwest Hudson Bay in Summer and Autumn. Arctic 28:117–129.
- Sahanatien, V., E. Peacock, and A. E. Derocher (2015). Population substructure and space use of Foxe Basin polar bears. Ecology and Evolution 5:2851–2864.
- Schmutz, J. K., R. J. Robertson, and F. Cooke (1983). Colonial nesting of the Hudson Bay eider duck. Canadian Journal of Zoology 61:2424–2433.
- Schneider, N. A., and M. Griesser (2013). Incubating females use dynamic risk assessment to evaluate the risk posed by different predators. Behavioral Ecology 24:47–52.
- Seltmann, M. W., K. Jaatinen, B. B. Steele, and M. Öst (2014). Boldness and stress responsiveness as drivers of nest-site selection in a ground-nesting bird. Ethology 120:77–89.
- Seltmann, M. W., M. Öst, K. Jaatinen, S. Atkinson, K. Mashburn, and T. Hollmén (2012). Stress responsiveness, age and body condition interactively affect flight

initiation distance in breeding female eiders. Animal Behaviour 84:889-896.

- Sih, A., D. I. Bolnick, B. Luttbeg, J. L. Orrock, S. D. Peacor, L. M. Pintor, E. Preisser, J.
 S. Rehage, and J. R. Vonesh (2009). Predator-prey naïveté, antipredator behavior, and the ecology of predator invasions. Oikos 119:1–12.
- Smith, P. A., K. H. Elliott, A. J. Gaston, and H. G. Gilchrist (2010). Has early ice clearance increased predation on breeding birds by polar bears? Polar Biology 33:1149–1153.
- Stankowich, T., and D. T. Blumstein (2005). Fear in animals: a meta-analysis and review of risk assessment. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 272:2627–2634.
- Steenweg, R. J., H. L. Hennin, J. Bêty, H. G. Gilchrist, T. D. Williams, G. T. Crossin, and O. P. Love (2015). Sources of diel variation in energetic physiology in an Arctic-breeding, diving seaduck. General and Comparative Endocrinology 216:39– 45.
- Steindler, L. A., D. T. Blumstein, R. West, K. E. Moseby, and M. Letnic (2020).Exposure to a novel predator induces visual predator recognition by naïve prey.Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 74:102.
- Stirling, I., and A. E. Derocher (1993). Possible impacts of climatic warming on polar bears. Arctic 46:240–245.
- Stirling, I., N. J. Lunn, J. Iacozza, C. Elliott, and M. Obbard (2004). Polar bear distribution and abundance on the southwestern Hudson Bay coast during open

water season, in relation to population trends and annual ice patterns. Arctic 57:15–26.

- Stirling, I., and C. L. Parkinson (2006). Possible effects of climate warming on selected populations of polar bears (Ursus maritimus) in the Canadian Arctic. Arctic 59:261– 275.
- Taylor, J. R. E. (1986). Thermal insulation of the down and feathers of Pygoscelid penguin chicks and the unique properties of penguin feathers. The Auk 103:160– 168.
- Tazawa, H., and G. C. Whittow (2000). Incubation physiology. In Sturkie's Avian Physiology. pp. 617–634.
- Thackeray, S. J., T. H. Sparks, M. Frederiksen, S. Burthe, P. J. Bacon, J. R. Bell, M. S.
 Botham, T. M. Brereton, P. W. Bright, L. Carvalho, T. Clutton-Brock, et al. (2010).
 Trophic level asynchrony in rates of phenological change for marine, freshwater and terrestrial environments. Global Change Biology 16:3304–3313.
- Tylianakis, J. M., R. K. Didham, J. Bascompte, and D. A. Wardle (2008). Global change and species interactions in terrestrial ecosystems. Ecology Letters 11:1351–1363.
- Viblanc, V. A., A. D. Smith, B. Gineste, M. Kauffmann, and R. Groscolas (2015).
 Modulation of heart rate response to acute stressors throughout the breeding season in the king penguin Aptenodytes patagonicus. The Journal of Experimental Biology 218:1686–1692.
- Viblanc, V. A., V. Valette, M. Kauffmann, N. Malosse, and R. Groscolas (2012). Coping

with social stress: heart rate responses to agonistic interactions in king penguins. Behavioral Ecology 23:1178–1185.

Waltho, C., and J. Coulson (2015). The common eider. T & AD Poyser. London, UK.

- Weimerskirch, H., S. A. Shaffer, G. Mabille, J. Martin, O. Boutard, and J. L. Rouanet (2002). Heart rate and energy expenditure of incubating wandering albatrosses:
 basal levels, natural variation, and the effects of human disturbance. The Journal of Experimental Biology 205:475–483.
- Weller, M. W. (1956). A simple field candler for waterfowl eggs. The Journal of Wildlife Management 20:111–113.
- Weston, M. A., E. M. McLeod, D. T. Blumstein, and P.-J. Guay (2012). A review of flight-initiation distances and their application to managing disturbance to Australian birds. Emu 112:269–286.
- Wickham, H. (2016). ggplot2: elegant graphics for data analysis. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Wickham, H. (2017). tidyverse: easily install and load the "tidyverse". R package version 1.2.1. https://cran.r-project.org/package=tidyverse:1–5.
- Wickham, H., R. François, L. Henry, and K. Müller (2019). dplyr: A grammar of data manipulation. R package version 0.8.3. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=dplyr.
- Wilson, H. M., P. L. Flint, A. N. Powell, J. B. Grand, and C. L. Moran (2012). Population ecology of breeding Pacific common eiders on the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta, Alaska. Wildlife Monographs 182:1–28.

- Wingfield, J. C., and R. M. Sapolsky (2003). Reproduction and resistance to stress: when and how. Journal of Neuroendocrinology 15:711–724.
- Ydenberg, R. C., and L. M. Dill (1986). The economics of fleeing from predators. Advances in the Study of Behavior 16:229–249.
- Zuur, A. F., E. N. Ieno, N. J. Walker, A. A. Saveliev, and G. M. Smith (2009). Mixed effects models and extensions in ecology with R. Smart Society: A Sociological Perspective on Smart Living. Springer.

Tables

Settings	Selected Setting				
	Mounted	Ground-	Ground-based		
		based	(Focal Nests)		
Capture Mode (Mode)	Video	Video	Video		
Capture Delay	1s	5s	5s		
Multishot Modes (Multishot)	Off	Off	Off		
Video Resolution (Video Quality)	High	Ultra	Ultra		
Video Length	30s	2min	2min		
Smart IR Video (Smart IR)	Off	Off	Off		
Adjustable IR Flash (Night Exp)	Long Range	Power Save	Power Save		
Temperature Units (Temp)	С	С	С		
Info Strip	On	On	On		
SD Card Management	Off	Off	Off		

Table 3. 1. Trail camera (Browning Inc. model BTC-5HDPX) settings selected to record polar bear (*Ursus maritimus*) movement behaviour on Mitivik Island, Nunavut Canada

Table 3. 2. Model parameter estimates and standard error for fixed effects used to explain variation in magnitude of change in heart rate among nesting common eiders (*Somateria mollissima*) on Mitivik Island

Model Parameter	Estimate ± SE
Intercept	51.216 ± 16.07
Distance	-0.049 ± 0.02
Incubation stage	-1.953 ± 0.84
Air temperature	-3.418 ± 1.00
Wind speed	-2.107 ± 0.98

Table 3. 3. Model parameter variance and standard deviation for random effects used to explain variation in magnitude of change in heart rate among nesting common eiders (*Somateria mollissima*) on Mitivik Island

Model Parameter	Variance ± SD
Sample number[Bear event]	2.86 ± 1.69
Bear event[Eider ID]	31.67 ± 5.63
Eider ID	116.50 ± 10.79
Residual	34.01 ± 5.83

Table 3. 4. Predicting the magnitude of change in heart rate (i.e., "delta heart rate", beats/10s) in female incubating common eiders (*Somateria mollissima*) in response to polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) based on AICc model selection (ML estimation). Models included here were used in a backward stepwise regression until significant effects remained (via ML estimation). AICc weight represents the relative likelihood of a model. Models are sorted by weight from most likely to less likely. The null model is represented by "magnitude of change in heart rate ~ 1"

Model	df	AIC _c	ΔAIC_{c}	Wi
Delta heart rate ~ distance + incubation stage + air	9	1843.4	0.00	0.428
temperature + wind speed				
Delta heart rate ~ 1	5	1844.1	0.70	0.302
Delta heart rate ~ distance + time of day + incubation	10	1845.2	1.78	0.176
stage + air temperature + wind speed				
Delta heart rate ~ distance + exposure duration + time	11	1847.4	3.94	0.060
of day + incubation stage + air temperature + wind				
speed				
Delta heart rate ~ distance + exposure duration + time	12	1848.5	5.03	0.035
of day + incubation stage + air temperature + wind				
speed + distance*exposure duration				

Figures



Figure 3. 1. Map of the study area, displaying our A) general location (Northern Hudson Bay, Nunavut, Canada), B) regional location (Southampton Island, Nunavut, Canada), and C) study site (Mitivik Island, Nunavut, Canada) with the distribution of trail cameras. Canadian Provinces and Territories map layers provided by ESRI online, accessed May 30, 2018



Figure 3. 2. Photographs of trail cameras (Browning Inc. model BTC-5HDPX) on Mitivik Island, Nunavut, Canada: A) mounted on a bird observation blind (arrows point to cameras), B) mounted on a wooden post (photo credit to Erica Geldart), and C) on the ground, next to an active common eider (*Somateria mollissima*) nest (photo credit to Russell Turner)



Figure 3. 3. Estimated vertical offset for a common eider's (*Somateria mollissima*) eye level above ground using a sitting male common eider decoy



Figure 3. 4. Magnitude of change in common eider (*Somateria mollissima*) heart rate (beats/10s) depending on their distance (m) from a polar bear on Mitivik Island. Solid and dashed lines are based on model predicted values \pm 95% confidence intervals, respectively



Figure 3. 5. Magnitude of change in common eider (*Somateria mollissima*) heart rate (beats/10s) depending on eider incubation stage (days). Solid and dashed lines are based on model predicted values \pm 95% confidence intervals, respectively



Figure 3. 6. Magnitude of change in common eider (*Somateria mollissima*) heart rate (beats/10s) depending on air temperature (degrees Celsius) on Mitivik Island. Solid and dashed lines are based on model predicted values \pm 95% confidence intervals, respectively



Figure 3. 7 Magnitude of change in common eider (*Somateria mollissima*) heart rate (beats/10s) depending on wind speed (m/s) on Mitivik Island. Solid and dashed lines are based on model predicted values \pm 95% confidence intervals, respectively

CHAPTER 4

General Discussion

Recent climate-driven matches between polar bears (Ursus maritimus) and Arctic nesting seabirds could have dramatic impacts on local bird populations. We know that recent increases in polar bear presence in common eider (Somateria mollissima, hereafter 'eider') breeding colonies is a major cause of reproductive failure for these birds (Iverson et al. 2014, Dey et al. 2017). Eider hens are predicted to increase their lay date due to earlier access to food resources from warming springs (and hence reduce their temporal overlap with arriving bears), and to relocate to other nesting areas after successive failed nesting attempts (Love et al. 2010, Öst et al. 2011, Chaulk and Mahoney 2012). Eiders have not yet responded predictably to increasing polar bear nest predation with largescale relocation (Dey et al. 2017, 2020); and their ability to reduce overlap and/or avoid nest predation and capture from polar bears may depend on their capacity to recognize polar bears as egg and adult predators (Guiden et al. 2019). The aim of my thesis was to assess whether eider behavioural and physiological responses to predators may provide them with the adaptive capacity to respond to increasing frequency in predation risk from polar bears. Overall, my results suggest eiders do not perceive the full risk posed by polar bears and are thus expected to suffer negative fitness consequences from this interaction.

Animals can only respond to the risks that they perceive, and these responses will be selected for only if perceived risk accurately reflects the true risk of predation (Creel et al. 2017). Interestingly, changes in sea-ice phenology are not only exacerbating predation risk from polar bears, but also reducing predation risk from arctic fox (*Vulpes lagopus*) due to reduced sea ice making islands inaccessible to them (Hanssen et al. 2013,

Iverson et al. 2014). Further, bear presence in eider colonies has a greater realized negative impact on nest success than fox presence (Iverson et al. 2014). However, the strength of eiders' physiological response to different mammalian egg predators in *Chapter 2* (i.e., greater response to the fox than bear) does not reflect recent patterns of actual egg predation by polar bears and arctic fox in eider colonies. Thus, our heart rate results from *Chapter* 2 suggest that because eiders are responding to predators at an evolutionary level they may not be able to physiologically respond to the ecological changes in risk currently being posed by bears. Our findings in *Chapter 3* suggesting that eiders perceive polar bears as a predation risk, but do not perceive their full risk, indicates eiders have insufficient experience to develop an appropriate response. Indeed, their failing to mediate their heart rate response across risk of predation by bears (i.e., exposure duration) could indicate that eiders do not perceive the full consequence that bears pose to their eggs and are therefore expected to suffer long-term fitness costs from reduced reproductive success. Across both chapters then, eiders' limited physiological and behavioural responses to bears suggests eiders are to some extent naïve to polar bears as egg predators (and potentially as adult predators as well), and are thus at risk of suffering marked consumptive impacts from their increasing interaction with them (Sih et al. 2009). A consequence of this weak recognition and ineffective response may place eider populations at risk of population decline (Carthey and Banks 2014, Carthey and Blumstein 2018) should polar bear-eider interactions occur on a larger spatial scale.

Whether eiders can recognize polar bears as sufficiently dangerous and respond accordingly depends then on whether their ecological experience with bears is enough (in terms of frequency and intensity of encounters, McLean et al. 2000, Griffin et al. 2001,

Sih et al. 2011, Sih 2013) for rapid change via evolution, learning, and/or plasticity (Carthey and Blumstein 2018). Eiders must first learn to assess the risk that bears pose to their clutch and/or undergo selection for individuals that display plasticity in their responses to predation risk from bears for eiders to have the adaptive capacity to cope with increasing frequency in polar bear egg predation. Eiders therefore still require more experience to develop an adaptive response to bears and may require conservation intervention to aid in their management. These ideas are further explored below.

Predator discrimination via rapid change

According to the literature, naïve prey that do not rapidly go extinct following a new interaction will not remain eternally naïve to predators (Sih et al. 2011, Saul and Jeschke 2015, Carthey and Banks 2016). Naïve prey can rapidly develop cue discrimination and adaptive antipredator behaviour by adaptation or learning, and/or may be able to respond accordingly to unfamiliar predators by being flexible in their responses. Since eiders are a long-lived species, they are unlikely to have developed predator recognition abilities via rapid molecular evolution given that their slow life histories may cause them to go extinct before they have had time to adapt (via selection) to change in predation risk from polar bears (Kokko and Sutherland 2001, Ofori et al. 2017, Thurman et al. 2020). Alternatively, several animals have shown the ability to recognize and develop antipredator responses within their lifetime via learning through experience (i.e., learned recognition hypothesis, Turner et al. 2006). For example, previously predator-naïve moose (*Alces alces*) whose calves had been killed by wolves made behavioural

adjustments to reduce predation (i.e., increased vigilance and latency to resume feeding) within a single generation (Berger et al. 2001). Likewise, novel predation risk altered parental behaviour (i.e., increased nest attendance and reduced activity at nest) of New Zealand bellbirds (*Anthornis melanura*) (Massaro et al. 2008). Results from our work here suggest eider recognition templates to polar bears require further refinement and this can possibly be accomplished through learning. Female eiders have demonstrated the ability to learn in other contexts: for example, eiders implement the 'win-stay versus lose-switch' learning rule, in that they choose habitats that have yielded good reproductive success the previous summer (i.e., have high site fidelity), and avoid (i.e., by relocation) habitats that yielded poor reproductive success (Öst et al. 2011). Future work is required that compares perception of, and responses to polar bears to determine if eiders can learn over their lifetime and make breeding changes based on that learning (e.g., burrowing bettongs *Bettongia lesueur*, Steindler et al. 2020).

Another possible mechanism for rapid change is via phenotypic plasticity (i.e., the ability of a single genotype to produce more than one alternative phenotype in response to environmental variation) (e.g., Brookes and Rochette 2007). Indeed, species that show plasticity in antipredator responses might incur a selective advantage with climate-driven changes in predator-prey dynamics (Hendry et al. 2008, Ducatez et al. 2020). For example, orange-crowned warblers (*Vermivora celata*) exhibited adaptive phenotypic plasticity (i.e., shifts in nest site placement and adjustments to feeding rate) to reduce nest predation risk following experimental introduction of a novel avian nest predator (Peluc et al. 2008). Specifically examining consistency vs. plasticity of individual antipredator

responses over time and across contexts provides insight into the stability vs. flexibility of traits, and their potential to evolve under natural selection (Dingemanse and Réale 2005, Sih et al. 2012, Sadoul et al. 2020). We detected a great degree of inter-eider variability in stress-induced flight initiation distance (FID) and heart rate responses (although repeated measures of these traits across time and situations could not be accomplished in this study). Eiders as a species exhibit flexibility in several life-history traits to variation in biotic and abiotic conditions, such as nesting phenology, egg/clutch size, and propensity to breed (Robertson 1995, Love et al. 2010, Chaulk and Mahoney 2012, Ost et al. 2018). However, FID to human approaches, a metric for boldness, showed high repeatability and has thus been deemed a valid personality trait in eiders (Seltmann et al. 2012). Furthermore, personality has been linked with physiological stress in this species (Seltmann et al. 2014) and was consistent with proactive and reactive stress coping styles (Koolhaas et al. 1999, Réale et al. 2010). For instance, reactive individuals are thought to be more sensitive to new information, store more information in long-term memory, and more readily modify their behaviours or defences when they do encounter a challenge (i.e., via plasticity), and thus are predicted to make faster progress in the face of change (Sih and Giudice 2012; e.g., zebrafish Danio rerio, Baker and Wong 2019; Sadoul et al. 2020). If variation in eider antipredator responses are indeed attributable to different coping styles (i.e., are a heritable trait), we might expect differential selection on individuals based on their differential capacity for learning and plasticity (Sih et al. 2012, Sadoul et al. 2020).

Assuming rapid selection on personality and therefore the capacity to learn, how exactly could rapid learning that bears are a threat or adaptive plasticity help to mitigate
the impacts of bear predation on eider nests? First, eiders that develop adaptive responses to polar bears by learning and/or plasticity may alter their nest defense behaviours (e.g., escape) to prevent bears from eating their nests in the short-term. In support of this outcome, recent work on Mitivik (East Bay) Island found polar bears ignore many nests in their immediate trajectory, but do use visual cues (i.e., flushing eider hens) to locate nests (Rockwell and Gormezano 2009, Jagielski et al. 2021a). Thus, a long-distance flush may be adaptive if the flushing hen is not seen by the polar bear, or if the bear is too far to locate exactly where the hen flushed (i.e., passive deceptive behaviour, Broom and Ruxton 2005, e.g., Charadriiformes sp., Smith and Edwards 2018) since an exposed nest does not guarantee predation by nearby bears. Additionally, an early escape may allow eiders time to cover their nests with insulating down before leaving the nest to protect their clutch from secondary predators and weather conditions (Mehlum 1991). Alternatively, it may also be adaptive for eiders to rely on crypsis and flush at a short distance only when they have been detected by bears if eider distraction displays are an effective strategy to draw bear's attention away from their nest (i.e., active deception, Kay and Gilchrist 1998). Although in recent years almost all nests on Mitivik Island have been consumed by the end of the breeding season (Jagielski et al. 2021b, pers. obs.), an earlier laying date paired with an appropriate antipredator behavioural response that extends the chance of nest predation could allow some females to successfully complete incubation and hatch ducklings. Alternatively, incubating eiders nesting in colonies facing bear predation that can perceive the risk bears pose to their eggs and themselves, and can therefore directly assess polar bear predation risk prior to the onset of breeding, may instead benefit from life history responses to bear predation risk by forgoing

breeding altogether to avoid high survival costs of reproduction (reviewed in Lima 2009). Eider species are known to refrain from breeding in years and/or areas of high realized predation risk (e.g., steller's eider Polystica stelleri, Quakenbush et al. 2004; common eider, Öst et al. 2018). However, bears are predicted to increase nest predation as advances in ice breakup continue, and are known to return to eider colony locations yearafter-year (Dey et al. 2017), thus, this strategy is likely not sustainable in these colonies. Finally, selection on personality and therefore the capacity to learn may allow females to avoid predation risk in the future if females also have the reproductive flexibility to shift from breeding in dense colonies to nesting alone or dispersed from other females. Indeed, since bear predation presence is density-dependent and linked to distance to the mainland (Iverson et al. 2014), bear foraging patterns are predicted to drive increased spacing of nests and large-scale relocation closer to the mainland to reduce egg predation by polar bears (Dey et al. 2017). Although this type of response has not been observed to date (Dey et al. 2020), with more experience and possible selection on personality some female eiders could learn to directly assess polar bear predation risk within their lifetimes and choose future nest sites that improve their long-term reproductive fitness.

Limitations and future directions

The current study sought to examine eider perception of risk to polar bears to predict fitness consequences resulting from this recent interaction. Naïve prey that cannot recognize a predator as dangerous and thus do not alter their response when confronted by that predator are expected to suffer fewer non-consumptive effects (e.g., changes in

prey traits) from these predator encounters compared to encounters with their evolved predators for which they display risk-induced trait responses (Sih et al. 2009). However, non-consumptive effects of new/infrequent predators have been little studied (Anson et al. 2013). Persistent exposure to stressors can result in chronic elevation of glucocorticoid hormone levels which can have wide-ranging effects on bodily functions, from energy expenditure to immunosuppression to reproductive inhibition (Sapolsky et al. 2000, Criscuolo et al. 2005, Breuner 2011, Harms et al. 2015). Some consumptive effects of polar bear predation in eider colonies have been monitored (e.g., nest success, Iverson et al. 2014), but future work on eider responses to their recent predators could additionally quantify the non-consumptive effects by comparing physiological consequences (e.g., adrenocortical fear response) for eiders nesting in areas with and without bear suppression (e.g., using a landscape-scale manipulation of bear abundance, Anson et al. 2013, Hanssen et al. 2013). Such studies would also reveal whether there are synergistic impacts of polar bears on an eider hens' reproductive value in terms of direct clutch loss and female reproductive condition.

The lack of a discriminating FID response to a perceived threat may reflect eiders' reliance on crypsis as a defense during incubation, which may prevent the activation of the flight response (e.g., Seltmann et al. 2012) by increasing their tolerance to a detected predator (Ydenberg and Dill 1986, Fernández-Juricic et al. 2002), such as the arctic fox. However, other alternative measures of risk perception can be assessed in future studies. For instance, measures of tolerance can be incorporated into future studies by 1) linking physiology and behaviour to estimate the gap distance between when eiders become alert (e.g., change in heart rate from baseline, also known as alarm response;

Löw et al. 2008, and/or increased vigilance) to a predator and flush (Fernández-Juricic et al. 2002); or 2) quantifying the amount of time that the focal hen is exposed to the threat stimulus before she flushes (e.g., time from start distance to flush in an experimental predator approach study). Moreover, post-escape responses (i.e., when eiders are less reliant on crypsis) such as displacement distance of an eider from its nest or latency to return to nest and resume incubation following a disturbance can have significant energy costs (e.g., locomotion costs and cost of reheating eggs) or risks (e.g., eggs exposed to predators and inclement weather). Thus, these post-flush responses should also reflect an incubating bird's perception of risk (e.g., Fernández-Juricic et al. 2006, Felton et al. 2018, Dehnhard et al. 2020), and future research should therefore examine these responses in greater detail.

Measures of heart rate used in the current study (i.e., absolute heart rate and magnitude of heart rate change) allowed us to assess relative perceived risk across different visual predator stimuli and variation in realized polar bear predation risk. Across both our studies, we observed that eiders respond with both slight tachycardia and bradycardia when bears were present on Mitivik Island at various distances from eiders (*Chapter 3*) and when bears (and simulated predation threats) posed an imminent risk (i.e., directly targeted their nest, *Chapter 2*), respectively. To our knowledge, such a response pattern in heart rate is the first recorded in a free-living animal and therefore warrants further investigation with increased events ending in actual nest predation to quantify eiders' pattern of response to different stages of threat by polar bears. We assumed that modulation of heart rate has a fitness-driven role since stress-induced increases in heart rate responses can be energetically costly (e.g., European starlings

Sturnus vulgaris, Cyr et al. 2008). Hawkins et al. (2000) investigated the relationship between non-incubating eider resting heart rate and energy expenditure, but further work that simultaneously monitors heart rate and energy expenditure of incubating hens in the field is needed to determine if slight changes in heart rate in response to the threat of polar bear predation observed in the current study significantly alter metabolic energy use. Moreover, some heart rate responses (i.e., tachycardia) may not be long enough to expend significant amounts of energy (e.g., Cyr et al. 2008). Thus, further investigation of heart rate recovery time is needed to estimate the relative energetic costs of eliciting a mild heart rate response (e.g., Ellenberg et al. 2013), and obtain further understanding of perceived risk to threat (e.g., Viblanc et al. 2012).

Lastly, little is known on eiders' capacity to respond physiologically to predation stressors. To the best of our knowledge, only one study has quantified eider heart rate to threat (i.e., human handling) and used a small sample size (n=3) of non-incubating captive birds (Cabanac and Guillemette 2001); thus, their responses may not reflect responses by free-living nesting eiders. Future work that quantifies eider heart rate to simulated capture as a metric for eider maximum cardiovascular stress response is needed to be able to relate eiders' level of perceived risk to their maximum capacity to respond to risk in order to gain a better understanding of the biological significance of cardiac responses to polar bears.

Conclusion

Northern Inuit communities rely on eiders for sustenance such as meat, eggs, and down

(reviewed in Waltho and Coulson 2015), therefore, any impacts to the eider population will not only cause ecological effects, but will also impact Northern communities socially. In addition, humans and bears are now in direct conflict for access to resources such as eider eggs, and the presence of polar bears while Inuit are interacting with eiders (i.e., down collecting, egg-picking) further places humans in direct predation risk (H.G.G. pers. comm.). As such, eider-polar bear interactions therefore have wide-ranging consequences. Local population decline in breeding eiders can occur as a result of egg consumption by polar bears or polar bear-induced eider dispersal or aggregation behaviour (i.e., non-consumptive effects). Collectively, results from my studies suggest that consumptive effects of polar bear predation are relatively more important to eider population dynamics, since eiders did not show optimal responses to polar bears. Future studies should link eider antipredator responses to polar bears and their associated consumptive (i.e., adult survival and recruitment) and potential non-consumptive consequences to determine the downstream population effects eiders are expected to endure as an indirect consequence of anthropogenic climate change. This knowledge can be used to refine the Nunavut and Canadian government management plans for the Mitivik Island eider population. For example, predator control (e.g., chasing polar bears as done in Hanssen et al. 2013; or use of nest exclosures such as electric fences, Lokemoen et al. 1982, Isaksson et al. 2007, Davies and Rockwell 2016, Storer et al. 2017) could mitigate the negative consequences (e.g., on recruitment) and conserve important eider populations. Moreover, as government and local communities plan to establish a Marine Protected Area in Northern Hudson Bay, increased population survey efforts in combination with knowledge from Northern communities could help identify

potential nesting habitat that may be suitable for eiders to avoid overlap with their recent egg predator. Greater protection to Qaqsauqtuuq (East Bay) Migratory Bird Sanctuary and other critical foraging and nesting habitat is needed to lessen the impact of human rapid environmental change in populations that endure high reproductive fitness consequences as a result of increased predation risk by polar bears.

Literature Cited

- Anson, J. R., C. R. Dickman, R. Boonstra, and T. S. Jessop (2013). Stress triangle: do introduced predators exert indirect costs on native predators and prey? PLoS ONE 8:1–9.
- Baker, M. R., and R. Y. Wong (2019). Contextual fear learning and memory differ between stress coping styles in zebrafish. Scientific Reports 9:1–11.
- Berger, J., J. E. Swenson, and I. L. Persson (2001). Recolonizing carnivores and naïve prey: conservation lessons from pleistocene extinctions. Science 291:1036–1039.
- Breuner, C. W. (2011). Stress and reproduction in birds. Hormones and Reproduction of Vertebrates 4:129–151.
- Brookes, J. I., and R. Rochette (2007). Mechanism of a plastic phenotypic response: predator-induced shell thickening in the intertidal gastropod Littorina obtusata. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 20:1015–1027.
- Broom, M., and G. D. Ruxton (2005). You can run or you can hide: optimal strategies for cryptic prey against pursuit predators. Behavioral Ecology 16:534–540.
- Cabanac, A. J., and M. Guillemette (2001). Temperature and heart rate as stress indicators of handled common eider. Physiology and Behavior 74:475–479.
- Carthey, A. J. R., and P. B. Banks (2014). Naïveté in novel ecological interactions: lessons from theory and experimental evidence. Biological Reviews 89:932–949.
- Carthey, A. J. R., and P. B. Banks (2016). Naiveté is not forever: responses of a vulnerable native rodent to its long term alien predators. Oikos 125:918–926.
- Carthey, A. J. R., and D. T. Blumstein (2018). Predicting predator recognition in a changing world. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 33:106–115.

- Chaulk, K. G., and M. L. Mahoney (2012). Does spring ice cover influence nest initiation date and clutch size in common eiders? Polar Biology 35:645–653.
- Creel, S., E. Dröge, J. M'soka, D. Smit, M. Becker, D. Christianson, and P. Schuette (2017). The relationship between direct predation and antipredator responses: a test with multiple predators and multiple prey. Ecology 98:2081–2092.
- Criscuolo, F., O. Chastel, F. Bertile, G. W. Gabrielsen, Y. Le Maho, and T. Raclot (2005). Corticosterone alone does not trigger a short term behavioural shift in incubating female common eiders Somateria mollissima, but does modify long term reproductive success. Journal of Avian Biology 36:306–312.
- Cyr, N. E., M. Wikelski, and L. M. Romero (2008). Increased energy expenditure but decreased stress responsiveness during molt. Physiological and Biochemical Zoology: Ecological and Evolutionary Approaches 81:452–462.
- Davies, J. C., and R. F. Rockwell (2016). An electric fence to deter polar bears. Wildlife Society Bulletin 14:406–409.
- Dehnhard, N., J. Skei, S. Christensen-Dalsgaard, R. May, D. Halley, T. H. Ringsby, and S. H. Lorentsen (2020). Boat disturbance effects on moulting common eiders Somateria mollissima. Marine Biology 167:12.
- Dey, C. J., E. Richardson, D. McGeachy, S. A. Iverson, H. G. Gilchrist, and C. A. D. Semeniuk (2017). Increasing nest predation will be insufficient to maintain polar bear body condition in the face of sea ice loss. Global Change Biology 23:1821– 1831.
- Dey, C. J., C. A. D. Semeniuk, S. A. Iverson, and H. Grant Gilchrist (2020). Changes in the distribution of nesting Arctic seaducks are not strongly related to variation in

polar bear presence. Arctic Science 6:114–123.

- Dingemanse, N. J., and D. Réale (2005). Natural selection and animal personality. Behaviour 142:1159–1184.
- Ducatez, S., D. Sol, F. Sayol, and L. Lefebvre (2020). Behavioural plasticity is associated with reduced extinction risk in birds. Nature Ecology and Evolution 4:788–793.
- Ellenberg, U., T. Mattern, and P. J. Seddon (2013). Heart rate responses provide an objective evaluation of human disturbance stimuli in breeding birds. Conservation Physiology 1:1–11.
- Felton, S. K., K. H. Pollock, and T. R. Simons (2018). Response of beach-nesting American Oystercatchers to off-road vehicles: an experimental approach reveals physiological nuances and decreased nest attendance. The Condor 120:47–62.
- Fernández-Juricic, E., D. T. Blumstein, G. Abrica, L. Manriquez, L. B. Adams, R. Adams, M. Daneshrad, and I. Rodriguez-Prieto (2006). Relationships of anti-predator escape and post-escape responses with body mass and morphology: a comparative avian study. Evolutionary Ecology Research 8:731–752.
- Fernández-Juricic, E., M. D. Jimenez, and E. Lucas (2002). Factors affecting intra- and inter-specific variations in the difference between alert distances and flight distances for birds in forested habitats. Canadian Journal of Zoology 80:1212–1220.
- Griffin, A. S., C. S. Evans, and D. T. Blumstein (2001). Learning specificity in acquired predator recognition. Animal Behaviour 62:577–589.
- Guiden, P. W., S. L. Bartel, N. W. Byer, A. A. Shipley, and J. L. Orrock (2019). Predator–prey interactions in the Anthropocene: reconciling multiple aspects of novelty. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 34:616–627.

- Hanssen, S. A., B. Moe, B.-J. Bårdsen, F. Hanssen, and G. W. Gabrielsen (2013). A natural antipredation experiment: predator control and reduced sea ice increases colony size in a long-lived duck. Ecology and Evolution 3:3554–3564.
- Harms, N. J., P. Legagneux, H. G. Gilchrist, O. P. Love, M. R. Forbes, G. R. Bortolotti,
 C. Soos, and N. J. Harms (2015). Feather corticosterone reveals effect of moulting conditions in the autumn on subsequent reproductive output and survival in an Arctic migratory bird. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 282:20142085.
- Hawkins, P. A. J., P. J. Butler, Woakes A J, and Speakman J R (2000). Estimation of the rate of oxygen consumption of the common eider duck (Somateria mollissima), with some measurements of heart rate during voluntary dives. The Journal of Experimental Biology 203:2819–2832.
- Hendry, A. P., T. J. Farrugia, and M. T. Kinnison (2008). Human influences on rates of phenotypic change in wild animal populations. Molecular Ecology 17:20–29.
- Isaksson, D., J. Wallander, and M. Larsson (2007). Managing predation on groundnesting birds: the effectiveness of nest exclosures. Biological Conservation 136:136–142.
- Iverson, S. A., H. G. Gilchrist, P. A. Smith, A. J. Gaston, and M. R. Forbes (2014). Longer ice-free seasons increase the risk of nest depredation by polar bears for colonial breeding birds in the Canadian Arctic. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 281:20133128.
- Jagielski, P. M., C. J. Dey, H. G. Gilchrist, E. S. Richardson, O. P. Love, and C. A. D. Semeniuk (2021a). Polar bears are inefficient predators of seabird eggs. Royal Society Open Science 8:210391.

- Jagielski, P. M., C. J. Dey, H. G. Gilchrist, E. S. Richardson, and C. A. D. Semeniuk (2021b). Polar bear foraging on common eider eggs: estimating the energetic consequences of a climate-mediated behavioural shift. Animal Behaviour 171:63– 75.
- Kay, M. F., and H. G. Gilchrist (1998). Distraction displays made by female common eiders, Somateria mollissima borealis, in response to human disturbance. Canadian Field-Naturalist 112:529–532.
- Kokko, H., and W. J. Sutherland (2001). Ecological traps in changing environments: Ecological and evolutionary consequences of a behaviourally mediated Allee effect.
- Koolhaas, J. M., S. M. Korte, S. F. De Boer, B. J. Van Der Vegt, C. G. Van Reenen, H. Hopster, I. C. De Jong, M. A. W. Ruis, and H. J. Blokhuis (1999). Coping styles in animals: current status in behavior and stress-physiology. Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 23:925–935.
- Lima, S. L. (2009). Predators and the breeding bird: behavioral and reproductive flexibility under the risk of predation. Biological Reviews 84:485–513.
- Lokemoen, J. T., H. A. Doty, D. E. Sharp, and J. E. Neaville (1982). Electric fences to reduce mammalian predation on waterfowl nests. Wildlife Society Bulletin 10:318–323.
- Love, O. P., H. G. Gilchrist, S. Descamps, C. A. D. Semeniuk, and J. Bêty (2010). Prelaying climatic cues can time reproduction to optimally match offspring hatching and ice conditions in an Arctic marine bird. Oecologia 164:277–286.
- Löw, A., P. J. Lang, J. C. Smith, and M. M. Bradley (2008). Both predator and prey: emotional arousal in threat and reward. Psychological Science 19:865–873.

- Massaro, M., A. Starling-Windhof, J. V. Briskie, and T. E. Martin (2008). Introduced mammalian predators induce behavioural changes in parental care in an endemic New Zealand bird. PLoS ONE 3:1–7.
- McLean, I. G., N. T. Schmitt, P. J. Jarman, C. Duncan, and C. D. L. Wynne (2000). Learning for life: training marsupials to recognise introduced predators. Behaviour 137:1361–1376.
- Mehlum, F. (1991). Eider studies in Svalbard. Norsk Polarinstitutt Skrifter 195:1-68.
- Ofori, B. Y., A. J. Stow, J. B. Baumgartner, and L. J. Beaumont (2017). Influence of adaptive capacity on the outcome of climate change vulnerability assessment. Scientific Reports 7:1–12.
- Ost, M., A. Lehikoinen, K. Jaatinen, and M. Kilpi (2011). Causes and consequences of fine-scale breeding dispersal in a female-philopatric species. Oecologia 166:327–336.
- Ost, M., A. Lindén, P. Karell, S. Ramula, and M. Kilpi (2018). To breed or not to breed: drivers of intermittent breeding in a seabird under increasing predation risk and male bias. Oecologia 188:129–138.
- Peluc, S. I., T. S. Sillett, J. T. Rotenberry, and C. K. Ghalambor (2008). Adaptive phenotypic plasticity in an island songbird exposed to a novel predation risk. Behavioral Ecology 19:830–835.
- Quakenbush, L., R. Suydam, T. Obritschkewitsch, and M. Deering (2004). Breeding biology of Steller's eiders (Polysticta stelleri) near Barrow, Alaska, 1991-99. Arctic 57:166–182.
- Réale, D., D. Garant, M. M. Humphries, P. Bergeron, V. Careau, and P.-O. Montiglio

(2010). Personality and the emergence of the pace-of-life syndrome concept at the population level. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 365:4051–4063.

- Robertson, G. J. (1995). Annual variation in common eider egg size: effects of temperature, clutch size, laying date, and laying sequence. Canadian Journal of Zoology 73:1579–1587.
- Rockwell, R. F., and L. J. Gormezano (2009). The early bear gets the goose: climate change, polar bears and lesser snow geese in western Hudson Bay. Polar Biology 32:539–547.
- Sadoul, B., D. Blumstein, S. Alfonso, and B. Geffroy (2020). New coping styles for a new world. 1–19.
- Sapolsky, R. M., L. M. Romero, and A. U. Munck (2000). How do glucocorticoids influence stress responses? Integrating permissive, suppressive, stimulatory, and preparative actions. Endocrine Reviews 21:55–89.
- Saul, W.-C., and J. M. Jeschke (2015). Eco-evolutionary experience in novel species interactions. Ecology Letters 18:236–245.
- Seltmann, M. W., K. Jaatinen, B. B. Steele, and M. Öst (2014). Boldness and stress responsiveness as drivers of nest-site selection in a ground-nesting bird. Ethology 120:77–89.
- Seltmann, M. W., M. Öst, K. Jaatinen, S. Atkinson, K. Mashburn, and T. Hollmén (2012). Stress responsiveness, age and body condition interactively affect flight initiation distance in breeding female eiders. Animal Behaviour 84:889–896.

Sih, A. (2013). Understanding variation in behavioural responses to human-induced rapid

environmental change: a conceptual overview. Animal Behaviour 85:1077–1088.

- Sih, A., D. I. Bolnick, B. Luttbeg, J. L. Orrock, S. D. Peacor, L. M. Pintor, E. Preisser, J.
 S. Rehage, and J. R. Vonesh (2009). Predator-prey naïveté, antipredator behavior, and the ecology of predator invasions. Oikos 119:1–12.
- Sih, A., J. Cote, M. Evans, S. Fogarty, and J. Pruitt (2012). Ecological implications of behavioural syndromes. Ecology Letters 15:278–289.
- Sih, A., M. C. O. Ferrari, and D. J. Harris (2011). Evolution and behavioural responses to human-induced rapid environmental change. Evolutionary Applications 4:367–387.
- Sih, A., and M. Del Giudice (2012). Linking behavioural syndromes and cognition: a
 behavioural ecology perspective. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B:
 Biological Sciences 367:2762–2772.
- Smith, P. A., and D. B. Edwards (2018). Deceptive nest defence in ground-nesting birds and the risk of intermediate strategies. PLoS ONE 13:1–12.
- Steindler, L. A., D. T. Blumstein, R. West, K. E. Moseby, and M. Letnic (2020).Exposure to a novel predator induces visual predator recognition by naïve prey.Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology 74:102.
- Storer, T. I., G. H. Vansell, and B. D. Moses (1938). Protection of mountain apiaries from bears by use of electric fence. The Journal of Wildlife Management 2:172–178.
- Thurman, L. L., B. A. Stein, E. A. Beever, W. Foden, S. R. Geange, N. Green, J. E.
 Gross, D. J. Lawrence, O. LeDee, J. D. Olden, L. M. Thompson, and B. E. Young
 (2020). Persist in place or shift in space? Evaluating the adaptive capacity of species to climate change. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 18:520–528.

Turner, A. M., S. E. Turner, and H. M. Lappi (2006). Learning, memory and predator

avoidance by freshwater snails: effects of experience on predator recognition and defensive strategy. Animal Behaviour 72:1443–1450.

- Viblanc, V. A., A. D. Smith, B. Gineste, and R. Groscolas (2012). Coping with continuous human disturbance in the wild: Insights from penguin heart rate response to various stressors. BMC Ecology 12.
- Waltho, C., and J. Coulson (2015). The common eider. T & AD Poyser. London, UK.
- Ydenberg, R. C., and L. M. Dill (1986). The economics of fleeing from predators. Advances in the Study of Behavior 16:229–249.

APPENDICES

Appendix A Heart rate recorder settings

Table A1. Tascam DR-05X recorder settings selected to record common eider (*Somateria mollissima*) heart rate

Settings	Selected Setting
File Format (FORMAT)	MP3 320kbps
Sampling Frequency (SAMPLE)	48k
Sampling Type (TYPE)	Stereo
Maximum File Size (SIZE)	2GB
Microphone Power (MIC POWER)	ON
Low Cut Filter Status (LOW CUT)	OFF
Prerecording (PRE REC)	OFF
AUTO TONE function (AUTO TONE)	OFF
AUTO TONE Length (TONE SECS)	1sec
AUTO TONE Volume (TONE VOL)	-12dB
Recording Automatically (AUTO REC)	OFF
Input Signal Level (LEVEL)	-6dB
Input Level	60

VITA AUCTORIS

NAME:	Erica Geldart
PLACE OF BIRTH:	Moncton, New Brunswick, Canada
YEAR OF BIRTH:	1996
EDUCATION:	Riverview High School, Riverview, New Brunswick, Canada (2014)
	Mount Allison University, Sackville, New Brunswick, Canada BSc. Honours Biology (2018)
	University of Windsor, Windsor, Ontario, Canada MSc. Environmental Science (2021)

ProQuest Number: 28543438

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality and completeness of this reproduction is dependent on the quality and completeness of the copy made available to ProQuest.



Distributed by ProQuest LLC (2021). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author unless otherwise noted.

This work may be used in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons license or other rights statement, as indicated in the copyright statement or in the metadata associated with this work. Unless otherwise specified in the copyright statement or the metadata, all rights are reserved by the copyright holder.

> This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code and other applicable copyright laws.

Microform Edition where available © ProQuest LLC. No reproduction or digitization of the Microform Edition is authorized without permission of ProQuest LLC.

ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346 USA